

Australian Government Productivity Commission

May 2024

Leveraging digital technology in healthcare

Research paper

The Productivity Commission acknowledges the Traditional Owners of Country throughout Australia and their continuing connection to land, waters and community. We pay our respects to their Cultures, Country and Elders past and present.

The Productivity Commission

The Productivity Commission is the Australian Government's independent research and advisory body on a range of economic, social and environmental issues affecting the welfare of Australians. Its role, expressed most simply, is to help governments make better policies, in the long term interest of the Australian community.

The Commission's independence is underpinned by an Act of Parliament. Its processes and outputs are open to public scrutiny and are driven by concern for the wellbeing of the community as a whole.

Further information on the Productivity Commission can be obtained from the Commission's website (www.pc.gov.au).

© Commonwealth of Australia 2024



With the exception of the Commonwealth Coat of Arms and content supplied by third parties, this copyright work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence. In essence, you are free to copy, communicate and adapt the work, as long as you attribute the work to the Productivity Commission (but not in any way that suggests the Commission endorses you or your use) and abide by the other licence terms. The licence can be viewed at: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.

The terms under which the Coat of Arms can be used are detailed at: www.pmc.gov.au/government/commonwealth-coat-arms.

Wherever a third party holds copyright in this material the copyright remains with that party. Their permission may be required to use the material, please contact them directly.

ISBN 978-1-74037-790-4 (online) ISBN 978-1-74037-789-8 (print)

An appropriate reference for this publication is: Productivity Commission 2024, *Leveraging digital technology in healthcare*, Research paper, Canberra

Publication enquiries: Phone 03 9653 2244 | Email publications@pc.gov.au

Contents

Ack	nowle	edgments	iv
Ove	rview		1
1.	The	digital technology promise in healthcare	7
	1.1	The promise of digital technology	8
	1.2	Adoption of digital technology in the health sector	11
	1.3	Governments can help facilitate the digital transformation in health	13
	1.4	The contribution and approach of this paper	14
2.	Electronic health and medical records 15		
	2.1	Digital technology is changing the way we use valuable health information	า 16
	2.2	Creating a network of networks	27
3.	Telehealth		
	3.1	The telehealth transformation	36
	3.2	Is telehealth a high-quality mode of care?	41
	3.3	The impact and benefits of telehealth	44
	3.4	The policy landscape needs to evolve	46
4.	Rem	note care	53
	4.1	Remote care can improve the management of chronic disease, but uptake appears to be slow	54
	4.2	Governments can improve quality signalling to facilitate uptake	61
	4.3	Targeted funding arrangements could ensure high-value remote care	63
5.	Artif	ficial intelligence	71
	5.1	AI can improve almost every aspect of healthcare	72
	5.2	AI changes the risks in healthcare	79
	5.3	The policy landscape needs to evolve	81
Α.	Con	sultation	87
В.	Measuring the benefits of digital technology in health		
	B.1	Measuring the costs saved from telehealth use	92
	B.2	Measuring the benefits of Electronic Medical Record systems rollout	93
	B.3	Measuring the benefits of digital technology, including AI, on workforce tasks	95
Refe	erenc	es	97

References

Acknowledgments

The Commission acknowledges the extensive support it received from experts in health and digital technology.

The paper was made possible by the close collaboration of staff across many government agencies. The Commission is grateful to these staff and all participants to the study for their valuable input.

The Commission would also like to thank the staff who worked on the project. This work was overseen by Commissioner Catherine de Fontenay and Assistant Commissioner Dominique Lowe. The team comprised Vanessa Boltman, Karen Dunn, Sarah Fung, Elina Gilbourd, Ethan Li, Lachlan O'Neil, Yiani Petroulias-Romios, Anuraag Roy and James Smith.

Overview

Key points

Better integrating digital technology into healthcare could save more than \$5 billion a year and ease pressures on our healthcare system.

- Making better use of data in electronic medical record systems could save up to \$5.4 billion per year by reducing the length of time patients spend in hospital, and up to \$355 million through fewer duplicated tests.
- Up to 30% of the tasks undertaken by the workforce could be automated using digital technology and artificial intelligence (AI); precious time that could be spent caring for patients.

Consumers also stand to gain.

- Digital innovations such as telehealth, digital therapeutics and remote monitoring are transforming healthcare delivery and enabling patients to access care from the comfort of their own homes.
- Reduced travel time from greater use of telehealth is delivering consumer gains of around \$895 million per year.

While we have made major strides integrating digital technology into healthcare, there are still a lot of unrealised gains that governments can help unlock.

- Despite a \$2 billion investment in the My Health Record (MHR) system, patient data is still fragmented.
- Telehealth use has exploded since 2020, but uptake of remote patient monitoring and digital therapeutics has lagged behind.
- Although AI is being used to guide decision-making and automate tasks to relieve workforce pressure, we
 are far from making full use of this powerful new tool.

🗩 Governments can better exploit the value of health information by improving information sharing.

- Sharpening incentives for software providers to make information sharing across systems more seamless would help improve MHR's coverage.
- The useability of MHR (currently described as a 'shoebox of pdfs') needs to improve in tandem with its coverage. Government should work to break down or 'atomise' data in MHR to make it more useful.

Governments can help embed remote care services into mainstream practice.

- Used well, technologies such as remote patient monitoring and digital therapeutics are highly cost-effective alternatives to traditional forms of care. Targeted support could see these technologies integrated into everyday practice.
- Taking steps to minimise the unintended consequences of restrictions on telehealth subsidies for consumers facing disadvantage would enable telehealth's benefits to be enjoyed more widely.

Sovernments can harness the power of AI by building trust among users and improving access to data.

- A more dynamic approvals process could help provide certainty on safe and reasonable uses of AI, and so build trust and confidence amongst patients, clinicians and service providers.
- Al needs quality data. Governments will need to facilitate appropriate data access for Al innovators while ensuring effective safeguards around privacy.

Australia's healthcare sector is one of the world's most productive. Compared to peer countries, we achieve some of the best population health outcomes for our healthcare dollar, once we account for risk and environmental factors.

But these gains largely stem from advances in saving lives, not cost reductions. Our health spending continues to increase, as the burden of chronic disease grows, our population ages, and consumer expectations rise.

At the same time, the lingering effects of COVID-19 and workforce constraints are contributing to longer wait times for care. In hospital emergency departments, the share of high-priority patients seen on time has fallen. And a growing number of Australians say that wait times for general practitioners (GPs) and specialists are unacceptably long.

We need to find ways of containing healthcare spending and easing system pressures without sacrificing the quality of care. Digital technology can help achieve these goals if implemented well. While we've made major strides, we are yet to cash in on all the opportunities.

Governments can help unlock the savings from digital technology

Realising the potential of health information

We're already reaping some of digital technology's benefits through electronic medical records.

Electronic medical records give practitioners ready access to patient information. Around nine in ten GPs now practise digitally, maintaining no paper records. Digital records are also gaining traction in hospitals, where they are being coupled with clinical decision support software and other analytical tools to reduce the risk of errors and enhance workflows. These advanced uses offer substantial benefits. Making better use of data in electronic medical record systems can save up to \$5.8 billion per year in hospital costs (figure 1).

While work is underway to realise the gains from electronic medical record systems, progress is more mixed when it comes to realising the gains of digital information sharing.

At last count there were about 7000 accredited GP clinics and 700 public hospitals. This is in addition to the many other healthcare providers in the system, including specialists, diagnostic imaging and pathology labs, and pharmacies. These providers have invested in different digital systems, each with their own data structures, clinical terminology and standards.

My Health Record (MHR) was intended to be a solution to this siloed data structure, providing a central access point for a patient's most important health data. But despite an investment of more than \$2 billion, it continues to be plagued by incomplete records and poor usability.

Meanwhile, localised information management and sharing solutions have emerged, including state- and territory-backed initiatives. Some of these developments, particularly around information management, are complementary – MHR was never designed to replace comprehensive records maintained by healthcare providers. Other initiatives, however, seek to bridge the same information gaps as MHR: sharing referrals, treatment and discharge summaries, and medication details.

The net result is an uncoordinated, and in some cases, disconnected information management and sharing landscape.

Governments are already investing in interoperable infrastructure, developing data exchange specifications and standards, to better connect these disparate networks. And efforts are also underway to improve MHR's coverage

and usability. The Australian Government has been experimenting with paying practitioners for uploads, and there are moves afoot to upgrade MHR and require uploads of reports from diagnostic tests and imaging.

While welcome, requiring uploads of diagnostic tests and imaging is only a partial fix to a broader problem. Capturing health information outside of these areas relies on MHR being better integrated with workflows in busy clinical settings such as GPs and specialist clinics, hospitals and aged care. Sharpening incentives for software providers to make this more seamless would both increase coverage and encourage interoperability.

And it's critical that efforts to expand MHR's coverage move in tandem with reforms to improve its accessibility. MHR has been described as a 'shoebox of pdfs', contributing to a significant gap between the records that are uploaded to the system and those that are viewed. Data contained in MHR needs to be atomised (reduced to its most basic format) to allow practitioners to efficiently search large volumes of data and display reports in a way that is accessible and easy to read.

While challenging, improving the way in which we manage and share health information would have significant payoffs. In addition to the substantial cost savings it could provide, better data also lays the foundation for other digital health applications, such as remote care and AI.

Taking healthcare to the consumer

Digital innovations that enable care to be delivered remotely such as telehealth, digital therapeutics (DTx) and remote patient monitoring (RPM), accelerated during COVID and are now transforming healthcare. Patients can now use an app to complete stroke rehabilitation or undergo cognitive behavioural therapy, while health professionals can track patients with diabetes and chronic respiratory and cardiovascular conditions in real-time.

Remote forms of care provide significant convenience for consumers. Patients can receive care in the comfort of their own homes, avoiding travel costs and time. And there are system-wide benefits too. Remote technologies allow those with chronic conditions in particular, to play a more active role in their own care and avoid costly deteriorations in their condition.

Providers are experimenting with virtual care in our hospitals and in the Aboriginal Community Controlled Health sector; trialling new service models to bring care to rural and remote communities.

But remote care doesn't fit neatly within broader funding models. While there are instances of case-by-case funding, pathways for funding RPM are limited and the rationale behind what can and cannot be reimbursed is not always apparent.

Gaps in funding RPM and DTx mean that practitioners and patients alike may instead opt for subsidised in-person care or forego care, even if that is more costly for the system as a whole in the long run.

Funding approaches for these new digital innovations need to strike a balance. These technologies can be highly cost effective. But the benefits depend on the diagnosis, as well as the users' digital literacy, motivation and supports.

The ease with which these technologies can be rolled out means that relying on traditional activity-based funding risks a costly expansion of low value services. A portfolio of funding approaches is needed to target the consumers and the contexts where the gains are greatest.

But funding is only part of the solution for increasing uptake. With more than 300,000 consumer health apps now available on app stores, and 200 new ones being added daily, greater guidance by governments and professional bodies would help clinicians and consumers differentiate clinically proven applications from the deluge of products entering the market. While RPM and DTx are yet to be widely integrated into patterns of care, the use of telehealth has become part of everyday practice. A rarity pre-COVID, today around one in five Medicare-funded GP consultations are delivered via telehealth. Consumers are the big beneficiaries, enjoying savings of around \$895 million per year in reduced travel time.

The Australian Government's existing telehealth subsidies reward continuity of care, by requiring at least one face-to-face service in the 12 months preceding a telehealth appointment to qualify for Medicare rebates (the so-called 12-month rule). This requirement effectively precludes telehealth delivered by virtual-only providers from attracting government support, and dampens competition by making it harder for consumers to switch healthcare providers.

The benefits of convenience mean that many consumers are using non-Medicare subsidised telehealth regardless. And in many cases, their out-of-pocket expenses are no greater. Virtual-only providers often charge prices on par with traditional subsidised providers, as they avoid the bricks-and-mortar costs associated with in-person care, and typically specialise in relatively low-complexity interventions that take less time. But there are risks that consumers facing disadvantage who rely on bulk billing, particularly those with caring responsibilities and/or limited mobility, miss out on valuable forms of care.

Government should take steps to minimise the unintended consequences of restrictions on telehealth subsidies on consumers facing disadvantage. This will require careful calibration to get the incentives right, ensure subsidies only target high-value care, and manage the fiscal exposure of governments. Government-run GP helplines will serve as an important safeguard in the interim.

Harnessing the power of AI

Al is evolving rapidly, and new healthcare applications are emerging everyday.

The amount of health information available to clinicians has been growing exponentially, generating more knowledge than we can leverage. Al can help to unlock this data's potential, by enabling it to be accessed, shared, analysed and interpreted at an unprecedented pace. This information can be used by service providers to help make decisions and workflows quicker and reduce the time patients spend waiting for care.

Although Al is being used to guide some types of decision-making and automate tasks to relieve workforce pressure, we are far from making full use of this powerful new tool. The automation of low-complexity tasks in particular could free up as much as 30% of clinicians' precious time to care for patients.

While AI can provide substantial benefits in healthcare, its use comes with significant risks, culminating in a lack of trust. Although 60% of Australians surveyed support the development of AI in general, this reduces to between 27-43% for health uses.

Government can help to mitigate risks and build trust by bolstering existing regulatory guardrails. Al used in healthcare is only regulated where it provides treatment or replaces the judgement of a clinician. That means that Al that assists and guides clinical decision-making falls largely outside of the regulatory remit, leaving it up to individual clinicians to assess the quality and potentially significant risks, of its use. And unlike other medical technologies, Al is capable of evolving and adapting, such that both the Al process, and its performance, change over time. Revisiting the exemption for clinical decision support and a more formalised post-approval process could help engender trust among users.

To make better use of AI, governments will also need to facilitate appropriate data access for AI innovators while ensuring effective safeguards around privacy. The accuracy of AI relies heavily on quality data. Algorithmic bias can arise where datasets used to train AI models are not comprehensive or are drawn from a different population than the one that AI is applied to. Not all health data is sensitive and we need to

identify parts of government-held data that can be safely shared, and invest in safeguards around privacy to strike a better balance when it comes to data access.

The benefits will be worth it

Overcoming information-sharing challenges, incorporating remote care into everyday practice and building trust in AI is no small task, but the rewards for doing so are significant.

The OECD has estimated a potential return of \$3 for every \$1 invested in digital strategies, and the Commission's estimates suggest that digital applications could reduce costs by more than \$5 billion a year (figure 1).

With such substantial cost savings on the table, this is an opportunity Australia cannot afford to miss.

Figure 1 – There are significant consumer, patient-level and system-wide benefits^a



a. The methodology underpinning these estimates is set out in appendix B.

1. The digital technology promise in healthcare

Key points

- Bigital technology can improve the productivity of the health system.
 - If implemented well, digital technologies such as electronic health and medical records, telehealth, remote care services and artificial intelligence can make services more efficient, reduce demand for resource intensive services, improve the quality and safety of care, and make care more convenient for patients.
- 🛞 Digital technology can also help address important challenges facing the health system, such as growing health spending, long wait times for treatment, and unequal access to care.

Bigital technology has already made an impact in the health system.

- · Individual providers are investing in digital tools, and the use of basic digital systems is widespread.
- Governments have made major investments in digital infrastructure, such as My Health Record at the federal level, and jurisdiction-specific record systems at the state and territory level.
- Providers are increasingly delivering services virtually. Telehealth use has increased enormously since 2020, and new models of virtual care are emerging.

However, there remains untapped potential.

- Improving digital health records and supporting emerging digital alternatives to traditional care could improve efficiency, quality and convenience.
- · Artificial intelligence has the potential to improve productivity in almost all aspects of healthcare.

Sovernments can help facilitate the digital transformation in health. They can:

- · help facilitate investment in digital technology by getting regulatory settings right
- · help individual service providers coordinate to achieve collective benefits, and
- ensure that funding settings provide the right incentives for the adoption of digital technologies that deliver high-value care and provide cost-effective alternatives to traditional services.

1.1 The promise of digital technology

The health system is doing well, though big challenges remain

All things considered, Australia's health system is performing well. Recent research by the Commission found that the health system is delivering a good return on the resources that governments are investing in it. Compared to peer countries, Australia achieves some of the best population health outcomes given how much we spend on healthcare, and controlling for risk factors such as smoking and obesity rates. And while government spending on health has increased, spending growth has been accompanied by payoffs in the form of better patient outcomes (measured in quality-adjusted life years) (PC 2024a).

But our relatively good performance in health is not grounds for complacency. If spending continues to grow, more and more pressure will be placed on government budgets. That pressure is already becoming more pronounced as our population ages, the burden of chronic disease increases, and patient expectations rise. The most recent *Intergenerational Report* projected that Australian Government health spending alone will increase from 4.2% of GDP (its 2022-23 level) to 6.2% in 2062-63 (Australian Government 2023, p. 148).

The health system is facing other challenges too. Patients are waiting longer to receive care throughout the system, which points to major supply-side constraints.

- Wait times have increased for urgent care. In public hospital emergency departments, the share of high-priority patients seen on time has decreased in recent years (figure 1.1, panel a). At the same time, wait times for urgent general practitioner (GP) appointments have increased (figure 1.1, panel b).
- For GP and specialist appointments in general, a growing share of patients say that their wait times are unacceptably long.¹

A variety of factors are likely contributing to these trends. One major contributor is the COVID-19 pandemic and its lingering effects, which have put unprecedented pressure on the health system. Another key issue is the limited availability of qualified health workers. In recent years, the number of vacancies for key health workers – especially nurses – has increased significantly (figure 1.1, panel c).

Challenges accessing care are greater for some groups. This is especially true for people in regional and remote areas, where services are more sparse. There are fewer GPs and specialists per person outside of major cities (figure 1.1, panel d), and people in regional and remote areas often live far away from the nearest hospital (Barbieri and Jorm 2019). People wait longer for care as a result; for example, in the 2022-23 Patient Experiences Survey, the share of people who said that they waited longer than acceptable for a GP appointment was higher in outer regional and remote areas (37.5%) than in major cities (28.0%) (ABS 2023e). These issues affect Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people to a greater extent, as they are much more likely to live outside of major cities.²

¹ In the 2022-23 Patient Experiences Survey, 29.6% of those surveyed reported waiting longer than they felt acceptable for a GP appointment; in 2020-21, the share was 16.6%. Similarly, 27.9% of those surveyed in 2022-23 reported waiting longer than acceptable for a specialist appointment; in 2020-21, the share was 21.7% (ABS 2022b, 2023e).

² The estimated shares of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people living in regional areas and remote areas are 43.8% and 15.4% respectively. The estimated shares of the rest of the population are 25.2% and 1.4% respectively (ABS 2023c).





b) Time taken to get an urgent GP appointment, percentage of patients



c) Number of vacancies per month, Internet Vacancies Index



d) Registered GPs and specialists per 100,000 people by remoteness, 2021



a. In panel (a), the 'resuscitation', 'semi-urgent' and 'non-urgent' triage categories are not included in the figure. **b.** In panel (c), the data represents the total number of job advertisements on selected online job boards. It does not reflect the total number of job advertisements in Australia (though the index is reasonably comprehensive).

Sources: Panels (a) and (b) – Report on Government Services (PC 2024b); panel (c) – Internet Vacancy Index (Jobs and Skills Australia 2024); panel (d) – Nous Group (2023, p. 36), using data from the Department of Health's National Health Workforce Dataset.

Digital technology can improve the productivity of the health system

Given the challenges outlined above, governments need to find ways to make the resources they invest in health go further. In other words, there is a need to continue improving healthcare productivity.

Digital technology is a vital enabler of productivity growth. It has had a major impact in other parts of the economy, and harnessing its full benefit was identified as a policy priority by the Commission in the most recent productivity inquiry (PC 2023).

As in the broader economy, digital technology can lift productivity in the health system.³ It has many valuable functions in healthcare. This paper focuses in particular on:

- · electronic health and medical records
- telehealth
- · remote care services such as digital therapeutics and remote patient monitoring
- artificial intelligence (AI) in healthcare.

There are a number of ways in which these technologies can improve productivity.

- More efficient services: Some technologies allow services to be delivered more efficiently. For example, electronic health records can save labour by reducing the time that clinicians need to spend asking their patients about their medical history, and can also reduce waste through preventing the duplication of tests.
- *Reduced demand*: Digital-based services can prevent people from having to receive care in resource-intensive settings, and so ease the burden on certain services. For example, remote patient monitoring technology can detect deteriorations in health, particularly for patients with chronic conditions, and prevent them from having to go to hospital.
- Better quality care: Digital systems can improve the quality and safety of treatment. Clinical decision support software, for example, gives clinicians ready access to key information on their patient, as well as clinical treatment guidelines. This can reduce the risk of errors, such as prescribing the wrong medication.
- *More convenience:* Technology can deliver benefits to patients and clinicians in the form of greater convenience. In particular, telehealth can allow patients to receive care without attending a clinic in person, which enables them to avoid travel-related costs, and reduces geographical barriers to receiving care.

Importantly, this means that digital technology can improve productivity through both quality improvements *and* cost savings. The Commission's recent research found that parts of the health sector have experienced strong productivity growth in recent years, and that this has come largely from services getting better at saving lives (PC 2024a). While these quality-driven productivity improvements have been welcome, they have done little to ease healthcare's growing fiscal burden. If implemented well, digital technology can enable governments to save money, or at least temper spending growth, without compromising on quality.

The various types of digital technologies and services, and their benefits, are summarised in figure 1.2.

Estimates exist of the extent of these benefits. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2019, p. 44) has estimated that investments in improving how data is used in the health system could have a return of approximately 3 to 1. The Commission has also produced estimates of some of the benefits of digital technology; these are detailed in appendix B.

³ For the purposes of this paper, the health system encompasses primary care, specialist services, the hospital sector, mental healthcare and allied health. Areas such as disability and aged care are outside its scope.

Figure 1.2 – Types of digital technology and their benefits for the health system

There are multiple types of digital technology …					
Electronic health and medical records Within- provider records Between- provider record systems 	 Telehealth Video and phone consultations 'Store-andforward' telehealth 	 Remote monitoring and treatment Digital-based patient monitoring App-based therapeutics 	 Artificial intelligence Image-based risk screening Admin and clinician decision support 		

which deliver a range of benefits					
Efficiency	Reduced demand	Quality	Convenience		
Less waste and duplicationFaster communication	Fewer hospitalisations via better management of conditions	Fewer errorsBetter prioritisation of patients	Avoided travel costsBetter access for some patients		

1.2 Adoption of digital technology in the health sector

The health sector is increasingly digital ...

Recent technological advances have made new tools available for the delivery of healthcare, and some of their benefits are already being reaped.

Patients can access general advice at any time via the internet. The proliferation of smartphones means that the vast majority of Australians have a device that can monitor signs such as heart rate and blood pressure, and capture images and video that can be shared with providers in real time.

Individual healthcare providers have been investing in digital tools. Digital information management systems are now widespread in the health system; in 2021, 96% of primary care clinics in Australia used an electronic medical record (OECD 2024b).⁴ Computational power is increasing exponentially, and with it is our capacity to generate and analyse health data. And according to recent research, there has also been rapid uptake of cloud computing and AI in the sector: in the 2010s, the share of healthcare firms that had at some point used either technology was about 10%; in 2022, the share was about 40% (Nguyen and Hambur 2023, p. 7). Moreover, healthcare providers appear to be investing in digital technology at a higher rate than providers in other sectors (figure 1.3).⁵

⁴ Moreover, in a survey of GPs, 87% said that they practised completely digitally, and maintained no paper records (RACGP 2019a, p. 4).

⁵ Many businesses said that their IT use was for general business processes. However, large shares also reported using it for video conferencing or remote consultations (41%) or general service provision (31%) (ABS 2023b).

Figure 1.3 – Health and social service providers are investing in digital technology Share of businesses that invested in or shifted towards digital technology in the past year, 2021-22



Invested in new digital technologies or infrastructure

Shifted production towards goods and services that use ICT more intensively

Source: Characteristics of Australian Businesses, 2021-22 (ABS 2023b).

Governments have also made major investments in digital infrastructure. At the federal level, the My Health Record system is now in place, after being rolled out gradually from 2012 (ANAO 2019, pp. 15–19). There have also been investments at the state and territory level. All jurisdictions have developed or are developing state/territory-specific electronic health records⁶ to be used in public hospitals, and in some cases in outpatient clinics and community health as well.⁷ And the Australian, state and territory governments have collectively invested in digital projects via the *Intergovernmental Agreement on National Digital Health 2023-2027* (National Cabinet 2023, pp. 4–5). One such project is the roll-out of electronic prescribing infrastructure, which has seen 36% of GPs having generated e-prescriptions, and 95% of PBS pharmacies having dispensed them as at 2021 (ADHA 2021, p. 4).

At the same time, digital modes of care are becoming more mainstream. The use of telehealth has grown enormously since 2020, as a result of policy changes that expanded Medicare subsidies for video and phone consultations (ANAO 2023, p. 15). Before the pandemic, less than 1% of Medicare-funded GP and specialist consultations were delivered via telehealth; now, the share is nearly one in five for GP services, and over

⁶ Electronic medical records capture information for a single provider. Records which allow information to be accessed across multiple provider organisations are typically referred to as electronic health records.

⁷ A detailed summary of this appears in chapter 2.

one in ten for specialist services.⁸ Virtual care has also expanded into the hospital sector, where some providers are experimenting with new service models. For example, the Royal Prince Alfred (RPA) Hospital in Sydney has developed 'rpavirtual', a 'virtual hospital' that makes use of telehealth in a range of contexts, and employs digital remote monitoring to enable patients to be cared for at home (rpavirtual 2023). And Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (ACCHOs) are using digital technology to enable their patients to access support from remote specialists while the patient remains at the ACCHO clinic.

... but there remains untapped potential

While there has been progress in digital technology use in healthcare, there remain opportunities to further realise the productivity benefits it can generate.

There is scope to improve the quality of, and access to, information within the health system by increasing the comprehensiveness and interoperability of digital record and communication systems. The Commission has previously noted that that 'despite the increased uptake, [My Health Record] is some way off from being a comprehensive source of data on all healthcare services used by a consumer' (PC 2023, p. 57). Moreover, information sharing between different service providers within the health system is challenging. Many of the IT systems in GP clinics not interoperable with those in hospitals, which makes information sharing between primary care and the hospital sector difficult (PC 2021, p. 118).

Opportunities also exist to further support digital alternatives to traditional care. Though the role of telehealth has expanded significantly in recent years, uptake of other digital-based services has lagged. For example, digital therapeutics and remote patient monitoring are yet to be integrated into normal patterns of care.

Finally, there remains untapped potential in the use of AI in healthcare. Though AI uptake in healthcare has increased, it is not yet embedded in everyday healthcare delivery in Australia (CSIRO 2023, p. 1). There are opportunities to increase the use of AI throughout the health system, from administration through to clinical applications.

1.3 Governments can help facilitate the digital transformation in health

For the most part, governments do not directly determine how much digital technology is used in the health system. Decision-making is mostly decentralised; which types of infrastructure to invest in, and which services to opt for, are generally decisions that are made by clinicians, administrators, patients and other actors, who are motivated by a combination of financial incentives and a desire to deliver good health outcomes. Much of the time, these actors have good reasons to invest in digital technology. It can help them deliver better-quality care, save money, and make care more convenient for patients, at a cost that is worth it given the benefits.

However, there are also things that governments can do to help realise the potential of digital technology in healthcare. Though they generally do not directly determine the extent of uptake, governments can be facilitators, and have a range of policy tools available. This is consistent with the Australian Government's *National Digital Health Strategy 2023-2028*, which recognises the role that policy and regulatory settings can play as 'enablers' of positive outcomes for patients in the health system (ADHA 2023d, p. 18).

⁸ These figures are based on Commission analysis of data from Services Australia (2024). More detailed analysis appears in chapter 3.

Governments can facilitate investment in digital technology by getting regulatory settings right. Governments play a central role in regulating healthcare, and in ensuring that patients are well-informed about their care. They can use these instruments to provide patients and clinicians with assurance that digital technologies and services are safe and effective. They can also provide a favourable environment for investment, by ensuring that regulations do not place unnecessary burdens on providers, and that regulations keep pace with technological developments.

Governments can also add value by helping individual service providers coordinate to achieve collective benefits. This is particularly important when it comes to information sharing. The benefit of a health or medical record to any individual user depends on there being a broader network of users of that system, or another interoperable system. However, users do not always have an incentive to share information, or invest in a system that is interoperable with others – much of the required coordination needs to be incentivised by government.

Finally, governments can ensure that funding settings provide the right incentives for the adoption of digital technology where beneficial. About 70% of healthcare funding in Australia comes from government (AIHW 2023e), so provider and patient decisions are shaped to a large extent by the particularities of which services attract subsidies, and at what rates. And in some cases, governments are direct purchasers. In deciding on which digital services to support, governments need to consider both whether they deliver high-value care and whether they provide a cost-effective alternative to traditional services.

1.4 The contribution and approach of this paper

The nature of the potential productivity benefits, and the role of government in helping realise them, are different for different technologies and services. The remainder of this paper explores specific technology and service types in more detail, each of which is covered in its own chapter (figure 1.4). The chapters discuss the benefits of digital technology, drawing on existing research, case studies of successful innovations, and original Commission analysis that quantifies certain productivity-enhancing effects. They also explore how current policy settings might be changed to realise further benefits.

Figure 1.4 – This paper is structured around the ways different digital technologies could support the health system



2. **Electronic health and medical** records

Key points

- Digital technology has changed the collection and storage of health data for the better.
 - While gaps remain, particularly for some parts of the hospital system, Electronic Medical Records (EMRs) have been increasingly adopted by healthcare providers.
 - This shift comes with large benefits. EMRs can help providers reduce duplication of procedures (such as pathology tests and imaging), ensure continuity of care, and reduce the risk of adverse events (including medication-related harms).

Important benefits arise from sharing of health information between providers, but health data in Australia is still fragmented.

- Breakdowns in information sharing between providers for example, from a hospital back to a GP clinic affect continuity of care for many patients.
- My Health Record (MHR) was intended to overcome fragmentation by providing a centralised, consumer-controlled repository of information. Despite its progress, more remains to be done.
 - MHR contains important gaps not all consumers opt to have a record, and there is no requirement for clinicians to use the system, leading to patchy coverage of health information.
 - These gaps, combined with poor usability, constrain the value of MHR for many clinicians, who are often operating under time pressure. If clinicians do not see the value in MHR, they will not use it.
- 🔀 Significant gains could be made by storing MHR data in an atomised format and sharpening incentives for software providers to make information sharing across systems more seamless. In the meantime, focussing on electronic discharge and medication data could provide some quick wins.

🗱 With states and territories also investing in their own information systems, greater coordination is needed across jurisdictions, and systems must be interoperable with one another to minimise costs.

- · MHR is not a replacement for systems intended to meet the needs of individual providers, nor for recordkeeping by state and territory governments - these must coexist.
- · But better coordinating investments designed to improve information sharing between state systems and primary care would avoid duplication and minimise costs.

This chapter explores how digital technologies, such as electronic medical records (EMRs), are transforming the way in which practitioners and patients can store, share and access health data.

The benefits on offer are significant. EMRs can better support patient care and reduce waste. They also act as an enabler for other data-driven technologies such as clinical decision support and service optimisation.

But we are yet to fully realise these benefits. To do so, My Health Record will need to evolve to be better integrated with the network of other health information sharing systems, and we will need to overcome significant interoperability challenges.

2.1 Digital technology is changing the way we use valuable health information

Digital technology is transforming the way we collect and store data

Healthcare providers require accurate and timely data to make diagnoses, identify appropriate treatment and ensure continuity of care. EMRs and other systems that digitise health information management allow clinicians to get the right information they need at the right time, and to make use of that information more efficiently.

EMRs are increasingly being used by healthcare providers to document, monitor, and manage the delivery of health services: a process that has, up until recently, been predominantly paper-based. An estimated 96% of Australian primary care physician offices used EMRs in 2021, slightly higher than the OECD average of 93% (OECD 2023).⁹

EMRs are also gaining traction in hospitals, where they are replacing paper-based clinical charts and allowing healthcare professionals to simultaneously access and update patient information.

Better access to health information can improve outcomes and reduce costs for service providers

EMRs within a GP practice, hospital or other service provider can improve quality of care by providing more accurate information to support clinician decision-making. In a hospital setting, implementing EMR systems is associated with a clinically significant decrease in mortality rates (South 2022). There are also administrative benefits for providers: for example, moving from paper to digital records can reduce the risk of loss or damage to paper records (PC 2017a, p. 523).

Improvements in patient outcomes are magnified when EMRs are combined with clinical decision support systems (Bronsoler et al. 2021; Menachemi et al. 2018). These support systems provide a wide range of tools to help clinicians identify the most relevant facts or recommend appropriate actions (Wasylewicz and Scheepers-Hoeks 2019).

Clinical decision support systems can help practitioners 'use wisely'. For example, one study found that introducing EMR alerts resulted in a statistically significant reduction in four low value care practices (Lawrence et al. 2023). And 'digital guardrails' can encourage adherence to clinical guidelines, issue follow-up and treatment reminders, reduce the incidence of medication and prescribing errors, and alert practitioners to duplicative testing.

⁹ 16 OECD countries had all primary care physician offices using EMRs by 2021 (OECD 2023).

Decision support systems can also improve the quality of the information stored in EMRs themselves by improving the quality of clinical documentation. For example, an obstetric decision support system might include a prompt to document key information, such as estimated foetal weight (Sutton et al. 2020).¹⁰

In addition to improved patient outcomes and safety, EMRs can reduce healthcare costs. Although there are typically increases in costs in the initial years (due to the fixed costs of setting up a system), evidence from Australia and abroad suggests that digitising health information management can lower treatment, administrative and data storage costs in the long run (Menachemi et al. 2018).¹¹ For example, one EMR implemented by The Royal Children's Hospital Melbourne (RCH) generated substantial cost savings (box 2.1). The implementation of EMRs in other public hospitals across the health system may generate similar savings to those experienced at RCH (appendix B).

Box 2.1 - Case study: Royal Children's Hospital EMR

In April 2016, The Royal Children's Hospital Melbourne (RCH) implemented a comprehensive EMR system to replace patients' paper medical records. Clinicians are able to access medical history, clinical notes, assessments, test results and other patient information electronically in one place. The coverage of the EMR system has recently been expanded beyond RCH to also include Royal Melbourne Hospital, Royal Women's Hospital and Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre.

Impacts

- RCH reported a 13.4% reduction in medication errors following the introduction of the EMR. There are fewer prescribing errors as the system sends alerts (for example, about medication interactions or when a dose is outside clinical standards). There are also fewer medication administration errors as nurses scan a barcode on the patient wristband and the medication before it is administered (Victorian DH 2020).
- Alerts within the EMR can prioritise clinician's time. The EMR system can alert nurses and clinicians to let them know if a patient deteriorates, which has helped provide more timely medical review, particularly in intensive care. Clinicians can also check a box when ordering a test to make their phone vibrate when the result is ready to view. This enables clinicians to see results immediately for time critical patients. The system also enables clinicians to review a record from a remote location. For example, a specialist on call can see a patient's full record.
- Access to an EMR can help avoid unnecessary tests. RCH reported a 6.3% reduction in the number of pathology tests and a 12.5% decrease in diagnostic imaging tests over the two-year period since the introduction of the EMR (Victorian DH 2020).
- The EMR has generated operational and financial benefits, including improvements in bed planning and efficiency, improved data capture and cost savings associated with storage and handling of paper files.
- The system can improve information sharing and engagement with patients. The patient portal allows patients (or carers) to see the medical record, get notified about upcoming appointments, be prompted to undertake care at home and to share the record with relevant health practitioners outside the hospital (such as GPs or private specialist).

Source: Lawrence et al. (2023); South (2022); Victorian DH (2020).

¹⁰ Decision support systems can also aid with early identification and management. For example, Territory Kidney Care is a clinical decision support system that uses analytics to assist with the early identification and management of kidney disease.
¹¹ Not all studies have shown positive results. Agha (2014) found that the adoption of health information technology by US hospitals did not improve outcomes but did increase costs. However, the Commission heard during consultations that some of the information collected was for legal rather than medical purposes.

Many of these benefits and cost reductions accrue directly to the healthcare provider investing in an EMR. For this reason, many providers have reasonably strong incentives to implement an EMR that meets their direct operational needs (such as recordkeeping or communicating between hospital wards).¹²

Sharing between providers magnifies these benefits

People interact with different healthcare providers, in different settings, at different times. Better sharing of health information between multiple different providers can improve the accuracy and continuity of the treatment they receive. This is particularly true for people with multiple or complex morbidities, where information management and coordination across providers is important (McCullough et al. 2016).

In a given year around 80% of Australians visit a GP, 38% visit a specialist and 15% visit a hospital emergency department (ED), according to patient surveys (ABS 2023e). And of those that visit a GP more than once, just over one quarter report attending more than one general practice, according to survey data from the RACGP (Wright et al. 2018).

Enabling transfer of records between these healthcare providers can improve the accuracy and continuity of treatment for patients and reduce duplication and inefficiency in the way they receive care. Not only would consumers be able to avoid having duplicative tests and scans, but they would also avoid having to recount their medical history to multiple providers. In 2020-21, 17.8 million Australians accessed 204.1 million Medicare-subsidised pathology tests, imaging scans and other diagnostic services. Many tests are ordered because clinicians either don't know about or don't have access to the results from previous tests – estimates of this range from 7-20%, though the exact rate is difficult to verify (PHA 2023).

Data sharing across healthcare providers can also reduce the incidence of adverse events. The transition between acute and community care, in particular, can be a vulnerable period in a patient's care because of the potential for adverse events, including medication related problems. Poor communication between hospitals and GPs can be a contributing factor. When GPs do not receive hospital discharge summaries, the risk of an individual being readmitted to hospital within seven days increases by 79% (Li et al. 2013). Low-quality discharge communications (that are delayed, unintelligible, lacking detail or inaccurate) have also been shown to have adverse effects on patient outcomes (Kripalani et al. 2007; Schwarz et al. 2019). The cost to the healthcare system of medication-related problems alone is around \$1.4 billion per year, with 50% of this harm considered preventable (PSA 2019a).

Communication of health information from numerous healthcare providers can also play an important role for patients transitioning into new clinical settings or episodes of care, especially in emergency situations. Many patients are able to provide necessary information to a provider upon admission. But for patients who are unable to communicate (including those with language backgrounds other than English), critical information may be missed if existing records are not readily available.

But health information remains fragmented ...

Despite its benefits, information sharing across a complex health system is challenging.

Latest available figures estimate that there are about 7000 accredited GP clinics and 700 public hospitals (SCRGSP 2024). This is in addition to the many other healthcare providers in the system, including referred services, pathology and diagnostic imaging, and community pharmacies (figure 2.1).

¹² In some cases, there are high fixed costs, which can pose a barrier particularly for small providers. Some incentives exist to assist providers in overcoming these, including the Digital Health Practice Incentives Program (ePIP) targeted at GP practices.



Figure 2.1 – The large network of providers makes information sharing challenging^{a,b}

a. Information is also collected for the MBS from general practice and referred services and for the PBS by pharmacies: only billing data is included. Depending on the type of hospital and patient, information from hospitals and dental services is sometimes also collected by private health insurance providers (PC 2017b, p. 512). **b.** In some cases, red lines indicate where information is exchanged via letters or faxes rather than electronically (PC 2017b, p. 512).

Source: Commission interpretation based on consultation with Australian Government, State and Territory Health Departments.

Each provider can employ different systems and equipment for recordkeeping.¹³

For GPs, among the different types of software available, Best Practice and MedicalDirector have historically had a significant share of the market (PC 2017b, p. 518). For hospitals, large generic IT systems offered by multinational software companies such as Joan Software, CERNER and EPIC, and more bespoke systems tailor-made for individual wards, hospitals or hospital groups, are used (PC 2017b, p. 518).

These systems have different structures and standards, data elements and clinical terminologies, frustrating the health information exchange needed. Many systems also tend to have different interfaces, making it inefficient or impractical for providers to frequently switch between them. The result is that the information stored using the digital record systems adopted by providers tends to fall into same siloes as the analogue system, limiting the ability to view and track a patient's journey across the system.

... and information sharing often does not happen on its own

Providers have good incentives to invest in technologies that allow them to store information and share it within a practice, but this does not always extend to information sharing outside of a practice. Although some sharing is necessary to provide care (for example, making a referral to a specialist), many benefits of system-wide information sharing do not accrue to individual practitioners. For example, while GPs have an obligation to share information with another GP if their patient moves to a new clinic, such sharing does not form part of practitioners' typical workflow. Supporting policy settings are needed to overcome coordination challenges and address system-wide gaps.

Problems with sharing basic information, such as medication requests and clinical summaries are relatively widespread. In 2019, the proportion of Australian GPs surveyed who were able to exchange patient clinical summaries electronically with doctors outside their practice (50%) was lower than in other countries such as the UK (66%) and New Zealand (80%) (Commonwealth Fund 2019).

The consequences of gaps in sharing between providers fall both on the consumer and on future clinicians providing care. For consumers, there can be a lack of transparency around which information is available to their healthcare providers and limited access to records detailing the treatment they have received. Information gaps can also make it more difficult for clinicians treating new patients. For example, a GP treating a new patient may not have full visibility over care delivered by previous providers, and ED staff may not have useful information in an emergency even if it has been provided in the past (especially if a patient is unresponsive).

MHR was intended to overcome fragmentation but has not yet been successful

A key objective of MHR was to help overcome the fragmentation of health information. Indeed, some of its other objectives (such as improving the coordination and quality of care for healthcare users accessing multiple providers and reducing the occurrence of adverse medical events and the duplication of treatment) are downstream benefits of reduced fragmentation.¹⁴

¹³ Healthcare providers and clinicians are bound by record-keeping requirements and privacy restrictions. The exact nature of these obligations varies by sector (public or private), the type of provider, and across states and territories.

¹⁴ The *My Health Record Act 2012* makes explicit the purposes of the system, which are listed as overcoming the fragmentation of health information; improving the availability and quality of health information; reducing the occurrence of adverse medical events and the duplication of treatment; and improving the coordination and quality of healthcare provided to healthcare recipients by different healthcare providers.

MHR is intended to be a central access point for a subset of the most important information on a patient, such that a patient and any clinicians providing care can easily view it. It is also intended to provide a nationally consistent platform for health information sharing (ACT Health 2023a; McMillan 2020, p. 25; PC 2017b, p. 528).

But MHR's usefulness to date has been hampered by incomplete information and poor usability.

The information in MHR is incomplete ...

There is no requirement for either patients or clinicians to use the MHR system.¹⁵ Gaps in the information available in the system substantially lessen its value for clinicians and consumers. The system will not produce benefits for patients who do not have useful information stored in it. And if the availability of patient information is inconsistent, MHR will not be a reliable source of information for many clinicians.

The types of documents that are currently supported by MHR are broadly appropriate. They give practitioners and consumers alike access to key information, including on previous testing (such as pathology and diagnostic imaging), details about major episodes of care (such as a hospital stay), and any information which is likely to help prevent harm during future care (such as prescription and medication details).

But around one in eleven Australians do not have an active record, creating gaps in the system.¹⁶ And although more than 98% of records contain data, consumers need to link their My Health Record through MyGov to access their records. As at March 2024, 6.7 million (less than one-third) of consumers had done so (ADHA, pers. comm., 26 April 2024).¹⁷

And although almost all GPs are registered on the system, they can also choose not to enter patient data into MHR, even for individuals that have opted in, meaning the amount of detail contained within an individual's record varies. For example, of the 27 million diagnostic imaging reports produced each year (AIHW 2024), roughly one third are uploaded to MHR (table 2.1). By comparison, some forms of data are automatically uploaded to MHR, leading to complete coverage unless a consumer has opted out or removed that data from their record.

While some information in MHR is of high value to clinicians, including reports from diagnostic tests and imaging, allergies, and medications, other high-value pieces of information cannot currently be uploaded (ACSQHC 2021a, p. xi). For example, ACSQHC (2021a, p. 42) found that ED clinicians wanted MHR to include electrocardiograms, and would also prefer to see actual images rather than just relying on reading diagnostic imaging reports (ACSQHC 2021, p. 79). And some information that is uploaded can be of poor value. For example, in an ED setting:

Practices such as 'copying and pasting' entire clinical notes into a discharge summary can compromise the extraction and application of information. It is known that such practices exist, which results in poor documentation and heightens the risk of adverse ED discharge-related events. (ACSQHC 2021a, p. 99)

¹⁵ This is not necessarily an issue in itself: community wide digital health record systems that operate in some other countries, such as Denmark, achieve almost complete uptake without such a requirement (Hartlev 2014).
 ¹⁶ ADHA report that there were 23.8 million active My Health Records as at February 2024 (ADHA 2024); Australia's population was 26,821,557 people at 30 September 2023 (the most recent estimates) according to the ABS.
 ¹⁷ A consumer's record is accessible to registered healthcare providers regardless of whether the consumer has linked their record (unless they have restricted access). Even where records are not currently accessed, they can still provide some future value, for example, where an individual's health status changes.

Table 2.1 – My Health Record can support a range of content, but coverage varies

Types of documents which can be uploaded to MHR and volume of uploads

What can be uploaded	What health information does it contain	Who's responsible for uploading ^a	Approximate uploads (Jan-Dec 2023)
Diagnostic imaging reports	Can include reports (but not actual images) from X-rays, CT scans, ultrasounds and other diagnostic imaging examinations	Radiology and Imaging clinics	9 million
Pathology reports	Includes results from blood tests, urine tests and biopsies	Pathology laboratories	114 million
Immunisations	Immunisation information	Drawn from the Australian Immunisation Register	Automatically pre-populated
Discharge summaries	Information about a hospital stay and related health information	Hospitals	6 million
Shared health summary	A clinical record that can includes diagnosed conditions and the medicines a patient takes.	GPs, registered nurses or Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Practitioners.	2 million
Event summary	A clinical document which summarises one or more episodes of care	Healthcare providers	Not reported
Advance care plans and goals of care	A document outlining preferences for future care, in the event the patient is no longer able to communicate.	Individuals and practitioners	9000
E-referrals	Information about an individual's care to be shared with another healthcare provider	Referring practitioners	10
Specialist letters	Provides GPs with information and recommendations that are relevant to care, such as diagnoses, medication changes, and treatment plans	Specialists	1 million
Prescription records	Information about medicines prescribed by a healthcare provider	Prescribers	76 million
Dispense records	Information about medicines dispensed by a pharmacist or dispenser	Pharmacists and dispensers	145 million
Pharmacist shared medicines list	A list of all medicines a person may be taking, including prescribed, over the counter and complementary medicines	Pharmacists	300,000

a. Consumers can upload documents themselves in all cases. However, it is usually more efficient for the provider generating the information to be responsible for uploading it, and relying on consumer uploads can lead to information gaps. Source: ADHA (2024) and ADHA (pers. comm., 26 April 2024).

Further, information that makes it onto the system need not stay there. MHR is consumer controlled, meaning that in cases where consumers do not want a healthcare provider to see aspects of their record, they can either withhold the information or permanently delete it from their record. As the Review of the MHR Legislation noted:

[t]he principle of consumer control differentiates MHR from other health record systems that are structured on a principle of practitioner or organisational control. In those systems the consumer may have no independent right of entry to the system, no control over what personal health information is uploaded to the system, and no access to personal information in the system other than through privacy legislation. That is the operating model, for example, of public sector health record systems established by state and territory governments and instrumentalities. There appears to be general acceptance, both in the health sector and in the broader community, that consumer control should remain the foundation principle of the MHR system. (McMillan 2020, p. 64)

Some contend that consumer control of records would, at worst, not make MHR any riskier than the status quo since patients have always had the right to choose whether to share some or all of their information with health professionals (NHHRC 2009, p. 129). But for practitioners, the ability for consumers to opt out can contribute to a lack of reliability.

Where many patients opt not to share their information, MHR records are less likely to be complete and accurate and so clinicians will be less likely to use the system as a first source of information. And if use among clinicians is low, then healthcare providers may see less value in uploading information to MHR. This can create a negative feedback loop potentially undermining the value of MHR for information sharing.

... difficult to access ...

A lack of compatibility between different information system software can mean that healthcare providers looking to upload information onto MHR need to enter data into multiple systems, causing duplicative work.

While some systems used by providers are compatible with MHR, others are not. For example, some GP software is not compatible with MHR making it difficult for some clinicians to upload and access information (PC 2021, p. 119). For public hospitals, compatibility varies across jurisdictions. In 2020, some States and Territories had comprehensive coverage – in others, only 72% of hospital beds were registered to use MHR (ADHA 2023b). A lack of compatibility is more pronounced in the private hospital sector, where many hospitals are not able to view MHR at all – in 2022, only 61% were registered and 55% used the system (ADHA 2023b).

In environments where clinicians are often time-poor and under pressure (PC 2021, p. 116), clinicians will not have strong incentives to upload or access information if their digital information systems require duplicative work or carry high time costs.

The provider's system has to literally be a click of about 10 to 15 seconds. But at the moment, there's this laborious kind of drafting of summary statements. (Burton 2022)

For this reason, some have called for MHR to be embedded in the workflow of busy clinical settings, be they GPs or specialists, hospitals or aged care.

... and the information it contains is not easy to use ...

Consumers and clinicians have different needs for information stored on MHR. For consumers, general access to a wide range of their own health information is useful for self-management (for example, checking when their most recent pathology test was taken). For clinicians, the information required usually relates to an event or episode for which a patient is presenting – they may wish to check whether the patient has undertaken a relevant test, has a history of a specific condition, or is currently taking a high-risk medication.

In either case, it is important that the data and interface allow for consumers and clinicians to conveniently locate the information most relevant to them.

However, where information is uploaded to MHR, the form in which data is accessible on MHR compounds the challenges around ease of access. Data is not 'atomised' (reduced to its most basic level), meaning that records cannot be clustered and analysed and presented to health workers, as well as consumers, in a meaningful way. Instead, MHR has been described as a 'shoebox of PDFs' (Rose 2018), hindering consumers and clinicians from searching for and locating the information they need.

... culminating in low levels of use

Lack of content and limited ease of access have contributed to the slow uptake of MHR (PC 2021, p. 119).¹⁸

Although almost all GPs and pharmacies are registered users of MHR, use is very limited among specialists and in aged care (figure 2.2). This variability is likely to persist:

Specialist use of My Health Record is likely to continue to lag behind general practice use as long as lower digital health penetration and the absence of financial incentives persist in this setting. ... Widespread My Health Record use is unlikely to be achieved unless clinical sites ... are incentivised, particularly given the evident limitations of existing software integration. (Tomlinson 2019, p. 34)

For clinicians who do use MHR, it is not clear that they regularly use it as a source of information. The number of MHR documents that are viewed by *other* healthcare providers is significantly lower than the number of records available (ADHA 2023c). Providers are generally more likely to upload information to MHR than they are to actually view it (figure 2.2). Commission estimates suggest that around 2% of documents uploaded by healthcare providers are viewed by other healthcare providers (this does not account for certain 'non-document' entries, where data on views is not available, such as immunisation and some medication records).





¹⁸ For example, in the case of ED clinicians, one study found that MHR was not regularly accessed as part of patient care because of a lack of content (Miles et al. 2019).

Meanwhile localised solutions have emerged

Government investment in information sharing is not limited to MHR – state and territory governments have been developing their own systems, particularly for tertiary care. Some jurisdictions are well progressed and have implemented state- or territory-wide systems. Other jurisdictions, however, are in the process of rolling out EMRs (usually for specific parts of the sector, especially hospitals) or are still in the planning stage (table 2.2).

Table 2.2 – Progress in rolling out EMRs varies across states and territories

State or territory	Progress in EMR rollout
ACT	Rather than having a hospital-specific EMR system, information from ACT public hospitals and other public health services are connected by the Digital Health Record system. This system includes clinical records including clinical observations, medications, patient monitoring data, treatment history, and diagnostics, imaging and pathology results.
NSW	NSW has already implemented EMRs with consistent functionality across 187 hospitals. The Single Digital Patient Record is now being rolled out in NSW to capture medical, pathology and administration records in one place across public hospitals, community health centres, pathology laboratories and collection centres.
Northern Territory	The NT has implemented EMRs in some hospitals, including Katherine hospital. A summary of information (including medication, discharge summaries and pathology reports) is currently shared via My eHealth Record across all public hospitals in the NT remote health centres, and Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services. However, the NT is now transitioning towards using My Health Record in its place.
Queensland	The Integrated Electronic Medical Record is replacing paper-based clinical charts across Queensland hospitals. It connects medical records across QLD hospitals and digitises communications including ordering and reporting pathology tests, medical imaging, discharge documentation, medications management and prescribing. It currently covers 14 sites, with two additional sites using an intermediate version of the system and rollout expected to 12 further sites.
South Australia	The Sunrise EMR is used across many South Australian hospitals. It connects patient information in hospitals and health facilities including medical information, clinical notes and diagnostic tests, which can be ordered electronically.
Tasmania	Tasmania is rolling out an EMR across hospitals under their Digital Health Transformation Roadmap. In addition, they are also rolling out a health record to improve visibility across primary, community, mental and child health including clinical notes and observations, orders and results, medication management and electronic prescribing.
Victoria	Many hospitals in Victoria already have EMRs. The <i>Health Legislation Amendment (Information Sharing) Act 2023 (Vic)</i> will allow for the establishment of an integrated system which shares patient details, patient hospital visits, clinical documents, and diagnostic information across the public health system.
WA	WA are rolling out a statewide EMR, with a focus on all public hospitals and select ICU units in the first stage. This will replace paper-based records currently used in some public hospitals.

Source: ACT Health (2019, pp. 33–35, 2020, 2023a, 2023b); eHealth NSW (2023a, 2023b); Nadel (2022); NT Health (2023b); Oracle Cerner (2023); Queensland Audit Office (2018); Queensland Health (2023); SA Health (2023); Rockliff (2022); Tasmanian Department of Health (2022, p. 28); Parliament of Victoria (2023); Weber (2023).

State and territory governments have good reason to make these investments in the tertiary care sector. As the providers of public hospital infrastructure, it makes sense for them to invest in EMRs that benefit patients and reduce costs in the long-term. Some jurisdictions are opting for a uniform system, with consistent functionality across hospitals. There are scale economies to be gained from uniformity, including bargaining power in purchasing and reducing need for retraining when moving staff across hospitals. An added benefit of a uniform system is that it allows for improved sharing of patient records across hospitals.

MHR is often complementary to these state- and territory-specific EMRs. For example, the ACT's Digital Health Record is a record of all interactions a person has with the public health system in the ACT and is much more detailed than MHR, which is not intended to be detailed enough to provide care in a hospital or community health setting (ACT Health 2023a). However, there is some blurring of lines. One of MHR's key purposes is to provide a central portal for consumers to access a subset of their own health data, but some EMRs are also building in consumer portals, where consumers can access similar information.

State and territory investment in information-sharing infrastructure is not restricted to tertiary care. Since MHR was first introduced, many localised information management and sharing solutions have emerged (box 2.2).¹⁹ For example, some jurisdictions have progressed initiatives to share information between hospitals and GPs and, although there is a national-level electronic referrals system, some jurisdictions have also invested in their own.

Box 2.2 – Beyond tertiary care: State and territory localised platforms

Since MHR was first introduced, state and territory governments have developed and introduced many of their own information sharing platforms. This extends beyond platforms intended for use within the public hospital system.

Examples include:

- **iRAD (NSW):** a software that connects real-time patient information between GPs and hospitals with patient consent within the South Western Sydney PHN. GPs in this PHN also have access to Lumos, which provides insights into their patients' care across multiple providers.
- Chronic Conditions Management Model (NT): collects patient data from health centres and correctional facilities managed by NT Health (for a population of about 28,000) which is turned into automated reports for the prevention and management of chronic conditions.
- The Viewer (QLD): an online portal that provides GPs, specialists and nurses access to real-time public hospital health records including appointment records, radiology and laboratory results, treatment and discharge summaries, and demographic and medication details.
- Integrated Care Platform (TAS): a patient record viewer being set up for public and private healthcare providers to access across all settings including medical history and results, medications, care plans and upcoming appointments. Tasmania has also developed their own electronic referrals system.
- Shared Care Platform (WA): enables real-time health information sharing and communication (including sending referrals) between community-based physicians, allied health professionals, hospital specialists and patients.

Source: McDonald (2022); NSW Health (2021); PC (2021, pp. 123–124, 133); PHN South Western Sydney (2023); Rockliff (2022); Tasmanian Department of Health (2022, p. 30); WA Health (2020, p. 16).

¹⁹ MHR commenced operation in 2012, originally as the Personally Controlled Electronic Health Record (PCEHR).

In many cases, jurisdictional systems are useful initiatives and performing well. However, the fact that MHR also provides similar functionality in some cases, has resulted in some duplication, and state and territory developments have captured some of MHR's intended gains. The net result is an uncoordinated, and in some cases disconnected, digital information management landscape.

2.2 Creating a network of networks

MHR, State and Territory EMRs and other localised initiatives will need to co-exist.

While jurisdiction-specific initiatives are welcome, they aren't a comprehensive fix. Leaving aside their lack of national coverage, MHR will continue to have a role in ensuring all consumers can access their own health data and that clinicians can access key information when treating patients who do not have an ongoing relationship with a GP or have unexpected care needs. Critically, MHR will provide a conduit when privacy legislation or other requirements would otherwise limit the sharing of key health information across sectors or states (box 2.3).

The ongoing need for MHR, alongside State and Territory EMRs and other localised initiatives, raises four policy considerations:

- · how to maximise MHR's benefits and better track progress towards achieving those benefits
- · how to encourage interoperability
- · which information sharing initiatives can be usefully prioritised in the near term
- how to better coordinate digital investments to minimise overlap including for users.

Box 2.3 – Privacy and health information across jurisdictions

The sharing of health information is strictly regulated. This is intended to balance personal risks of harm arising from the misuse or inappropriate disclosure of private data against the benefits of information sharing. The relevant privacy regulation differs both by jurisdiction and by sector (that is, whether a provider is publicly or privately owned).

In all jurisdictions, the *Privacy Act 1988* (Cth) plays an important role in the regulation of private sector health information. This is the primary piece of Australian legislation concerned with the collection, use, storage and disclosure of personal information in the private sector and the federal public sector. Any organisation that provides a health service (as defined in the *Act*) and hold health information (other than an employee record) is bound by it.^a

In some jurisdictions (including the ACT, NSW, Victoria, and WA), there is additional private sector regulation – for example, the *Health Records Act 2001* in Victoria. Regulation around health information sharing for the public sector is more complex, and each jurisdiction has their own legislation.

The result is a complex landscape which can make information sharing challenging.

a. A health service in this context is not restricted to hospitals and other providers in the health system; it also includes (for example) disability care, weight loss clinics and some schools.

There are clear fixes for many of MHR's ills

It takes time for the benefits of an information sharing system to take effect, a point made by the Australian National Audit Office in its review of the implementation of MHR (ANAO 2019).

But time alone will not cure MHR's ills. Government needs to address MHR's two related shortcomings – lack of coverage and usability – if it is to realise returns on its sizeable investment.

Plans to expand coverage need to go hand in hand with efforts to improve usability

The Australian Government has already signalled that it expects legal obligations to upload diagnostic imaging and pathology results onto MHR to be in place from December 2024. This is a significant development with the potential for sizeable gains (O'Connor et al. 2023).

But getting the information onto the system is only half the challenge – clinicians also need to draw on this valuable information. If this is to occur, mandatory uploading will need to be accompanied by changes that allow practitioners to efficiently search large volumes of data and display reports in a way that is easy to read and accessible. Some GPs have described the MHR interface for viewing test results within their clinical information systems as 'clunky, hard to navigate, and slow' (Woodley 2023), saying that it is particularly difficult to see each result where multiple test reports are available, and that it is difficult to access images.²⁰

Governments should ensure that information management systems are co-designed with clinicians wherever possible. Co-designing information systems with clinicians helps ensure they are easy to use and align with clinician workflows, as well as focused on collecting and sharing information that is clinically useful, practical, efficient and reusable, instead of adding noise (Rowlands et al. 2022, p. 9). Co-design can also provide a mechanism for continuous feedback on what is, and is not, working and make it clearer to practitioners the value of health information sharing systems (PC 2021, p. 128).

Atomised data would make the system more usable for practitioners

There are already plans to improve MHR's usability. Shifting towards storing data in an atomised format would help. Atomisation would involve storing individual pieces of information at their most basic level, rather than in a format that is more difficult to reduce. For example, a pathology test report would currently be stored as a PDF document detailing (among other things) the name of the ordering physician, the relevant test, and the result. But this data could easily and more usefully be stored in terms of each of these individual pieces of data. Doing so would make it easier for a clinician to look through the information on MHR without having to open and read several separate documents. It would also enhance searchability, so that users can more quickly and easily find and access the information they are looking for.

Atomised data could also make it easier to incorporate information contained in MHR within each clinician's own system for recording information and managing workflow. For example, rather than having to log in to MHR and their own local software, a mental health specialist could access data on the timing of prescriptions being filled from MHR and combine this with their own electronic records that detail when medicines were prescribed to enhance their consultation with a patient and inform future treatment plans. In doing so, they would be able to compile a more comprehensive patient record.

The greatest potential benefits of this change are realised if MHR information is capable of being used by other digital systems. As the volume of information on MHR increases, it expands the potential for this data

²⁰ Images themselves are not stored on MHR – only reports from diagnostic imaging. Within a single hospital, some MHR viewing platforms (such as HealtheNet) allow diagnostic images to be viewed (ACSQHC 2021a, p. 105). But this is not consistent across platforms.

to be applied in a productivity-enhancing way and incorporated into existing clinician workflows, for example, by applying decision support technologies to identify the information in a record that is most relevant to a clinician or provide automated warnings or suggested actions.²¹

Enlisting software providers would help improve both coverage and usability

To date, governments have relied on incentive payments to encourage clinicians to upload information (McMillan 2020).²² However, this has several drawbacks. It is both resource intensive and does not necessarily achieve universal coverage, since even practitioners who are aware of the incentives that are in place may still choose not to upload. The quality of uploads might also be poor if practitioners upload only the minimum amount of information for the purposes of receiving the subsidy.

Removing duplicative processes to upload information into different systems can also increase use. Requiring that the systems developed by software providers allow for automatic uploads to MHR would remove many of the practical barriers to clinician uploads (including human error).²³

There are already some incentives for software providers to offer products that are useful in an Australian context (including those that connect with key digital infrastructure). For example, some software vendors already have software that is conformant with MHR, allowing healthcare providers to access a patient's MHR directly from their clinical software (PC 2017b, p. 529).

However, many software providers operate internationally, and may be focussed on designing solutions for a global rather than local market. In these cases, regulation can play a role. The Commission previously recommended that the Australian Government set conformance standards that require all health practice software to be compatible with MHR to enable uploading relevant records to MHR and extraction of patient data in an easy-to-use, secure and transferable format, alongside publishing a register of health practice software that is integrated with MHR (PC 2023, p. 60). Ultimately, the cost of compliance with regulation would be reflected in the price software providers charge to software users.

Tracking MHR's progress is critical

It will likely take time to fully address MHR's limitations and for the system to show significant benefits. In their review of the implementation of MHR, the ANAO (2019) concluded that:

The intended benefits for the My Health Record system are estimated to take at least ten years to be realised. Where the intended benefits of a program are projected to be realised over a relatively long period, entities should not only describe what the intended benefits are and how they could be measured, but also make clear delivery plans showing how and when the benefits will be measured, evaluated and reported.

MHR is a substantial and ongoing government investment. Data which is comparable over time and relative to some benchmark (for example, a target of what coverage should be achieved for different types of providers and for each type of document) would help monitor its progress.

²¹ For example, there would be significant system-wide cost reductions if practitioners were encouraged to check for recent results before ordering new tests. State and territory experience with EMRs provide key learnings on how to encourage this kind of behavioural change, including by providing auto-alerts.

²² These incentive payments also play the role of encouraging providers to adopt software that is interoperable with MHR.
²³ Even if uploads are automatic, consumer's decision to opt out of the system could be preserved – that is, uploads should be made automatic for those who have opted in.

Currently, the ADHA has two reporting mechanisms: a small number of key statistics (such as the number of total records accessed in a financial year) which they are required to provide as part of their annual reporting, and additional information which they are not currently required to report (such as the specific types of documents uploaded) provided via their website. Even taken together, the information provided is not enough to provide a reasonable view of the performance of MHR.

Improving reporting and transparency will likely have other benefits – reporting credible data could help increase use if clinicians, hospitals and the public see the potential value of the system.

Creating an interconnected system

While it is critical that private and state- and territory-specific information sharing systems can interface with MHR, it is only one component of a larger system. As other new systems emerge, these must be developed such that they are also interoperable with one another.

Addressing the lack of interoperability

The systems that providers, hospitals and state and territory governments have invested in will not realise their full benefits unless their systems are able to communicate with one another.

Infrastructure needs to be in place that allows information to be shareable to providers across different parts of the health system. This requires interoperability, the 'ability of a system or product to transfer meaning of information within and between systems or products without special effort on the part of the user' (GDHP 2023). Interoperability of information sharing infrastructure requires:

- · health information to be digitised
- transmission channels that allow systems to exchange information²⁴
- common terminology, data rules and specifications that allow for 'semantic interoperability' where data inputted and stored can be understood and transferred across different systems
- identification processes so that information about the right patient and health provider is exchanged securely (Grieve 2014; PC 2017b, p. 518)
- processes to ensure the right subset of a consumer's health information is being shared with the receiver of information.

Australian, state and territory governments have already been investing in interoperable infrastructure, which would benefit MHR and localised solutions alike. Under the National Healthcare Interoperability Plan, governments are working to promote the use of standardised application programming interfaces as transmission channels between different systems (ADHA 2023a, p. 32). The Plan notes the current lack of a nationally consistent approach to interoperability standards:

Australia has no centralised approach to using standards. This leads to a proliferating number of standards, which inhibits information sharing and integration, and leads to a lack of interoperability. (ADHA 2023a, p. 25)

Governments are working with the health sector to develop and incorporate data exchange specifications and standards (such as the HL7 Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources standard) and terminology

²⁴ Currently, standardised transmission channels are being built into health software systems including application programming interfaces (APIs) that enable information systems to communicate and transfer data among each other (ADHA 2023a, p. 28).

standards (such as SNOMED CT-AU) as well as requirements for their use in procurement processes (ADHA 2023a, pp. 31–32, 40).^{25, 26}

Although the government has a role in requiring consistent use of interoperability standards, there are also risks to being too prescriptive or inflexible. Interoperability standards can become outdated as new technology is developed (ADHA 2023a), and governments should be cautious of committing themselves to standards which could become obsolete.

Near term priorities

Noting that system-wide interoperability will take time to develop, there are areas where governments can also encourage quick wins in system-wide information sharing. The Government has introduced reforms in relation to pathology and imaging uploads, which could generate substantial benefits (Appendix B). Other potential areas where a comprehensive record could generate significant benefit are electronic discharge communication and medication information. Prioritising government effort to strengthen incentives to upload information automatically in these areas would enhance the quality of information on MHR, which reinforces its value and use for clinicians.

Electronic discharge could offer health benefits in the near term ...

When used appropriately, e-discharge summaries can significantly improve quality of care and reduce readmission risks.

In 2016, 23% of Australians aged 45 and over who visited a hospital ED reported inadequate sharing of information back to their usual GP or usual place of care (AIHW 2019, p. 17). This problem is worse among some groups: for example, people in remote areas are more likely to say their GP was not informed of visits to other providers (AIHW 2019, pp. v–vi).

Simply requiring hospitals to upload e-discharge could lead to a proliferation of more low-quality discharge summaries (for example, through the copying and pasting of clinical notes outlined above). As noted by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care:

While a well implemented and designed EDS [Electronic Discharge Summaries] system can improve the clinical handover process, it also has the potential to adversely impact the safety and quality of patient care if not properly implemented or poorly designed.

While low-quality content is a concern, the existence of a discharge summary is useful information of itself given it indicates a recent hospital episode.

Some jurisdictions issue guidance on patient discharge documentation protocols. In NSW, for example, guidance makes clear that discharge summaries must be sent, electronically (if available), to a patient's nominated GP and other relevant primary care providers and shared electronically with a patient's My Health Record.²⁷

Discharge summaries are already able to be uploaded to MHR but not all hospitals do so. There were around 6.8 million public hospital separations (including psychiatric hospitals) in 2021-22 (SCRGSP 2024), and around

²⁵ Action 3.1 of the National Healthcare Interoperability Plan states that '[t]he Agency [the Australian Digital Health Agency (ADHA)], 'health departments and Services Australia will specify interoperability requirements in procurement requests where they meet business objectives. This will leverage existing national infrastructure, terminology and standards' (ADHA 2023a, p. 40).

²⁶ Promoting the use of national healthcare identifiers in health information sharing systems and service directories is also a priority (ADHA 2023a, pp. 15–22).

²⁷ Unless the patient has withdrawn their consent.

4 million discharge summary reports were uploaded over the same period (ADHA 2022b).²⁸ While the number of discharge summaries uploaded is growing (table 2.1), significant gaps remain.

... and medication information could reduce errors

As noted previously, medication-related problems impose a large burden on the health system, and roughly half of this harm is considered preventable. For this reason, populating medication data in MHR should be a priority.

Transactional data from the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) is automatically uploaded to MHR, regardless of whether or not a pharmacist chooses to upload a dispense record (PSA 2019b). For consumers setting up a new record, the last two years of PBS data are also uploaded automatically.

This is a useful source of data, but gaps remain. Dispense records for non-PBS items are not part of this automatic upload process. Governments should consider options to require the automatic upload of all pharmaceutical dispenses to MHR (where a consumer has not opted out).

The benefits of more complete medication data are potentially large. For example, South Australia has developed a medicine risk review program using AI to detect potential medication issues. Each year, this is estimated to save up to 58,000 hours of pharmacists' time annually and prevent over 1,300 readmissions (Patrickson et al. 2022).

Greater coordination of effort could save cost and amplify benefits

The investment in record-sharing by different levels of government is substantial and greater coordination would maximise its impact.

There is a need to better coordinate investments to improve information sharing between state-based systems and federally-funded primary care. As noted above, both the Australian and state and territory governments have, or are putting in place, architecture that seeks to bridge the same gaps. These initiatives target common information, such as sharing of referrals, radiology and laboratory results, treatment and discharge summaries, demographic and medication details.

Capturing the full benefits of system-wide information sharing at minimum cost and reducing duplication requires action by both the Australian and state and territory governments. For its part, the Australian Government needs to improve the functionality of MHR so that it becomes a viable alternative for information sharing. States and territories meanwhile need to consider the marginal benefit that local initiatives might provide over and above the functionality of MHR in their cost-benefit considerations. If MHR falls short of meeting their information sharing needs, exploring whether a single national fix is possible, before embarking on state-based solutions would result in a more efficient and effective information sharing architecture.

But coordinating digital information sharing investments across the health system is inherently difficult. Agencies such as the ADHA and Digital Health Cooperative Research Centre already play an important role in facilitating coordination. Raising the profile of this issue would help. The Health Ministers' Meeting and future intergovernmental agreements provide potential avenues.²⁹

States and territories that are planning large investments in EMRs could learn from the jurisdictions that have already invested. All parties, as well as the public, would benefit from greater transparency around 'what

²⁸ Discharge summary report uploads have grown since this figure was reported. However, comparable admissions data from the same period are not available.

²⁹ Although the National Agreement on Digital Health 2023-27 is already in place, there is room to use implementation plans under the current agreement to support coordination and more explicitly embed information sharing investments in a future agreement.
works' and progress in implementing information sharing systems. There is a need for governments to commit to share their evidence base in developing EMRs and other infrastructure, as well as for greater transparency around implementation progress (especially in the hospital sector). There may even be scope to replicate a system (and share costs across jurisdictions). This does not apply to publicly funded projects alone – there is also a need to understand information-sharing developments among private providers.

Sharing of evidence and implementation progress could also help make innovative investments in information-sharing infrastructure more diffuse. This is a perennial challenge in the healthcare sector:

In health, as in the non-market sector more broadly, the 'system' for innovation and diffusion of ideas can be patchy and incomplete ... Innovation and diffusion are also frustrated by major structural flaws, including uncoordinated actions of governments and agencies that share overlapping roles, siloed services, clashing funding incentives and risk averse cultural norms, which tend to work against experimentation. (PC 2023, p. 36)

While this coordination will be challenging to achieve, improving the way in which we manage and share health information would have significant payoffs. Not only can improvements ensure continuity of care, minimise testing duplication and reduce adverse events, but better data also paves the way for other digital health applications, such as the use of Artificial Intelligence (chapter 5), and the health benefits they can generate.

3. Telehealth

Key points

🔀 Though uncommon before 2020, telehealth is now a large part of the Australian health system.

- Nearly one in five Medicare-funded GP consultations now take place over the phone or by video, as do more than one in ten Medicare-funded specialist consultations.
- Uptake of telehealth increased enormously because of policy changes that took place during the COVID-19 pandemic, which expanded Medicare subsidies for video and phone consultations.
- X the same time, the 'direct-to-consumer' (DTC) telehealth industry has emerged, which is made up of online-only companies that offer a range of telehealth services.
 - Rules around telehealth funding mean that most DTC telehealth does not attract Medicare funding. Nonetheless, several of these companies' characteristics enable them to charge prices that are on par with traditional, subsidised providers.
 - There is limited visibility of the volume of care that DTC companies provide. However, data made available to the Commission suggests that the DTC sector is a small but significant share of the overall primary care telehealth market. And the investment flowing into the sector suggests that it will continue to grow.
- Telehealth cannot replace in-person care in every context. Where patients need to be physically examined, clinicians cannot provide the same quality of care via phone or video. But when telehealth is used appropriately, it achieves similar clinical outcomes to in-person care.
- Telehealth eliminates costs associated with receiving care in person principally travel-related costs such as commuting time. This can deliver large savings to patients, and improve access to care. Commission estimates suggest that, in 2023, telehealth saved about 27.3 million hours of patient time. This represents a benefit to patients of about \$895 million.

In light of telehealth's expanded role in the health system, some policy settings need to be changed. Governments should:

- consider expediting the development of virtual care standards, and ensure that they apply to DTC telehealth companies
- take steps to minimise the costs of the '12-month rule', which restricts Medicare subsidies to consultations between patients and general practitioners that have seen each other in person in the past year
- · consider whether policy settings around advertising and bundled clinician and pharmacist services remain fit for purpose given the rise of the DTC sector
- · monitor the impacts of telehealth on regional and remote medical practices.

3.1 The telehealth transformation

Telehealth has entered the healthcare mainstream in Australia

Today the use of telehealth is widespread in the Australian health system. Millions of Medicare-funded telehealth consultations now take place yearly (table 3.1), and in a recent survey, nearly three in ten people (27.7%) reported having had a telehealth consultation in the past 12 months (ABS 2023e).

Uptake has increased enormously in recent years. In 2023, nearly one in five Medicare-funded general practitioner (GP) consultations took place over the phone or by video, as did more than one in ten Medicare-funded specialist consultations (table 3.1). Prior to 2020, the share of Medicare-funded GP and specialist consultations that took place via telehealth was less than 1% (figure 3.1).

Table 3.1 – Telehealth is a large part of the Medicare-funded sector^{a,b}

Number of telehealth consultations and share of all Medicare-funded consultations that took place via telehealth, 2023

	Number of Medicare-funded	Telehealth share of all	
	telehealth consultations, 2023	Medicare-funded consultations, 2023	
GP consultations	28.0 million	19.4%	
Phone	26.7 million	18.4%	
Video	1.3 million	0.9%	
Specialist consultations	3.5 million	11.7%	
Phone	1.8 million	6.0%	
Video	1.7 million	5.7%	

a. Dental, obstetric and public health physician services were not included in the 'specialist' category. **b.** Some cells do not add to the total due to rounding.

Source: Commission analysis of Services Australia Medicare Item Reports (Services Australia 2024).

This increase is mainly the result of the COVID-19 pandemic and policy responses to it. Prior to the pandemic, telehealth was only subsidised by Medicare under highly restrictive conditions. There were Medicare items for both specialist video consultations (created in 2011) and GP video consultations (created in 2019). However, these were generally only available for patients in rural and remote areas, and in many cases patients also needed to have seen their doctor face-to-face at least three times in the previous year. (ANAO 2023, p. 15; DoH 2019).

In March 2020, Medicare subsidies for telehealth were expanded. New video and phone items were added for GP, specialist, psychologist and other services. These were made available to all patients, regardless of geography, and requirements for in-person contact between patients and clinicians were also relaxed (DoH 2021a, 2021b). Though initially temporary, they were eventually made permanent (DHAC 2023b, 2024a).



Share of all Medicare-funded GP and specialist consultations that took place via telehealth, 2018–23



a. Dental, obstetric and public health physician services were not included in the 'specialist' category. Source: Commission analysis of Services Australia Medicare Item Reports (Services Australia 2024).

Medicare is not the only avenue through which telehealth has been subsidised by government. The federal and state and territory governments have established Healthdirect, a national company that provides a range of telehealth and other services. And though the company has existed since 2007 (Healthdirect 2024b), there has also been a large increase in usage of its services in recent years (box 3.1).

Box 3.1 - Case study: Healthdirect

Healthdirect is a national service that is owned and funded by the federal and state and territory governments. It is both a provider of healthcare information, and a telehealth provider.

Healthdirect operates a 'virtual front door' service: it triages patients, provides advice on how they can manage their condition on their own ('self care'), and connects them to health services. Triage occurs either through digital triage on the Healthdirect website, or their phone-based nurse helpline, both of which are available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Patients are triaged according to their symptoms and health risk factors, and can obtain advice on health issues, as well as information on how to access other health services matched to their needs. Patients who need to consult with a GP may be offered a phone or video call through Healthdirect's GP helpline, if there are no other providers available.

Healthdirect's website also provides broader information, including about specific health conditions, and self care advice.

Impacts

- Healthdirect's services are improving access to healthcare. Use of Healthdirect virtual services has increased significantly by about 49% since the COVID-19 pandemic (Healthdirect 2023, p. 4). In 2022-23, there were 53 million visits to its website and 5.6 million calls to its helplines (Healthdirect 2023, p. 9). About 63,000 patients accessed GP consultations through the Healthdirect GP helpline between March and December 2023, and 37% of those calls were from people in regional centres and rural or remote areas (Healthdirect, pers. comm., 26 April 2024).
- These services are reducing pressure on the hospital emergency departments. The virtual GP service contributed to a 20% reduction in referrals from Healthdirect to emergency departments in New South Wales, and 60% of people who reported using the service said that they would have gone to an emergency department had telehealth not been available (Healthdirect 2023, p. 19).

Sources: Healthdirect (2023, 2024a).

Telehealth is enabling innovation in how care is delivered

Telehealth is changing the Australian healthcare sector in other ways as well. New providers have emerged whose presence is wholly online. And established providers such as hospitals and Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (ACCHOs) have developed innovative telehealth-based models of care.

The rise of direct-to-consumer telehealth

At the same time that telehealth has become a much larger part of traditional primary care, a new class of providers has emerged: 'direct-to-consumer' (DTC) telehealth companies. These are online-only providers that offer a range of services – mainly phone consultations, video consultations and asynchronous care (Foo et al. 2023).³⁰

³⁰ Asynchronous care refers to interactions in which patients provide information via a web form or messaging platform, and receive advice or documents such as medical certificates.

Rules around telehealth funding mean that most of these services are not funded by Medicare (section 3.4). Nonetheless, DTC companies are able to charge prices that are on par with traditional, subsidised providers. This is because of several of their characteristics.

- DTC providers are online-only, so they avoid the bricks-and-mortar costs associated with in-person care.
- Some firms specialise in relatively low-complexity, routine interventions, which take less time than the average medical consultation.
- Some firms offer bundled services and/or have partner pharmacies, which allows them to economise and in some cases cross-subsidise. For example, some companies offer bundled weight management programs, through which patients can consult with doctors and also access pharmacists.³¹

In addition to these supply-side factors, DTC companies' services are more convenient than in-person care (as is telehealth generally). Many patients have shown that they are willing to pay out-of-pocket for this convenience.

Because the sector operates largely outside of the Medicare system, there is limited visibility of the volume of care that DTC companies provide. However, what data has been made available to the Commission suggests that the sector is a small but still significant share of the primary care telehealth market. For instance, one major DTC telehealth company told the Commission that they provide about 100,000 consultations per month in total. By way of comparison, there are about 2.3 million Medicare-funded GP telehealth consultations per month.³² This one player alone is therefore more than 4% of the size of the Medicare-funded GP telehealth sector.

Moreover, the DTC sector is growing, and its growth is expected to continue. This is evident in the investment that is flowing into the sector; multiple DTC providers have been purchased by larger companies in recent years, and some firms' valuations have been in the hundreds of millions of dollars (Foo et al. 2023, p. 344).

Innovation in the hospital sector

Further, some established providers have developed innovative, telehealth-based service offerings.

Hospitals are experimenting with new models of care. Basic telehealth consultations have been a part of outpatient care for a number of years.³³ But recently, some hospitals have developed more innovative services based on telehealth.

- Multiple jurisdictions have developed 'virtual emergency departments' (virtual EDs), which triage patients via telehealth. For example, in 2020, Northern Health launched a virtual ED (Northern Health 2020), which was eventually rolled out Victoria-wide following investment from the state government (Victorian Government 2022). The service enables patients to consult with an ED nurse when they have a potentially urgent issue, and get advice on whether they need further emergency care. It aims to prevent unnecessary attendances at the (physical) ED.
- Some hospitals have begun using telehealth in novel ways in outpatient care. For example, the Royal Prince Alfred (RPA) Hospital in Sydney has developed 'rpavirtual', a 'virtual hospital' that makes use of telehealth and other digital technology (box 3.2).

³¹ These points are based on discussions with research participants and the Commission's own desktop research.

³² This is the average monthly number of GP telehealth consultations in 2023, based on the data presented in table 3.1. ³³ Moreover, there is some evidence that uptake increased in the last decade. While there is little publicly available data on the extent of telehealth use for outpatient care, one analysis found that government spending on outpatient telehealth in Queensland grew roughly four-fold between 2013 and 2018 (Snoswell et al. 2020, p. 3).

Box 3.2 – Case study: The Royal Prince Alfred 'virtual hospital'

The RPA virtual hospital (rpavirtual) offers telehealth and other digital-based care to patients. Services are run out of a multi-disciplinary Virtual Care Centre (VCC), which operates from the RPA Hospital campus.

rpavirtual was established in February 2020 in order to address growing demand for hospital care. It quickly scaled up in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and delivered care for COVID-19 patients outside of hospital. Since then, its scope has broadened to encompass a broad range of telehealth and other services. rpavirtual has delivered virtual care to over 90,000 patients thus far (rpavirtual, pers. comm., 23 April 2024).

Examples of telehealth services provided by rpavirtual include:

- a virtual trauma clinic, in which patients with physical traumas are assessed via video by a clinician at the VCC, and provided with telehealth-based follow-up care to help them recover
- virtual fracture and wound clinics, in which patients forward images of their fracture or wound to a VCC clinician, have it assessed, and receive follow up care.

rpavirtual also has a virtual emergency department, which aims to reduce the number of ED presentations.

Impacts

- rpavirtual's telehealth services enable patients to receive care without having to travel, which delivers time and travel savings and improves access. For example, virtual fracture clinic patients – of which there have been over 1,300 so far – save significant amounts of time by using the service. rpavirtual has estimated that the dollar value of saved patient travel in a two-year period was about \$19,000 (rpavirtual, pers. comm., 23 April 2024).
- Some services reduce costs. For example, because it has a lower per-episode cost than traditional orthopaedic care, the virtual fracture clinic saved an estimated \$325,000 in a two-year period (rpavirtual, pers. comm., 23 April 2024).

Source: rpavirtual (2023).

Telehealth in ACCHOs

Providers in the ACCHO sector are also using telehealth in innovative ways, which helps them deliver culturally appropriate healthcare. The Commission heard from multiple participants with experience in the sector that many ACCHO clinics use telehealth to enable their patients to get advice from external specialists. A common model is one where patients attend their local ACCHO clinic, and consult with another clinician (typically a specialist) in a different location while being supported in person by an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander Health Worker.

In some cases, this model makes use of innovative digital technology. The Commission heard that some clinics employ 'store-and-forward' telehealth, which involves ACCHO staff capturing images with specialised equipment and forwarding these to remote specialists, who diagnose the issue and come up with a treatment plan. This is used for issues such as rheumatic heart disease, eye care, ear care and diabetes. Another example of how telehealth is being used to support Aboriginal patients is the diabetes-related foot disease (DFD) service run by the Royal Adelaide Hospital (RAH) (box 3.3).

Box 3.3 – Case study: A telehealth service for diabetes-related foot disease

The RAH DFD telehealth service is a multidisciplinary service run out of RAH Vascular Surgery and Podiatry. It uses real-time video-based telehealth to deliver multi-disciplinary DFD care to people in rural and remote communities, including many Aboriginal people who attend their local ACCHO clinic or a Local Health Network service. In 2023, 156 of the 465 patients reviewed by the Central Adelaide Local Health Network multi-disciplinary foot service had at least one telehealth consultation, and 15% of patients accessing the service identified as Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander (McMillan 2024).

DFD is a major cause of diabetes-related hospitalisation and is implicated in about 75% of all lower extremity amputations globally (Graham et al. 2023, p. 2). However, early identification and management of wounds reduces the likelihood of amputation and greatly improves healing. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are disproportionally affected by DFD, with higher rates of amputation compared to non-Indigenous Australians.

Impacts

- The RAH DFD service is reducing patients' travel burden. The service provides assessment and triage, as well as post-procedure follow-up care all via telehealth. This reduces travel time, associated travel costs and inconvenience for the patient.
- The service allows Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander patients to receive care from their local clinic, with an emphasis on cultural safety. Local health professionals typically support patients while they have their telehealth appointment; in many cases, patients receive specialist care from the RAH team while attending their local clinic in person. There is also an Aboriginal Health Practitioner based at the RAH, who assists in providing care that considers cultural needs.
- The service is trialling innovative ways to use technology. With partners, they are developing software
 for 'augmented reality' headsets ('smart glasses'), which are intended to improve the quality of video
 conferencing between specialists and rural/remote clinics. The headsets are designed to be worn by
 local health professionals, who use them to capture close-up images of their patients' feet and wounds
 (Stanley 2023). This innovation was developed in response to some of the challenges faced by the
 service, including poor wound image quality in some cases, and is currently undergoing refinement in
 collaboration with Local Health Networks.

Sources: Graham et al. (2023, 2024).

3.2 Is telehealth a high-quality mode of care?

Telehealth is clinically effective when used in the right context

Telehealth cannot replace in-person care in every context. There are many situations in which patients need to be physically examined, and so clinicians cannot provide the same quality of care via phone or video. But clinical evidence shows that, when telehealth *is* used appropriately, it achieves broadly similar clinical outcomes to in-person services (box 3.4).

Box 3.4 – The clinical effectiveness of telehealth

Clinical research on telehealth shows that it can be a high-quality alternative to in-person care.

Evidence from multiple reviews suggests that it can be an effective medium for information exchange between patients and clinicians.

- One review assessed clinicians' diagnostic accuracy when using telehealth. It found that, in cases
 where only a verbal description and medical history is needed, diagnoses via telehealth are as
 accurate as in-person diagnoses. Unsurprisingly, telehealth is less accurate when a diagnosis requires
 a physical examination (Scott et al. 2023, pp. 33–38).
- A review of patient experience studies found that patients generally reported being able to communicate effectively with clinicians virtually (Orlando et al. 2019).

Moreover, reviews of telehealth's effectiveness in specific contexts have found generally positive results.

- Scott et al. (2023, pp. 6–11) concluded that, in a wide range of clinical contexts, telehealth achieves similar clinical outcomes to in-person care.
- Snoswell et al. (2023) found that telehealth can deliver clinical outcomes that are at least equivalent to in-person care in a range of specialities, including cardiovascular care, endocrinology and nephrology.
- Shigekawa et al. (2018, p. 1978) found that telehealth is generally equivalent to in-person care in mental health treatment, rehabilitation and dermatology.

Of course, it is likely that, in the trials that these reviews drew on, telehealth was being used more-or-less optimally. Nonetheless, the reviews demonstrate that, when used in the right way, telehealth can be an equally effective alternative to in-person care.

Consistent with this research, guidelines published by the Medical Board of Australia (MBA) endorse telehealth as an effective alternative to in-person care on the condition that it is used appropriately. They state that 'the Board supports the responsible and safe use of telehealth', though they also note that 'it is not appropriate for all medical consultations' and that 'the standard of care provided in telehealth consultations may be limited by the lack of in-person interaction and capacity to carry out physical examinations' (MBA 2023, p. 2).

Patients are generally satisfied with the quality of telehealth

Data from patient experience surveys provides another perspective on the quality of telehealth. These are imperfect sources; though many patients are well-informed about their healthcare, it can be difficult for them to judge the quality of care they receive. Nonetheless, these surveys contain valuable insight; and overall, they paint a positive picture of the quality of telehealth as it is currently practiced in Australia.

Patients generally report that clinicians perform well in telehealth consultations. In one recent survey, telehealth users rated their experience of telehealth as on par with or better than that of GP and specialist care in general (table 3.2).

Table 3.2 – Patients' experience of telehealth is as good as or better than that of care in general^a

Share who ...

		GP consultations	Specialist consultations
	Telehealth	in general	in general
were always listened to carefully	80.7%	71.3%	77.9%
were always shown respect	83.9%	80.3%	82.8%
always had enough time spent with them	79.1%	70.8%	78.9%

a. The percentages in each column represent the share of people who had used each type of service that agreed with the statement.

Source: Patient Experiences Survey, 2022-23 (ABS 2023e).

Another recent survey also had mostly positive findings. Of people who had used telehealth in the past 12 months, a majority said that they had a good experience, that they were able to communicate effectively with their clinician, and that they felt the consultation to be of a high quality (figure 3.2).

Figure 3.2 – Most people who use telehealth are satisfied and consider it high-quality^{a,b} Share of telehealth users who agreed that ...



a. 'Telehealth users' are survey respondents who reported having used telehealth for a consultation in the past year. **b.** The data represents the share of respondents who stated that they 'agree' or 'strongly agree' with the statement.

Source: Thomas et al. (2023, pp. 6-7).

3.3 The impact and benefits of telehealth

Telehealth has delivered large savings to patients

Telehealth reduces the cost to patients of receiving care, mainly through eliminating travel-related costs. Patients therefore receive a significant benefit when they substitute a telehealth appointment for an in-person one.

Most telehealth consultations in recent years seem to have been substitutes for what would otherwise have been in-person care. Since March 2020, the total volume of Medicare-funded GP and specialist care has not increased much. The main effect of the COVID-19 policy changes has been an increase in the number of telehealth consultations, and a nearly equal decrease in the number of in-person consultations (figure 3.3).

If DTC telehealth is factored in (which it should be, because the markets for DTC and Medicare-funded telehealth are related) then the total volume of care has likely increased. However, this increase is only a slight one, as the DTC sector is still relatively small (section 3.1).

The main benefit that patients gain from substituting telehealth for in-person care is the time they save from not having to commute, and from not having to wait in doctors' waiting rooms. And calculations by the Commission indicate that the recent expansion of telehealth in the Medicare-funded sector has delivered large time savings to patients. In 2023, there were about 28 million Medicare-funded GP telehealth consultations, and about 3.5 million specialist telehealth consultations (section 3.1). If it is assumed that telehealth saves patients about 65 minutes per appointment, and that 80% of telehealth consultations would otherwise have been in-person visits, then telehealth saved about 27.3 million hours of patient time that year. If the dollar value of patients' time is equal to the average earnings of full-time workers (adjusted for labour force participation) then telehealth delivered a total benefit to patients in 2023 of about \$895 million.

Details about the assumptions and methodology behind this estimate are outlined in appendix B. The appendix also presents estimates of the benefits of telehealth under alternative assumptions about the degree of substitution between it and in-person care.





a) GPs – number of Medicare-funded consultations by medium, rolling 12-month sum, January 2018 – December 2023

b) Specialists – number of Medicare-funded consultations by medium, rolling 12-month sum, January 2018 – December 2023



a. Dental, obstetric and public health physician services were not included in the 'specialist' category. **b.** For each month, the chart represents the number of consultations that had taken place in the past 12 months. For example, the December 2023 column in panel (a) shows that, from January 2023 to December 2023, there were about 116 million in-person GP consultations and about 28 million GP consultations via telehealth.

Source: Commission analysis of Services Australia Medicare Item Reports (Services Australia 2024).

Telehealth has also improved access for some patients

By reducing travel-related costs, telehealth can also allow patients to receive care where otherwise they would go without altogether; in other words, it can improve access to care. And though most telehealth thus far has been substitution, it also appears to have had a positive effect on access.

Several participants told the Commission that the expanded role of telehealth has led to better access to some patients. They emphasised the access benefits for people in regional and remote areas, where services are more sparse and travel-related costs are higher.³⁴ Some also said that telehealth improves access for other groups, such as people with caring responsibilities and those with limited mobility (for whom the cost of travelling to appointments is also relatively high).

Multiple participants emphasised the access benefits for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in particular. Participants involved in the ACCHO sector said that the use of telehealth in ACCHOs has improved access to specialist care. Instead of facing a large journey for an in-person appointment, many patients can, where appropriate, access care remotely while attending their ACCHO in person (section 3.1). This helps address travel-related barriers, which are often an issue for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in regional areas. For example, in one qualitative study, a Queensland-based Aboriginal health worker said:

One of the biggest reasons [for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people missing out on healthcare] is the cost of travel; it's a very challenging issue here for most of the community members. A trip to Toowoomba or Brisbane, you're away for three days, it's extremely difficult for the community (Caffery et al. 2018, pp. 678–679).

Another benefit of the use of telehealth in ACCHOs (though not strictly 'access') is that it allows Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander patients to stay at their local ACCHO instead of attending a mainstream service. Participants argued that this is a way of enabling patients to receive culturally appropriate care.

Moreover, by leveraging the presence of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health workers, telehealth can lead to better communication and information sharing between patients and clinicians, particularly if English is not the patient's first language. Health workers bring detailed knowledge of patients' context and personal circumstances, which they can relay to clinicians where relevant; they can also help ensure that patients fully understand clinicians' advice and its implications. The latter benefit was emphasised in the study by Caffery et al. (2018, p. 679); one health worker said:

When they [the community member] talk, they don't know how to – sometimes when doctors talk to them, they can't understand what's being asked. It's good to have someone, a worker, with you. If they don't understand you can explain to them. You have to have that worker that has that rapport with the person.

3.4 The policy landscape needs to evolve

Despite the benefits that telehealth has delivered in recent years, there is room to improve multiple policy settings that affect it. Of these:

- · some need to be acted on by government as a priority
- · some need to be resolved, but may take time, and
- some should be monitored, but are not a problem now.

³⁴ On average, there are fewer GPs and specialists in regional and remote areas, and patients tend to wait longer for care. This is explored in more detail in chapter 1.

Governments should take action now to improve quality controls

Like all forms of healthcare, telehealth is governed by quality and safety standards. These apply both at the level of individual clinicians, and at the provider level. Standards exist to incentivise clinicians and providers to adopt good practice, as healthcare can be quite technical, and patients may find it difficult to accurately judge the quality of the care they receive. Standards can also give governments assurance that services that receive public subsidies are high-quality.

In some cases, the regulatory regime has kept up with telehealth's expanded scale and scope. However, in others, it may be lagging behind.

There has been progress on practice standards for clinicians

Not all consultations lend themselves to telehealth. Some by their nature require the 'laying of hands' – for example, the assessment of an orthopaedic injury. There are also situations where a clinician might want to directly observe a patient for safety reasons.

Guidance on how and in which situations clinicians should use telehealth is key. And in recent years, progress has been made on clinician-level guidelines.

Multiple sets of telehealth practice standards have been developed. In 2023, telehealth guidelines were published by the MBA. They set out the standards of practice expected of doctors in relation to telehealth (MBA 2023); serious or repeated failure to meet MBA standards can have consequences for a doctor's medical registration (MBA 2020, p. 3). In addition, some medical colleges have developed specific telehealth guidelines for their clinicians; for example, in March 2020, the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) published a telehealth guide for GPs (RACGP 2020a). Deviation from medical college guidelines does not always lead to formal consequences – their role is more about setting professional norms of good practice. In some cases, however, college guidelines do help define clinicians' legal obligations in relation to the quality of the care they provide (Pakchung et al. 2019).

Existing provider standards may not be appropriate for the regulation of DTC telehealth

While there has been good progress on the development of clinician-level standards, there may be a regulatory gap at the provider level. Specifically, it is not clear whether DTC providers fall within the scope of relevant provider standards and accreditation schemes.

There are multiple sets of provider standards that apply in the Australian health system (table 3.3). Most of the major ones were developed by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Healthcare (ACSQHC), though some were developed by other bodies; for example, the RACGP has national standards for GP clinics. Each set of standards is the basis for a corresponding accreditation scheme; providers can be assessed against the standards, and if they are found to meet them, they become accredited.

	Main types of in-scope providers	Developed by	Is accreditation compulsory or voluntary?
National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards	 Hospitals Day procedure services Public dental services Certain other acute-type services such as ambulance services 	ACSQHC	 Compulsory for hospitals, day procedure services and public dental services Voluntary for other in-scope providers
Standards for General Practice	GP clinics (however, some clinics that might be considered general practices in an everyday sense do not fit the RACGP definition of a GP clinic)	RACGP	Voluntary (though certain government payments are conditional on accreditation against the standards) ³⁵
National Safety and Quality Primary and Community Healthcare Standards	 Allied health services GP clinics that do not meet the RACGP definition of a GP clinic Other primary and community care providers such as publicly provided community health services 	ACSQHC	Voluntary
National Safety and Quality Digital Mental Health Standards	Providers that deliver digital mental health services	ACSQHC	Voluntary

Table 3.3 – Selected provider standards and their scope

Sources: ACSQHC (2020, 2021b, 2021c); RACGP (2020). The table's contents are also based on discussions between the Productivity Commission and the ACSQHC.

DTC telehealth providers do not fit neatly into this landscape. DTC services are, broadly speaking, a form of primary care, but it is not clear that existing primary care standards cover them.

For the purposes of the Standards for General Practice, DTC providers do not meet the definition of a GP clinic, and therefore cannot be accredited.³⁶

Moreover, there is some ambiguity about whether DTC providers are within the scope of the National Safety and Quality Primary and Community Healthcare (NSQPCH) Standards.

On the one hand, at least one major DTC provider perceives there to be a gap in regulatory coverage. In a recent submission, the telehealth company Eucalyptus suggested that DTC providers are not covered by existing standards and accreditation schemes. They said:

Telehealth is still to some extent an emerging industry in Australia and it is clear that regulations in various areas have not yet caught up with it. While telehealth provided from a traditional GP clinic may

³⁵ The Practice Incentives Program Quality Improvement Incentive is a payment available to GP clinics 'to encourage practices to participate in quality improvement activities' (RACGP 2020b, p. 1). To be eligible for the payment, practices must be accredited against the Standards for General Practice (RACGP 2020b, p. 1).

³⁶ General practices need to meet a set of conditions to be considered as such under the RACGP's definition. Among other things, they must offer care that is 'comprehensive' (RACGP nd, p. 4). The RACGP explicitly states that this rules out DTC providers. They note that 'services that provide limited and/or non-continuous care are not eligible for accreditation'; in this category are 'telehealth-only services (including on-demand telehealth services), where continuous care may be provided but scope of care provided is limited (ie physical assessment is not possible)' (RACGP nd, p. 5).

be the indirect subject of accreditation (as part of the GP clinic's accreditation), telehealth provided by an online-only platform such as Eucalyptus presently will not (Eucalyptus 2023, p. 42).

To fill this purported gap, the company argued that 'telehealth-specific accreditation standards should be developed and they should – ultimately – be made compulsory' (Eucalyptus 2023, p. 42).³⁷

On the other hand, advice from the ACSQHC (pers. comm., 17 April 2024) notes that the NSQPCH Standards do not exclude DTC providers from their scope. And so, at least in theory, DTC providers can seek to be assessed against the standards.

The source of this uncertainty could be that there is a difference between what is theoretically and practically possible. Even though DTC providers are not *explicitly* excluded from the scope of existing standards, it might be that they are *effectively* outside of their coverage, because it is unrealistic for them to meet the conditions necessary for accreditation. For example, the NSQPCH Standards have a 'comprehensive care' requirement (ACSQHC 2021c, p. 25). This may make it difficult for providers that have a specialised service offering – as DTC telehealth companies often do – to fall within their scope.

This apparent regulatory gap may already be on its way to being filled via the ACSQHC's project on virtual care standards. Currently, there is a pilot study underway which is an 'anticipated first step towards national safety and quality standards for the broad range of virtual care services [including telehealth] across Australia' (ACSQHC 2024). These will be adapted from the National Safety and Quality Digital Mental Health Standards, and thus will likely be analogous to them (ACSQHC 2024).

Given that the DTC telehealth sector has grown significantly in recent years, and that its growth is expected to continue, it is important that governments take steps to resolve any potential regulatory gap. Governments should consider expediting the development of standards for virtual care and an associated accreditation scheme. They should ensure that these standards apply to DTC telehealth companies. DTC providers will have good incentives to seek accreditation against the standards, as they will want to signal that they have strong quality controls in place.

Governments will need to address particular regulatory and funding issues going forward

Governments may need to examine regulatory settings in light of the emergence of DTC telehealth

The DTC telehealth sector is delivering new services in new ways. Governments will need to consider whether other aspects of the regulatory framework remain fit for purpose in light of the emergence of these new providers and practices.

For example, some DTC providers offer access to both GP and pharmacist services as part of a bundled package of care – such as in bundled weight management programs – that patients can purchase. It is not clear whether this is creating problematic incentives. The Australian Medical Association (2019, p. 1) has noted, for instance, that 'real and perceived conflicts of interest may develop' where a doctor owns a pharmacy, via 'the creation of a potential incentive for the doctor to prescribe or recommend those treatments based on increasing the pharmacy's profit'. Moreover, any poor incentive structures may have

³⁷ Their argument was that provider standards are a better alternative than the regulatory approach of the MBA, which was to regulate aspects of DTC telehealth companies' business models through clinician-level rules (Eucalyptus 2023, p. 40).

implications for government, such as where the medications in question are subsidised by the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme.

Greater guidance on managing any potential conflicts of interest could help preserve confidence, ensure transparency, and continue to foster choice for patients in deciding which pharmaceutical provider to use.

Another example is the case of advertising rules. Advertising prescription-only medications to the general public is not permitted in Australia (TGA 2024, p. 5). However, the capacity of DTC telehealth providers to specialise means that they can offer a targeted range of services. Often, this is accompanied by advertising with specific solutions, sometimes based around medicines, but without naming any particular prescription medicine.

Governments should consider whether policy settings around bundled clinician and pharmacist services and advertising remain fit for purpose given the rise of the DTC sector.

Governments should take measures to minimise the costs of the 12-month rule

Governments also need to address the costs of the 12-month rule, which restricts Medicare subsidies for telehealth consultations between patients and GPs that have had an in-person appointment in the past year (box 3.5).

This rule is intended to promote continuity of care. Continuity can have a positive impact on health outcomes; for example, one systematic review found that patients who have more continuity in their care have lower rates of mortality on average, holding other relevant factors constant (Pereira Gray et al. 2018).

Box 3.5 – Restrictions on Medicare subsidies for telehealth

The 12-month rule determines what kind of telehealth is subsidised by government. Under the rule, a patient can generally only have a Medicare-reimbursed telehealth appointment with a GP if they have an 'established relationship' with them; this means that the GP must have provided 'at least one face-to-face service to the patient in the 12 months preceding the telehealth attendance', or be at a medical practice at which the patient had a face-to-face appointment in the past 12 months (DHAC 2023, p. 3).

There are a number of exceptions to the 12-month rule. It does not apply to urgent after-hours consultations, mental health appointments or pregnancy counselling, recognising that telehealth can be valuable in situations where a patient has a sensitive issue, or needs timely medical service. Some types of patients, such as those attending an ACCHO clinic and people in disaster-affected areas, are also are exempt from the rule (DHAC 2024a, p. 4).

Currently, the 12-month rule is for GP services only. However, recently, the Medicare Review Advisory Committee (MRAC) recommended that the rule, or a similar requirement, be extended to specialist, nurse practitioner and midwifery services. Specifically, MRAC (2023, pp. 31–32) proposed that:

- an equivalent rule be applied for nurse practitioners and midwives, such that appointments are only reimbursed if the patient has seen them in person in the past 12 months, and
- a variant of the rule be applied for specialist consultations, such that only subsequent telehealth appointments get a subsidy (that is, the patient needs to have seen the specialist in person for their first consultation, though not necessarily in the past 12 months).

However, there are costs to the 12-month rule.

The rule is a barrier to access in some cases. For example, a patient might want timely medical advice, but not be able to get an appointment with their normal GP. In some circumstances, the 12-month rule prevents patients in these circumstances from accessing Medicare-funded telehealth. The growth of the DTC telehealth sector has helped mitigate this problem to some extent, as some providers offer relatively low-cost alternatives (section 3.1). However, many patients cannot afford out-of-pocket expenses,³⁸ and for these patients, bulk billed services are key to access. It is not clear exactly how many patients forego medical consultations as a result of the 12-month rule. However, in one recent survey, 14% of those surveyed said that the rule had, at some point, prevented them from using telehealth (Healthengine and Australian Patients Association 2023, p. 28). This suggests that the number missing out could be significant (though of course, it is unclear whether these respondents missed out on care altogether, or later saw a doctor in person in lieu of a telehealth appointment.)

The 12-month rule can also dampen competition. There may be situations in which a patient wants to consult with a doctor other than their normal one, about an issue that does not require a physical examination. However, the 12-month rule creates an effective financial penalty for switching providers in such cases. Again, some patients may be willing to pay out of pocket to see a non-subsidised provider; but for others, minimal out-of-pocket costs are key to access.

However, relaxing the rule would also carry risks. Doing so would potentially mean that most DTC telehealth services are within the scope of Medicare subsidies. These services can scale up quickly, because they are not bound by geographical constraints, and have relatively low marginal costs; subsidising them could lead to a large increase in the total volume of services funded by government. Moreover, though much DTC telehealth is healthcare as traditionally understood, much is not. For example, many providers offer specialised services for issues that are mainly cosmetic such as hair loss and skin care (Foo et al. 2023, p. 345). These are services which governments may not deem to be of a sufficiently high health value to warrant their support.

Over the long term, governments should take measures to minimise the impacts of the 12-month rule on access and competition. But they should only do so if they can find ways to salvage its main benefits – these being that it promotes continuity of care and targets subsidisation to higher-value care (and as a corollary manages fiscal costs).

- The continuity benefits of the 12-month rule will not be as significant if and when a comprehensive system of electronic health records is developed. In a world where clinicians have ready access to a range of relevant health information on their patients, it will be easier to maintain continuity when patients switch providers. And there are a number of actions that governments can take to make improvements to Australia's health information sharing landscape (chapter 2).
- The fiscal costs of relaxing the rule could be mitigated by limiting subsidies to the subset of patients who rely
 most heavily on low-cost care for access. For example, the rule could be relaxed, but only for patients eligible
 for certain other government concessions. This would improve access and open up competition for these
 patients. At the same time, it would ensure that the subsidy is not extended to patients who are able and willing
 to pay out of pocket for the convenience of a telehealth consultation with a doctor other than their normal one.
- Subsidies could be targeted to higher-value services by creating restrictions that specify which types of care, or portfolios of services, are of a high value and eligible for subsidies.

The process of relaxing the rule while preserving the benefits will take time. Expanding the role of the Healthdirect GP help line while this work is underway could improve access for those that need it most. Governments could directly control the fiscal cost, given that Healthdirect is a government owned company

³⁸ In the 2022-23 Patient Experiences Survey, 7% of those surveyed said that cost had been a reason for delaying or not using a GP service at some point in the past year (ABS 2023e).

(section 3.1). They would also have more control over they type of care provided, and thus could target higher-value services. However, this option would not have the same positive competition effects as relaxing the 12-month rule – when seeking out a government-subsidised telehealth appointment, a patient's only extra option would be Healthdirect.

Government should monitor risks around the sustainability of regional and remote services

People in regional and remote areas are among the groups with the most to gain from telehealth. And though people in these areas use telehealth at a lower rate than people in major cities, the gap appears to be narrowing. According to the Patient Experiences Survey, people outside of major cities are now only marginally less likely to use telehealth; in 2022-23, of people surveyed in outer regional, remote or very remote areas, 23.4% had had a telehealth consultation with a clinician in the past 12 months (ABS 2023e). This share was about 5 percentage points lower than for people surveyed in major cities (ABS 2023e); in 2021-22, the equivalent gap was around 10 percentage points (ABS 2022b).

Nonetheless, many regional and remote Australians face challenges in accessing telehealth, especially by video. The Commission heard about these challenges in discussions with participants involved in regional and remote health. The main barriers they emphasised were poor digital connectivity and challenges with digital literacy. The Commission has addressed the former in previous work: for example, the most recent productivity inquiry highlighted the fact that almost half of Australia's regions had broadband or mobile connectivity gaps in 2022 (PC 2023, p. 36).³⁹

Another issue relevant to patients in regional and remote areas is the risk that expanding telehealth use affects the viability of regional practices. The Commission heard concerns from several participants about the impact of telehealth on regional medical practices. Though most participants involved in regional and remote health reported that telehealth has been positive overall, several also said that expanding its use carries risks. They argued that, when substituting telehealth for in person care, patients may not always opt for telehealth providers in their local area. Thus, greater access to telehealth could lead to a loss of business for regional and remote providers, and threaten their overall viability; this could lead to a situation in which patients outside major cities have fewer options for in-person care, despite having more options for telehealth.

Overall, there is little concrete evidence on this. However, because of the 12-month rule, patients are still somewhat constrained geographically, as Medicare-funded appointments are generally only available with clinicians they have visited in person. This geographical constraint would not be in place were the 12-month rule relaxed. The impacts on regional practices are therefore an important factor for governments to consider in relation to the rule, and policy settings more broadly.

A separate concern is that expanded access to telehealth will lead governments to reduce the extent to which they invest in the regional and remote health workforce. Governments provide incentives for healthcare workers to practice outside of major cities. For example, the Australian Government's Workforce Incentive Program Doctor Stream aims to incentivise doctors to practice in regional and remote areas, by providing them with payments over and above what they would otherwise earn (DHAC 2024d). Many states have incentive programs for health workers as well. Some participants expressed concerns that these initiatives might become less of a priority as telehealth gains traction. If support for remote workers falls, some communities will be worse off, even with the benefits of telehealth. But so far, there is no evidence that governments' appetite for supporting regional and remote health has been affected by telehealth's expanded role.

³⁹ This was based on information in Infrastructure Australia reports.

4. Remote care

Key points

🛞 Remote care technologies could help lessen Australia's growing chronic disease burden.

- Remote patient monitoring (RPM) can ease pressures on our hospital system by preventing escalations in
 patients' conditions and reducing the need for acute care.
- Digital therapeutics (DTx) enable patients to receive clinically tested medical interventions in the comfort of their own homes, enhancing access to care while delivering equivalent, or sometimes superior, treatment benefit.

🔀 Despite their promise, both RPM and DTx are yet to be widely integrated into patterns of care.

- Poor quality signals are diminishing the role remote care technologies can play in helping to abate healthcare costs and improve patient outcomes.
- Gaps in funding mean that practitioners and patients alike may instead opt for subsidised in-person care or forego care, even if it is more costly for the system as a whole in the long run.
- Sovernments could help users differentiate RPM and DTx from the broader array of healthcare apps that are not grounded in clinical evidence.
 - A central library of approved DTx would help users to quickly identify proven therapeutics tailored to their needs.
- Targeted funding arrangements could bolster the adoption of high-value remote care and maximise the impact of government funding.
 - Funding approaches need to strike a fine balance. They need to overcome barriers for practitioners to recommend their use and encourage patients to stay the course; but also be finely crafted so that they only encourage use where they are well suited to patients' needs and are being applied in the right contexts.
 - A portfolio of funding approaches would best achieve this balance.
- Both the Australian and state and territory governments have good reasons to invest in remote care. Coordination of efforts would help avoid gaps in coverage and duplication of effort as these new care models gain greater traction.

Remote care technologies can improve the productivity of our healthcare system and lessen the burden of chronic conditions. These technologies, which enable patients to be monitored remotely and to undergo treatment from the comfort of their own homes, offer substantial benefits. Despite their promise, remote care technologies are yet to be widely integrated into patterns of care (section 4.1). We need to address barriers that impede the uptake of these technologies (sections 4.2 and 4.3) if we are to harness the benefits on offer.

4.1 Remote care can improve the management of chronic disease, but uptake appears to be slow

Remote care technologies hold significant potential for improving the productivity of Australia's healthcare system, particularly in managing chronic disease.

Chronic health conditions are a growing issue in Australia. These conditions are diverse: including diabetes, cardiovascular disease, cancer, arthritis, osteoporosis, back problems, chronic kidney disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and mental health and behavioural issues. Many Australians live with chronic conditions. Of those surveyed in the ABS's 2022 National Health Survey, nearly half (49.9%) reported having at least one chronic condition (ABS 2023d).

Chronic health conditions are also costly. People with chronic conditions experience physical pain or reduced wellbeing, which in turn can also affect their capacity to participate in the workforce (ABS 2023a). And expenditure on the treatment of chronic disease is relatively high. Governments and individuals spent a total of \$55 billion on chronic conditions in 2020-21, representing around 37% of treatment expenditure (AIHW 2023f, 2023e).

Remote care technologies can ease the burden of chronic conditions. Remote patient monitoring (RPM) technologies, which track patients' health data outside of traditional healthcare settings, act as a preventative measure to reduce the incidence of costly hospital admissions.⁴⁰ Digital therapeutics (DTx), which deliver a clinically tested medical intervention to a patient using software (box 4.1), can reduce the time and travel costs that patients incur when accessing care.

Box 4.1 – What are digital therapeutics?

There is no universal definition for a digital therapeutic. A recent definition provided by the International Organization for Standardization and adopted by the Digital Therapeutics Alliance (DTA) states that DTx are:

... health software intended to treat or alleviate a disease, disorder, condition, or injury by generating and delivering a medical intervention that has a demonstrable positive therapeutic impact on a patient's health. (DTA 2023, p. 1).

⁴⁰ These data include blood pressure, heart rate, glucose levels, or other biometric indicators relevant to the patient's condition. Data is typically collected through wearable devices, sensors, or mobile apps. Collected data can be transmitted in real-time, or instead can be manually entered by the patient into a portal for the practitioner to access later.

Box 4.1 – What are digital therapeutics?

For the purposes of this research paper, a digital therapeutic is a patient-facing medical device that meets all three of the following criteria:

- 1. **Medium:** A digital therapeutic is available to patients through a **software-based** medium, such as an application or website. Some DTx may have associated hardware, but interacting with the software is the primary means of deriving a health benefit from use (Mantovani et al. 2023).
- 2. **Evidence:** A digital therapeutic is a **clinically tested** medical intervention. The health benefit of the therapeutic must have been validated with clinical evidence such as through real-world, or randomised control trials (RCTs).
- 3. **Purpose:** A digital therapeutic prevents, manages, or treats **a specific medical condition**. It does not simply diagnose a condition or promote general wellness.

These three criteria delineate what is and is not a digital therapeutic. DTx are most commonly used for treating mental health conditions, but can also be used to treat chronic and neurological conditions. They are usually used outside of clinical settings.

What is a digital therapeutic	What isn't a digital therapeutic		
 A free website designed to treat insomnia with a patient-led cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) course A paid app with videogames designed to improve a stroke patient's motor function that has been clinically evaluated in multiple RCTs A remote patient monitoring app that provides AI-generated advice to the patient without the practitioner's input An AI chatbot that provides the user with targeted mental health exercises and advice for anxiety 	 A calorie tracker A sunlight tracker A meditation app A remote patient monitoring app that feeds data to the practitioner, who then provides medical directions to the patient A hearing aid with an app for adjusting the settings A pacemaker 		

RPM can prevent conditions from escalating and reduce acute care use

Chronic conditions escalate from time to time. The value of RPM is that it allows clinicians to detect escalations and complications earlier, and intervene to prevent adverse outcomes.

Most available RPM technologies target cardiovascular disease, diabetes and COPD – a subset of conditions that represents a significant share of Australia's chronic disease burden. In 2020-21, 5% of those surveyed reported having diabetes, 4% a cardiovascular condition and 2% COPD (ABS 2022a). Governments and individuals spent over \$14 billion on cardiovascular disease alone over the same period – more than any individual chronic condition other than cancer (AIHW 2023f).

Some RPM technologies can also improve outcomes for other conditions. AphasiaFit, for example, is an app that allows people with aphasia and their carers to monitor their communication therapy progress with speech recordings and patient-centric updates (Queensland Aphasia Research Centre, pers. comm., 19 April 2024).

RPM has the potential to improve outcomes for patients and reduce the use of resource-intensive services. While the Commission heard from participants that the evidence base for RPM is still maturing, available research reinforces that it can be a highly valuable form of care in the right circumstances. A systematic review found that RPM can reduce patients' likelihood of being hospitalised, as well as the length of stay when they are. These benefits were pronounced for patients with cardiovascular conditions – with large RCTs finding two and three day reductions in the average length of hospital stays for non-invasive and invasive cardiovascular RPM, respectively (Taylor et al. 2021). Similarly, a review by De Guzman et al. (2022) found that many RPM programs deliver better health outcomes per dollar spent than typical alternatives, measured on a quality-adjusted life year (QALY) per dollar basis. While less invasive RPM technologies tend to be less costly, this can be at the expense of accuracy (Bhatia and Maddox 2020).

Overall, the evidence suggests that RPM can be an effective tool when well-targeted. RPM is likely to provide the most benefit where patients' conditions are unstable and risky, and where practitioners respond quickly to the needs of these patients (Thomas et al. 2021; Veenis et al. 2021).

DTx can enhance access without compromising quality of care

DTx can improve access to treatments for a range of chronic conditions (figure 4.1), and allow patients to access treatment via their smartphones, tablets or laptops.

Figure 4.1 – DTx mostly fall into three categories^a



a. CBT is cognitive behavioural therapy, a form of treatment for mental health conditions. It assumes that negative thought patterns, when identified, can be eliminated or reduced using coping strategies.

Source: Commission analysis drawing upon Kang et al. (2023); Kirk et al. (2016); Kumbara et al. (2023); Ludin et al. (2022).

DTx can be more, or equally as effective as traditional treatments. In mental health, DTx have successfully treated conditions such as anxiety, depression, insomnia, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and

substance use disorders (section 4.3). DTx that incite lifestyle changes in patients with chronic conditions have also generated significant improvements in relevant biomarkers for hypertensive patients (Berman et al. 2018; Guthrie et al. 2019) and Type 2 diabetes patients (Davison et al. 2024; Krishnakumar et al. 2021). And a review of post-stroke rehabilitation apps (designed to treat the loss of motor function after a stroke) found that gaming apps could provide greater improvements in upper extremity function than usual forms of care or no training (Rintala et al. 2022).

By allowing patients to complete a round of treatment independently from the comfort of their own homes, DTx can not only reduce costs, but improve access to treatment.

DTx offer considerable labour-saving potential. As treatments are provided as part of a blended care model or self-administered, labour costs can be reduced and scarce practitioner time freed up. For example, in mental health, blended therapy models can save clinician time, compared with face-to-face therapy (Aardoom et al. 2016; Erbe et al. 2017), allowing them to dedicate more time to more severe cases.

DTx can also produce cost savings for patients. Accessing treatment digitally removes the travel and time costs incurred for patients who would have previously visited a clinic. And for some mental health conditions, DTx can reduce spending on medication. For example, Sampson et al. (2022) found the introduction of an NHS-recommended therapeutic for insomnia in the United Kingdom reduced primary costs by 70 GBP per user, largely through reduced spending on prescription drugs.

Reduced travel and time costs can also improve access to care for patients who would otherwise have to attend outpatient clinics. This can improve the continuity of care for some patients: one study of a digital therapeutic for Parkinson's disease found statistically and clinically meaningful improvements for the less physically active patient subgroup (Ellis et al. 2019).

The increase in convenience offered by DTx encourages patients to seek treatment where they previously would not have. For example, Cardihab's Digital Cardiac Rehabilitation programme greatly increased participation in cardiac rehabilitation in one study, as those who declined traditional models of care were more willing to use a digital treatment program (Cardihab 2020) (box 4.2). This in turn avoids higher costs associated with future care, in effect providing a productivity benefit for the healthcare system.

While the benefits of DTx are promising, as with other treatments, they are conditional on patients staying the course. Attrition rates found in trials may not reflect real-world behaviour, particularly when trial participants are given reminders or offered financial incentives (Nwosu et al. 2022; Torous et al. 2019). Real-world evidence suggests that high attrition rates can limit the potential public health benefit of DTx. One study of the use of DTx in treating depression, revealed that on average only 3.5 of the 6 modules were completed and that patients who completed less than four modules had no significant overall benefits (Christensen et al. 2016).

Box 4.2 – Case study: digital cardiac rehabilitation

Cardihab is a digital-based cardiac rehabilitation service for patients recovering from a cardiac event or procedure, developed by CSIRO researchers at the Australian eHealth Research Centre, in partnership with Queensland Health.

The app guides patients though their personalised rehabilitation and includes components such as education, medication adherence, behaviour modification and psychological counselling. Clinicians can access patient data, review results and communicate with patients through a web portal.

Impacts

- The digital service is easily accessible and convenient for patients. Patients can access rehabilitation at home with the app, rather than attending in person at a clinic. This model of care reduces the barriers patients face in attending rehabilitation such as travel costs, time restrictions and scheduling issues, cultural factors and wait lists.
- The service enhances uptake, adherence and completion of rehabilitation, which could reduce hospital readmission after major cardiac events. A randomised control trial conducted by CSIRO and the Metro North Brisbane Health and Hospital Service demonstrated that the Digital Cardiac Rehabilitation model of care was as clinically effective as traditional care, and significantly improved patient uptake, adherence and completion of cardiac rehabilitation (Varnfield et al. 2014). Similarly, a clinical study by Queensland Cardiovascular Group found that providing patients with an option for digital rehabilitation increased participation from 21% to 63% (Rivers et al. 2022).^a
- The model of care may also reduce the time health workers spend on gathering patient data (for example, blood pressure trends, medication adherence, or information on what exercises have been done), as this data is available in the app.

a. This study aimed to assess the real-world efficacy of the platform and did not include a control group. The study also found that for some, technological issues are a barrier to use.

Source: Cardihab, pers. comm., 17 April 2024.

Remote care uptake is slow but growing

RPM is used in pockets across our healthcare system

Healthcare providers are experimenting with RPM technologies and incorporating them into patterns of care.

GPs are integrating RPM into their care models. As of 2015, practitioners have been able to claim reimbursement for time spent monitoring patient data from implantable cardiac devices (specifically, pacemakers and defibrillators). Since then, there has been about \$11 million of MBS expenditure on pacemaker remote monitoring, and \$12.6 million on defibrillator remote monitoring (Services Australia 2024). The use of these services has grown steadily year on year (figure 4.2). And other GPs have expressed interest in adopting RPM. A recent survey found that while 19% of GPs surveyed had already introduced some form of RPM, a further 26% planned to introduce RPM in the next two years (CBA 2023).

Figure 4.2 – Medicare-funded remote monitoring of implantable cardiac devices has grown steadily



Total MBS spending on implantable pacemaker and defibrillator RPM, 2015-2023

Source: Commission analysis of data from Services Australia Medicare Item Reports (Services Australia 2024).

Hospitals too are experimenting with RPM. The Royal Prince Alfred (RPA) 'virtual hospital' in New South Wales, offers a range of remote monitoring services. Among these includes their multidisciplinary virtual care centre, which operates 24 hours a day, 7 days a week at the RPA Hospital campus (chapter 3).

Some Primary Health Networks (PHNs) have also invested in remote monitoring. The Gippsland PHN, for example, recently began funding RPM for patients with chronic conditions, delivered through local GP clinics. Its aim is to reduce unplanned hospital admissions and improve the quality of life of patients enrolled in the program (Gippsland PHN 2023).

State-wide programs are also gaining traction. South Australia, for example, has been delivering a remote monitoring program for patients with chronic conditions called Virtual Clinical Care (VCC) since 2018. And New South Wales commenced a pilot of a remote monitoring program in mid-2023 which aims to improve care for people with COPD, diabetes and heart disease in NSW Local Health Districts and Speciality Health Networks (eHealth NSW 2023c).

Some programs are still new, and evidence is still emerging as to their benefits. Others, however, are more mature and show evidence of significant benefits. VCC, for example, has improved care for patients with chronic conditions, including averting a significant number of hospitalisations (box 4.3).

Box 4.3 – Case study: South Australia's Virtual Clinic Care program

Virtual Clinical Care (VCC) is an RPM program funded by SA Health. It provides care for patients with chronic diseases and has been in place since 2018. The program aims to reduce preventable hospital admissions through monitoring and early intervention.

Under the program, patients are provided with monitoring equipment (such as a blood pressure monitor, or pulse oximeter) and a digital portal. Patients respond to a health interview through the preconfigured tablet in the kit, and the results are sent securely to a central database to be monitored by a registered nurse. A dashboard flags patients with results outside their individually determined monitoring parameters, and the nurses then triage patients whose condition is worsening.

Impacts

- According to an internal evaluation, between 2018 and 2022, the program led to the avoidance of over 1,000 potential emergency department presentations, and over 1,300 potential hospital admissions.
- Where hospital admission is still required, early intervention may reduce the length of hospital stays. Between May 2018 and June 2021, a total of 72 occupied bed days were saved by the program.
- The VCC program has also improved patients' self-management of their conditions. As part of the
 program, VCC nurses provide regular health coaching based on a patient's condition and individual
 circumstances. As a result, patients on the program have shown lasting improvements in ED
 presentations, medication compliance and body weight, with some choosing to purchase their own
 monitoring equipment after the program.

Source: SA Health, pers. comm., 23 April 2024.

DTx have yet to be widely integrated into patterns of care

Available evidence suggests that DTx are not commonly used by patients or practitioners, though there may be appetite to do so.

The number of therapeutics approved for use provides some insights into whether DTx are gaining traction in Australia.⁴¹ The Commission estimates that as at April 2024, a total of 31 devices that could be classified as DTx were listed on the Australian Register of Therapeutic Goods (ARTG). The Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) regulates DTx under the Software as a Medical Device (SaMD) framework. When a product qualifies as a medical device under the framework, it must be registered before it can be added to the ARTG and legally supplied in Australia (TGA 2021b) (chapter 5). As in other countries, the rate of DTx approval has fluctuated over time in Australia. During the COVID-19 pandemic, governments saw a spike in the approval of mental health DTx in response to the added mental health burden and the physical isolation imposed by lockdowns (Kadakia et al. 2020).

While approvals suggest DTx are yet to gain traction, survey evidence points to a growing appetite among practitioners. A 2018 survey conducted by the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP)

⁴¹ Although qualitative studies of mental health DTx use by patients (see Gan et al. 2023) or practitioners (see Byambasuren et al. 2020) highlight what inspires or limits uptake of DTx among these stakeholders, there are few macro-level data that shed light on overall usage patterns of DTx in Australian healthcare.

found that the proportion of Australian GPs who rarely or never recommended apps to patients (not limited to DTx) fell from 47% to 26% between 2017 and 2018 (RACGP 2019a).

We are yet to fully realise the benefits that remote care technologies offer. Participants have identified several barriers that dampen incentives to use these technologies. The remainder of this chapter considers how these barriers might be overcome.

4.2 Governments can improve quality signalling to facilitate uptake

Quality signals for DTx are weak despite regulatory systems

Incomplete information on the quality of DTx is diminishing the role clinically proven technologies can play in helping to abate healthcare costs and improve patient outcomes.

Practitioners are interested in two types of information in deciding whether to recommend their use. First, they need information that helps them determine whether a treatment is clinically effective. Second, they need information that helps them determine whether the treatment is suitable for their patient – for example, to distinguish between an app that treats eating disorders effectively and an app that treats eating disorders in *young people* effectively.

Patients are also interested in two types of information in deciding whether to use DTx. They too need information that tells them whether a treatment is clinically effective (Svendsen et al. 2020). They also want reassurance that their sensitive health data is being stored and managed appropriately (Byambasuren et al. 2020).

But finding this information has high search costs.

Along with RPM, DTx falls within a much broader spectrum of health apps and websites. More than 300,000 consumer health apps are now available on app stores, with around 200 new apps being added daily (Jakob et al. 2022).

This proliferation of technology makes it challenging for practitioners and consumers alike to identify 'quality' applications, particularly those grounded in clinical evidence. A longitudinal study of mental health apps in major Australian app stores illustrates the magnitude of the challenge in respect of DTx. The study found that of the 982 apps observed, only nine claimed clinical effectiveness, with three of these citing a published study (Larsen et al. 2016). A similar study found that of the 293 apps for anxiety and/or depression sampled, 88 claimed to use CBT but only five had published evidence demonstrating efficacy (Marshall et al. 2020). Data protection can be similarly opaque – one study of diabetes apps found that 81% of the 211 apps sampled did not have privacy policies (Blenner et al. 2016).

Registers of clinically effective products approved under our regulatory systems are not readily accessible. The ARTG is not user-friendly and lacks a categorisation system to easily navigate approved DTx and RPM devices. In contrast, rating systems employed by major app stores are highly accessible, but provide little insight into clinical effectiveness and instead focus on user experience.

In the case of DTx, difficulties singling out apps that are clinically effective and tailored to the particular needs of their patients is impacting practitioners' willingness to recommend their use. While more practitioners are recommending apps to their patients than in the past, GP knowledge around effective apps and the lack of a trustworthy source to find effective apps are cited as key problems inhibiting uptake (RACGP 2019a). Similar challenges have emerged internationally, including in France (Della Vecchia et al. 2022; Sarradon-Eck et al. 2021) and the UK (Leigh et al. 2020).

Efficacy concerns, along with worries about whether their sensitive health data is being stored and managed appropriately, is similarly impacting patient uptake. Patients, particularly older patients, are unlikely to trust DTx as medically-evidenced interventions without the input of their practitioner (Byambasuren et al. 2020; Schroeder et al. 2023). And international studies show data concerns are impacting both DTx and RPM use (van Kessel et al. 2023), with one international study finding that patients were significantly more likely to download apps if given assurances that their data was protected by legislation (Folkvord et al. 2023).

There are existing policy foundations for improving quality signalling

Practitioner groups (such as the national boards contained within the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA)) play a critical role in providing guidance to clinicians about quality treatment options and signalling best practice. Clinician decisions about whether to recommend remote care technologies to their patients will be guided by best practice and information disseminated by peak bodies around their efficacy. The growth in remote monitoring of cardiovascular implantable electronic devices highlights the role peak bodies can play in increasing uptake. The use of implantable loop monitors more than doubled following their endorsement by the Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society (Wilsmore and Leitch 2017).

Government too can also play a role by reducing search costs and compiling information that can inform an assessment of quality. Curated app libraries, such as the one provided by the NHS in the UK, can be valuable tools with which clinicians and patients can assess the efficacy, applicability and data safeguards of particular health apps.

There are two existing sources that collate information about DTx in Australia:42

- Head to Health is an online directory of digital mental health services funded by the Australian Government. The Commission's Mental Health inquiry (2020) recommended that Head to Health be developed to help inform a national digital mental health platform. The website received development funding in the 2021-22 Budget and was launched in June 2023 directing users to mental health services tailored to their needs (including DTx). However, it (understandably) does not list DTx related to other chronic conditions.
- Beacon is an online directory of digital health apps and websites managed by the Australian National University. A panel of health experts categorise, review and rate these apps and websites based on their effectiveness in treating a certain condition – including cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and a number of mental health conditions. However, it has not been updated since June 2018.

The Australian Digital Health Agency (ADHA) has proposed a possible model that could act as a central DTx register. Under the proposed Assessment Framework for mHealth Apps (2022a), a four-stage process assesses an app's acceptability, safety, trustworthiness, ease of use, privacy and security, and technical quality. Upon completing the assessment, the app is published in an mHealth apps library (figure 4.3). While in the library, the app's inclusion is reassessed on an ongoing basis.

⁴² At the state level, VicHealth's Healthy Living Apps Guide and Primary Health Tasmania's Digital Health Guide each fulfilled a similar role, though both now appear to be defunct.

Figure 4.3 – The proposed mHealth Apps library could improve information flows

Proposed description form for an app in the mHealth Apps Library



Source: ADHA (2022).

The proposed library could be a highly valuable tool for addressing information gaps and encouraging behaviour change. Its potential could be increased by providing incentives for developers to have their products assessed.

One way to do so would be allowing apps that have met the assessment requirement (be it TGA approval or a new form of rating attached to the DTx library) to advertise that they have met this requirement.

This is a significant departure from current practice. Under the Therapeutic Goods Advertising Code, advertisers cannot say a good is 'TGA approved' or 'registered' (TGA 2021c). They can instead include the product's ARTG number, but the meaning of this is less clear to consumers.

Finding a plain English means of communicating TGA approval would mean that a patient looking for DTx to lessen lower back pain, for example, could be able to distinguish between apps that have proven clinical outcomes and those that do not.

The framework could also broaden its focus from 'mHealth apps' to DTx more broadly, to ensure the library is comprehensive. Doing so, would capture web-based interventions proven to be clinically effective. Quality signalling is valuable irrespective of whether therapeutics are delivered through smart phones or web-based interventions.

4.3 Targeted funding arrangements could ensure high-value remote care

Given that remote care options can act as substitutes for in-person care, proponents have argued that they too should receive government support.

Both Australian and state and territory governments are already providing support for some specific initiatives, such as DTx that treat mental health (box 4.6) along with select RPM initiatives (section 4.2).

But remote care doesn't fit neatly within broader funding models. While there are instances of case-by-case funding, there are no dedicated reimbursement pathways for DTx, and pathways for RPM devices and

monitoring are limited to select cases (box 4.4). And in some cases, the rationale between what can and cannot be reimbursed is not always apparent. As a number of participants highlighted, Type 1 Diabetes patients for example, can access subsidised continuous glucose monitoring and flash glucose monitoring products through the National Diabetes Services Scheme (NDSS). However, those with Type 2 Diabetes cannot access subsidies even where continuous glucose monitoring may improve outcomes and prevent diabetes complications.

Box 4.4 – How is remote care currently reimbursed?

There are select options for reimbursing remote care where:

- the remote care application or device is a companion to another device, prosthetic, therapeutic, or service. Depending on what it is a companion to, the application or device cost can be claimed under the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme, Medicare Benefits Schedule, NDSS, or National Disability Insurance Scheme
- a private health insurer believes a remote care application or device reduces the cost of care, creates an efficiency gain for the insurer, or raises future engagement with the company, the technology's cost may be partially or fully covered by the insurer. It remains unclear as to how many privately insured patients in Australia use this pathway
- patients have implantable cardiac devices (specifically, pacemakers and defibrillators), practitioners can claim reimbursement under MBS for time spent monitoring data. Reimbursements have totalled \$11 million for pacemaker remote monitoring, and \$12.6 million for defibrillator remote monitoring since funding became available in 2015 (figure 4.2).

Source: DTA (2022).

Gaps in reimbursement for remote care can affect uptake. While some remote care options are available at relatively low cost to patients, others can have high subscription or upfront costs and be prohibitively expensive. The first company to have a digital therapeutic approved by the FDA, sold a three-month course of its insomnia app for 900 USD (*The Economist* 2022). And in Germany, DTx supported by their national scheme (box 4.5) can range from 120 EUR for a one-time licence to 720 EUR for a 90-day prescription (Gensorowsky et al., 2022). The price of RPM devices, meanwhile, vary depending on device type (Peretz et al. 2018). A patient may pay \$70 once for a pulse oximeter, but could pay up to \$5000 annually for continuous glucose monitoring sensors and transmitters (Diabetes Australia 2022).

Where costs are prohibitive, patients may instead opt for subsidised in-person care even if it is less convenient and more costly for the system as a whole in the long run. This in turn, can add to system-wide pressures (chapter 1).

Reimbursement incentives can also affect practitioners' willingness to recommend remote care to their patients. In the case of DTx, remote care can act as either a complement to or substitute for in-person care. Where DTx acts as a substitute, there is little incentive for a practitioner to prescribe their use if they receive no compensation for doing so.

A lack of reimbursement can similarly affect practitioners' willingness to recommend RPM. Some RPM systems send automatic alerts when a patient's condition suddenly worsens. Additional labour is needed to

review and respond to these alerts, in part for liability reasons. A response might involve booking an appointment or suggesting a patient present at an ED – actions compensable under existing funding arrangements. But in cases where no response is needed, the clinician or nurse reviewing the data and alerts does not have their labour compensated.

Similar incentive challenges arise for RPM through hospitals. For example, post surgery rehabilitation monitoring requires investment of resources by the hospital that may not be reimbursed through traditional activity-based funding mechanisms.

International policy experiments highlight the challenges of designing remote care funding

Some participants called for Australia to follow the lead of other countries, such as Germany and the United States, and provide dedicated funding pathways for remote care. In Germany, approved digital health applications (known as DiGA) can now be prescribed by doctors and reimbursed by the national health system. And in the United States, Medicare has become a major source of funding for RPM with codes, analogous to MBS items, covering clinician time for educating patients on how to use remote monitoring devices, developing a care plan, and reviewing the information that gets transmitted (box 4.5).

Box 4.5 - A tale of two systems

Germany's model for DTx reimbursement: DiGA

DiGA are approved digital health applications (apps) that can be prescribed by doctors and reimbursed by the national health system. Since the policy's introduction in 2020, 55 DiGA can now be prescribed for a range of conditions related to the respiratory system, reproductive organs, heart and circulatory system, mental health and cancer.

As in Australia, DiGA have to undergo a regulatory approval process. Manufacturers must prove that apps meet the requirements for safety, functionality, quality, interoperability, data protection and data security. Manufacturers must also provide evidence that their app improves patient care. For an app to improve patient care, apps must either provide a proven medical benefit for patients, or procedural and structural improvements for healthcare (such as by improving the flow of patient information or better coordinating care processes). However, if the manufacturer meets all other requirements, their app may be included in the DiGA register for a preliminary period of 12 months through a 'fast track' process.

For the first year of listing, the price of an app is freely set by a manufacturer, but still reimbursable under Statutory Health Insurance. In 2022, freely-set manufacturer prices ranged from €120–745 per initial prescription cycle (which for all but one DiGA was a three-month therapy period). This is despite the rule that the price cannot be set higher than 25% over the average price of all DiGA in the directory. After this period, manufacturers negotiate the price of the app with the Central Federal Association of the Health Insurance Funds in a process similar to negotiations for new pharmaceuticals. The typical post-negotiation price of a DiGA is between €200–230.

US Medicare funding for RPM

In the US, Medicare is a major source of funding for RPM. Unlike Australia, however, US Medicare generally only covers patients aged 65 or over, and some patients with disabilities.

Box 4.5 – A tale of two systems

Under US Medicare, services are reimbursed through 'codes', which are analogous to MBS items. Multiple Medicare codes for RPM were introduced in 2019, including codes for:

- the cost of an initial appointment to educate the patient on how to set up and use the particular monitoring device
- · the time the clinician spends reviewing the information that has been transmitted, and
- the time the clinician spends developing a care plan for the patient.

Since these codes were introduced, RPM usage has grown significantly (Tang et al. 2022, pp. 1250–1251).

The US Medicare funding changes were a key driver of this increase in uptake – though other factors also likely contributed. A number of commercial insurers also started reimbursing remote monitoring around the same time that the Medicare codes were introduced. And it is possible that the COVID-19 pandemic had an impact, as some clinicians may have started subscribing patients to RPM as a substitute for regular in-person visits.

Source: Gensorowsky et al. (2022); Gerke, Stern and Minssen (2020); Tang, Mehrotra and Stern (2022).

In both Germany and the US, dedicated funding pathways have been successful in improving uptake of remote care. In Germany, DTx prescriptions grew from around 3000 in 2021 to more than 50,000 in 2022 (Stiftung Gesundheit as cited in Dahlhausen et al. 2022; Klöckner as cited in Frey and Kerkemeyer 2022).⁴³ In the United States, meanwhile, RPM usage has grown significantly. A recent analysis of usage rates for patients insured by Medicare and several commercial providers found that in February 2020, there were about 4,400 general remote monitoring claims across 3,700 unique patients. In March 2021, this grew to about 19,700 claims across about 15,700 unique patients (Tang et al. 2022, pp. 1250–1251).⁴⁴

While evidence is still emerging about the impacts of DTX in Germany, in the US, evaluations have found that changes to Medicare-funded RPM lowered hospitalisations and adverse outcomes for hypertensive patients, while increasing outpatient clinic visits (Acharya et al. 2023; Tang et al. 2023).

But models adopted internationally to support DTx and RPM have not been without their problems. Uptake is not the only relevant metric of success. Rather, the value of remote care depends on a range of factors, including targeting people who are at high risk of their health deteriorating and who are likely to adhere to the user guidelines. Emerging evidence suggests both have been issues. Given that many DTx are self-guided, adherence can be a challenge. Of the 50,100 DiGA prescribed by 2022, only 78% of these were used at least once by the patient (Stiftung Gesundheit as cited in Dahlhausen et al. 2022). And since RPM began being subsidised by US Medicare in 2019, usage rates have not been detectably higher among patients with more severe disease compared with those with less severe disease (Tang et al. 2022).⁴⁵

⁴³ Under the Digital Healthcare Act, all people covered under statutory health insurance can receive a prescription for a DiGA. This represents around 88% of Germany's population (Blümel et al. 2020).

⁴⁴ Codes for 'general' remote patient monitoring are separate from those for continuous glucose monitoring.

⁴⁵ In the case of DiGA, pricing has also proven contentious. The large discrepancy between manufacturer-set and negotiated prices is the product of the scheme's 'patient value-based pricing' system. There are no clear guidelines or algorithms for deriving a reasonable, 'value-based' price (Gensorowsky et al. 2022). This allows for DiGA to be prescribed for at least 12 months at artificially inflated prices.

Tailored approaches would maximise the impact of any government funding

While international models show promise, there may be scope to better tailor funding so that it maximises the impact of any government funding and better manages fiscal risks. The latter is particularly important as DTx, and to a lesser extent RPM, are highly scalable. Doing so requires setting clear parameters for both what governments fund and how they fund it.

Not all remote care warrants funding

Both RPM and DTx fall within a much broader spectrum of health monitoring apps and websites – what differentiates RPM and DTx is that they are grounded in clinical evidence. But this distinction in and of itself is not sufficient to warrant government support.

Ideally governments would limit any support for applications to those that are high value and cost-effective.

High value remote care applications are those that not only pass relevant clinical efficacy and safety thresholds but also generate a requisite amount of health benefit per dollar spent.

Cost-effective remote care applications are those that deliver the same health outcome at equivalent or less cost than a counterfactual, such as in-person care or pharmaceuticals.

The infrastructure for determining the value and cost-effectiveness of a remote care device already exists. Effective funding arrangements for remote care could rely on the Medical Services Advisory Committee (MSAC) or a similar body for evaluating which DTx and RPM devices might contribute to high-quality care.

How remote care is funded matters for outcomes

Even if a remote care application is found to be both high value and cost-effective, the question remains as to how any funding arrangements can be designed to maximise this value, while minimising any unintended consequences and downside risks, including for governments.

Funding structures need to strike a fine balance.

On the one hand, funding structures need to incentivise uptake and adherence to overcome barriers for practitioners to recommend their use and encourage patients to stay the course – DTx are typically only effective so long as the patient completes the treatment cycle.

On the other hand, funding structures need to be finely crafted so that they only encourage use where they are well suited to patients' needs and are being applied in the right contexts. For example, in the case of RPM, that means targeting people who are at high risk of their health deteriorating. Carefully designing funding mechanisms is particularly important given the scalable nature of remote care technologies. An app-based therapeutic, for example, could be downloaded and used by a virtually unlimited number of patients. Similarly, practitioners can potentially monitor a large cohort of patients at once through an RPM dashboard.

Bespoke funding arrangements would maximise benefits

Given the differences in the context in which remote care technologies are applied – the conditions they treat, the size and nature of the patient base they target, the extent to which they rely on a blended care model and their scalability – a portfolio of funding approaches is likely to work best.

In some cases, block funding might make sense. This type of funding has already been used to bolster uptake in the case of mental health DTx (box 4.6), and enables providers to cover their set-up costs.

Recognising that mental and behavioural conditions are quite common (ABS 2022a) and that the marginal cost of providing access to an additional user is close to zero, means that this type of funding can extend access to a potentially large cohort of target users, while managing any fiscal risks. Adherence could be encouraged through incentive payments or be a precondition for government support, for example, by mandating relevant applications demonstrate a requisite level of adherence.

In other cases, such as where there is a distinct and contained cohort of potential patients, leveraging existing funding structures (such as the MBS, PBS and/or program based funding pathways) with the addition of some safeguards might work best. For example, developing and disseminating best practice guidelines that advise clinicians on which types of patients are good candidates for specific remote care interventions, and on the procedures needed to ensure high-quality care, could ensure value for money. The Commission has previously recommended that governments produce more comprehensive guidelines outlining when particular interventions are clinically justified, and disseminate best practice to health professionals through bodies such as the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Healthcare and the various medical colleges (PC 2017c, p. 84).

A third option could be to include remote care in an overarching stream of funding for chronic disease management. This option might be preferred where patient characteristics or the context in which they receive care is critical to outcomes. This form of flexible funding approach has been advocated by the OECD (2019) and the Commission (2017d, 2021) for treating chronic conditions. More recently, Breadon et al. (2022, p. 49) argued that governments should provide GP clinics with 'flexible budgets for some types of care (such as chronic disease management)', in addition to the MBS subsidies they receive for individual episodes of care (though these reimbursements would be smaller). Two possible advantages of this model is that treating practitioners would only recommend remote care when they expect it to provide the most health benefit. Practitioners could also be incentivised to monitor a patient's adherence as a condition for accessing the fund.

Ultimately, it is a mix of these funding models that will allow the gains of remote care to be fully realised. Irrespective of which approach is adopted, any future funding models will require careful calibration to get the incentives right and manage the fiscal exposure of governments.

Maximising the impact of government funding will also require governments to coordinate to their efforts. Both the Australian and state and territory governments have good reasons to invest in remote care. Greater coordination of efforts would help avoid both gaps in coverage and duplication of effort as these new care models gain greater traction.
Box 4.6 – Case study: mental health DTx

Mental health DTx can either be used as standalone mental health treatments or combined with clinician support in 'blended care' services. There are three major providers of DTx for mental illness in Australia: Mental Health Online, MindSpot and THIS WAY UP.

Other services offer support to specific cohorts. For example, the AIMhi Stay Strong App is aimed at Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and has embedded guidance from Elders. Meanwhile, The Essential Network (TEN) is a blended mental health service for health care workers, which provides a web-based therapeutic called Navigating Burnout.

All of these services receive some form of government funding.

Impacts

- Mental health DTx offer high quality care. An evaluation of Mental Health Online, MindSpot and THIS WAY UP found that online treatments with therapist support significantly improved outcomes for a range of conditions (among them obsessive compulsive disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder, panic disorder, and depression) (Bassilios et al. 2022, p. 6). The evaluation also found that self-directed treatment moderately reduced symptoms, with all service delivery generating a gain of 1,181 Quality-adjusted Life Years per year (p. 143). A smaller non-randomised study of AIMhi, meanwhile, found statistically significant improvements in the wellbeing of 30 young people of Aboriginal and Torres Islander background after four weeks of using the app (Dingwall et al. 2023).
- DTx can also support the mental health system to meet demand by using a comparatively small amount of clinician time. Mental Health Online, MindSpot and THIS WAY UP have been shown to be cost effective compared to usual care for individuals with depression or anxiety symptoms, with the delivery costs of self-guided treatment ranging from \$52 to \$99 per user (Bassilios et al. 2022, p. 7).
- DTx are an essential part of blended care, which is easily scalable to manage sudden spikes in demand following environmental, social and economic shocks. For example, TEN was funded by the Australian Government Department of Health as part of its response to COVID-19 pandemic. Almost 10,000 healthcare workers completed online assessments between May 2020 and December 2021 (Coleshill et al. 2023).
- DTx can offer greater anonymity, reducing the effect of stigma. For example, healthcare workers can
 forgo accessing mental health services due to fear of being reported to AHPRA or of facing
 discrimination from colleagues and employers. To address this, TEN services offer anonymous access
 to a combination of DTx and telehealth.

Source: Bassilios et al. (2022); Coleshill et al. (2023); Black Dog Institute, pers. comm., 22 April 2024.

5. Artificial intelligence

Key points

* Artificial intelligence (AI) technologies have the potential to enhance productivity in almost every aspect of the healthcare sector.

- Al is evolving rapidly in ways that have expanded the nature and scale of its potential applications in healthcare.
- Embedding AI within mainstream health service delivery could free up the health workforce and prioritise resources to enhance the quality of care.
- But Al also presents new risks when applied in healthcare, which creates a gap between what is technically possible and what health service providers and consumers are comfortable using.
 - The level of trust and confidence in AI is relatively low amongst Australians. Uncertainty around the effectiveness of the regulatory regime in managing AI risks is a key driver.
- Al is evolving more quickly than the regulatory regime can anticipate and there is more government can do to ensure the regulatory approvals process keeps pace.
 - Government should revisit the exemption for clinical decision support software under the Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) approval regime to ensure that risks around automation bias and the opaque nature of Al are adequately addressed.
 - The evolving nature of AI technologies requires ongoing oversight by the TGA, with formalised post-approval monitoring and review.
 - Greater public transparency around the TGA approvals process and post-approval regulatory activities may assist in building trust and confidence in AI.

Bovernment can play a role in facilitating access to quality healthcare data for use by Al.

- The accuracy of AI relies largely on quality data.
- Risks around privacy need to be carefully managed to build a willingness amongst Australians to consent to sharing their health data.
- Identifying government-held data that can be safely shared, subject to appropriate safeguards, could generate substantial public benefit.

Artificial intelligence (AI) has been described as the key to the sustainability of quality healthcare in Australia (AAAiH 2021). This chapter outlines the potential applications of AI in health and the associated productivity improvements that can be generated (section 5.1). It also outlines the risks AI creates, which are heightened in the context of healthcare (section 5.2), and explores vulnerabilities in the way those risks are managed through the regulatory framework (section 5.3).

5.1 AI can improve almost every aspect of healthcare

Al use in healthcare is evolving

The family of techniques and algorithms referred to as Al⁴⁶ have been applied in healthcare for decades. Since the 1970s, Al machine learning pattern recognition and processing techniques have been applied in areas such as pathology, radiology and diagnosis to process, analyse and compare large and complex amounts of health data (Davenport and Kalakota 2019).

Advances in computational power have enabled the development of larger and more complex AI models, with a wider range of potential uses. The increasing sophistication of generative AI, including large language models such as OpenAI's ChatGPT, has expanded the range of potential applications, such that they now encompass almost every facet of healthcare (Coiera et al. 2023). Specific clinical applications of AI (like robotic surgery, diagnosis support and clinical trials) are growing alongside more general applications of AI that can be applied across the entire health sector to automate administrative tasks and aspects of business management (such as note-taking, payments, consumer engagement) (Maslej et al. 2023).

But despite the range of potential applications and recent growth in global investment, AI is not yet embedded in everyday healthcare delivery in Australia. AI has not been fully incorporated into health professionals' workflows or medical record systems, and has been described as something that is used mostly in research labs and tech firms rather than clinical practice (CSIRO 2023; Davenport and Kalakota 2019). The health sector is currently one of the least mature industries in terms of AI implementation both in Australia and internationally (Fifth quadrant 2023; Maslej et al. 2023). Australia's uptake of AI in general has lagged many other developed countries. Australia was ranked 15th overall in a Global AI Index which measured the scale of AI output and relative intensity, and Australia's operating environment (defined as the regulatory environment and public opinion on AI) was ranked lowest of the 62 countries assessed (Tortoise 2023) (section 5.2).

The potential benefits are significant and wide-ranging

Healthcare has been identified as a sector with the most potential to benefit from AI for two reasons (PwC 2017). First, the health system needs 'to do more with less' in the context of increasing demand (driven by an ageing population) and supply constraints (driven by workforce pressures) (chapter 1). Second, AI relies on data and the healthcare sector generates a significant volume of data.

⁴⁶ There is no single agreed definition of AI. However, it is generally used to describe a collection of interrelated technologies that can be used to solve problems autonomously and perform tasks to achieve defined objectives without explicit guidance from a human being (Hajkowicz et al. 2019). There are many different types of techniques and algorithms that make up the wider family of AI and the boundary between these techniques can be subjective, as different techniques are evolving and are being combined and applied (Davenport and Kalakota 2019; Suleimenov et al. 2020).

There are two main areas where the development or application of AI can generate improvements in productivity for the healthcare sector (figure 5.1).

- Automating administrative tasks and processing information for clinicians can bolster workforce capacity and enhance the precision and quality of diagnosis and treatment.
- Using data to anticipate care outcomes can guide cost-effective choices for individual patients, service providers and the healthcare system more broadly.





Al can free up the workforce

Labour is a key input to the health sector. While the healthcare and social assistance industry is one of the fastest growing parts of the labour market, demand for workers is projected to grow faster than supply (NSC 2021).

Al can help to relieve workforce pressure. Employees across all parts of the healthcare sector can have some of their tasks automated or made more efficient through augmenting technologies including AI. By reducing time spent on administrative or tedious tasks and by providing access to better quality information to support decisions, AI can free up time that can be reinvested in quality care for patients. Various studies have estimated the potential impact of automation. One international study estimated that around 35% of time spent in the health sector could be automated, but that the percentage varied by occupation (Spatharou et al. 2020) (figure 5.2) and the OECD has estimated the impact for Australian health professionals is 29% (OECD 2021). When both automation and augmentation of tasks is estimated, this impact rises to over 65% for workers in administrative roles (Faethm 2022).

Figure 5.2 – Areas of potential impact for AI on the health workforce^a

Share of hours currently worked that could be freed up by automation by 2030



a. McKinsey Global Institute data. Selected European countries: France, Germany, Hungary, Italy, Portugal, Sweden, UK. Source: Spatharou (2020).

Non-clinical applications can provide some easy wins

The use of AI in administrative or 'back office' tasks offers the most immediate potential impact (OECD 2020). The healthcare system comprises a wide range of providers, each with their own administrative processes in terms of scheduling, billing, payments, and human resources. AI has the potential to use unstructured purchasing and accounts payable data, or to use chatbots to address common hospital employee IT and human resources questions, all of which could improve employee experience and

reduce costs (Bhasker et al. 2023). The application of AI to these non-clinical functions does not directly impact the health or safety of patients, so carries a lower risk.

Al can also relieve the administrative burden on clinicians themselves. Surveys have shown that administrative tasks are consuming too much of healthcare workers time and are contributing to burnout (Azam et al. 2017; HIMSS and Nuance 2021). In Australia, nurses are estimated to spend around 9% of their working time on administration and GPs around 5% of their working time on routine administration (Cisco 2019; RACGP 2023). Al technology based on large language models has been developed that can transcribe notes during a consultation, draft referral letters and care plans and complete other forms of documentation. These time-saving technologies can be used in any healthcare setting to reduce the administrative burden on clinicians.

AI can also automate labour-intensive tasks such as clinical coding⁴⁷ of data, with a recent pilot finding that processing time for a full-time equivalent worker improved by 30% using AI (McDonald 2023).

Improving the interface with consumers

Al-powered chatbots are becoming increasingly common in many aspects of daily life, and their potential in healthcare is significant.

Routine administrative tasks, such as appointment scheduling and patient registration, can be automated using AI to reduce reliance on customer-facing workers. AI applications have been developed that can provide a digital front door that enables consumers to complete check-in for appointments and gives access to translation services to assist in pre-filling forms.

Al can take pressure off the health workforce by giving consumers access to information about their symptoms and treatment directly and at the time when they need it. Large language models are creating conversation agents that can synthesise information and connect consumers to resources and experts faster and more effectively (Coiera et al. 2023). Chatbots have been used to give consumers access to discreet, convenient and timely advice, with this mode of engagement being viewed positively, and even preferred for consumers with sensitive health issues or for consumers in certain demographics (Dosovitsky and Bunge 2023; Miles et al. 2021). Al can also be used to overcome language barriers and digital literacy issues by translating information or providing information in a more accessible form.

Al tools can also be effective in providing prompts to consumers about adherence to treatment plans and medication alerts. Personalised and specific Al-based reminders can improve patient outcomes without the need for the clinician to take any action (Davenport and Kalakota 2019). Digitally enabled Al systems are also able to predict which patients may not attend a medical appointment and take proactive action to follow up. One study found that proactive alerts decreased 'no-shows' for colonoscopy procedures from 38% to 10% (Glatter 2019).

Diagnostic imaging and screening can be done at pace

Medical imaging is used routinely in nearly every branch of medicine for diagnostic purposes (Committee on Diagnostic Error in Health Care et al. 2015). Demand for diagnostic imaging services is currently growing faster than the population, faster than total medical services and faster than the radiology workforce (Lu et al. 2024). The complexity of imaging analysis is also increasing – a standard CT examination of the brain in 1996 comprised 20 images, which has grown to up to 1200 slices under more recent technology (Partovi 2023).

⁴⁷ Clinical coding converts health information into computer-readable language, so that it can be used by individual hospitals and practices (to support audit, decision support systems, clear communication between teams and medical billing) and at the national and international level (to support epidemiological analysis, strategic resource allocation, reporting, health inequality monitoring, and communication) (Blundell 2023).

The use of AI in diagnostic imaging has increased the capacity of the workforce. AI can augment radiologists' workflow by analysing medical images, such as x-rays, MRIs, and CT scans, to highlight anomalies and changes over time. In one Australian-based study, use of a comprehensive deep learning model reduced radiologists' average interpretation time by around 11%, while improving their detection performance (Buchlak et al. 2024).

When combined with the types of remote care models outlined in chapter 4, AI can support health practitioners to work at the top of their scope of practice and make the process of screening for risks more efficient and accessible, particularly for those in regional and remote areas. Use is not widespread, but there are some case studies where AI-assisted remote screening has occurred at the point of care, which can reduce travel costs for the patient and practitioner and make effective use of the local health workforce. For example, opportunistic AI-assisted screening for diabetic retinopathy has been undertaken in certain Aboriginal medical services clinics⁴⁸ (Scheetz et al. 2021) and a South Australian nurse-led pop-up clinic has analysed and triaged potential skin cancer based on images taken by nurses in regional and remote areas with the support of AI (box 5.1).

Box 5.1 - Case study: AI assisted skin cancer screening

Al tools can be used to analyse digital images or photos to support diagnosis of skin cancer in a range of healthcare settings.

One example, Project Check Mate, is a pilot study focused on nurse led skin checks with educational support from AI to screen abnormal lesions. Launched in South Australia in 2023 as a research study led by the University of South Australia, with funding support from charities Skin Check Champions and the Hospital Research Foundation, the pilot utilises AI tools in nurse-led pop-up clinics to provide free skin checks at regional and remote community events.

Impacts

- The mobile pop-up clinics are improving access and reducing the travel burden for patients. By working with events such as field days, festivals and sporting fixtures in regional and remote areas, high risk populations can benefit.
- The screening process is as efficient as possible. All participants book, provide consent and answer skin cancer risk questions on a secure digital platform. The participant is then invited into a mobile clinic room for a full body skin check where suspect lesions are identified, photographed and mapped to a 3D digital avatar with notes and next steps based on the nurse's expertise. Images can be instantly analysed by the AI algorithms during this process. The participant's profile (along with the AI diagnosis) can be easily shared with local GPs, nurse practitioners or dermatologists for timely management if required. The AI provides an additional layer of initial diagnosis which can help reduce over-diagnosis, improve accuracy and assist local practitioners with treatment pathways, especially if shared via teledermatology with skin cancer specialists or dermatologists who are often based in major metropolitan areas.

Source: Rosemary Bryant Foundation & Skin Check Champions (pers. comm., April 2024); Skin Check Champions (2023); Skin Check Champions (pers. comm., December 2023).

⁴⁸ Evaluation of the AI-assisted screening model found the diagnostic accuracy of the model to be high, but also identified a range of factors that may influence future uptake of AI by clinicians and patients, including ease of use, integration with existing systems, explainability of results, risks around legal liability and clinician and patient acceptance (Scheetz et al. 2021). Many of these issues are explored in section 5.2.

Supporting clinical decision-making to manage information overload

Generative AI based on language processing has widened the scope of clinical decision-support that is possible. The benefits of electronic patient records (chapter 2) are magnified, as AI can synthesise information from a variety of systems and sources, and present conclusions in a form that is tailored to the clinician needs. AI can analyse and interpret images, electronic and paper records, and academic literature across multiple languages – scanning millions of pages in seconds – to supply information to the health provider about patient diagnosis that reflects the most up-to-date clinical research.

This can save time for clinicians, speeding up decision-making and reducing errors (Reddy et al. 2019). Al applications that generate consultation notes, summarise patient history and use patient records to identify personalised diagnosis or treatment options based on clinical guidelines can save clinicians' valuable time. One Australian study found that a psychiatric registrar spends more than double the amount of time handling patient records and administration than they do in consultation, and so using Al to prepare for consultations and update patient records could free up clinicians to have '3 extra contacts per clinician per day' (CareMappr pers. comm., 22 April 2024; Patrickson et al. 2022) (box 5.2).

Box 5.2 – Case study: CareMappr

CareMappr software (previously Actionable Intime Insights or AI2) is an automated risk monitoring tool using AI to analyse patient data and manage the risk of readmission for particular cohorts of patients.

The CareMappr software analyses patients' Medicare Benefit Scheme (MBS) and Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS) data from My Health Record as well as data from community based information systems to detect gaps in continuity of care such as medical appointment attendance or prescription refills. When a gap in care is detected, an alert sent to the monitoring clinician can support early interventions aimed at reducing rates of deterioration and relapse.

A pilot of a mental health software was conducted in 2019-20 in a Community Mental Health Service in South Australia to detect patients not adhering to treatment. The mental health application has since been rolled out across South Australia in partnership with public mental health services linked to Local Health Networks, as well as the State Government's Digital Health SA.

A trial of a hospital pharmacy application, AutoMedic, is currently underway in South Australia. The program is designed to detect potential issues with prescription medicine used by patients discharged from hospital.

Impacts

- Automated risk monitoring tools can improve patient care and manage readmission risks. Medications are
 routinely prescribed in the treatment of severe mental illnesses, but patients who stop medication or
 disengage with services have high risk of relapse (over 80% within three years) (Fusar-Poli et al. 2016; van
 Kasteren et al. 2022). Al-based alerts to a monitoring clinician can prompt an intervention aimed at
 reducing rates of deterioration and relapse, with the potential to reduce the number of people who require
 treatment in hospital. The hospital pharmacy application is forecast to avoid over 1,300 readmissions within
 28 days of discharge in South Australia annually (pers. comm., CareMappr, 22 April 2024).
- The use of AI has reduced clinician time spent on administrative tasks. For the mental health application, the time saved allows 3 extra contacts per clinician per day and the hospital pharmacy application is forecast to save over 58,000 hours of hospital pharmacist time (pers. comm., CareMappr, 22 April 2024).

Al can also be used to improve the efficiency of the clinical audit process. The clinical audit is embedded within everyday clinical practice and involves the process of reviewing the records of patients with unexpected outcomes to identify recommendations for improvement. An Al algorithm was found to be significantly more accurate and logically consistent when compared to human performance in generating audits on a neurosurgical ward, and reduced the mean time to deliver a report from 10.2 days for humans to 5.8 seconds for Al (Brzezicki et al. 2020).

AI can unlock the predictive power of data

Health information has been growing exponentially, and we are generating more knowledge than we can leverage (Hernandez-Medrano et al. 2018). IBM (2016) estimated that the average person is likely to generate more than 1 million gigabytes of health-related data in their lifetime, which is 200 times more medical information than a single individual could absorb in all their life.

Al has the capability to interpret health information in various formats. Health information comes from a range of sources and presents in a range of formats (figure 5.3). While the digitisation of data is increasing, Australia has not yet reached a point of interoperability that would enable the systematic collation and interpretation of data in different formats, from different care providers in different jurisdictions (chapter 2). But wherever Al has access information, it can be applied to improve efficiency of service delivery and patient outcomes within a particular care setting, or across care settings within the health system.

Figure 5.3 – Types of health information

Sources of data that can be analysed and combined using AI



Predicting patient outcomes can assist with prioritisation of resources at a local level

Al applications can be used to ensure that patients do not spend more time in hospital than is needed for their care. Hospital care can be inconvenient and stressful for both patients and their families (Federman et al. 2018). And hospitals are a high cost setting within which to receive care. Average hospital stays are 2.7 days and each day in hospital adds approximately \$1400 in costs (AIHW 2023a; Commission analysis using IHACPA 2023). Al tools can be applied to predict the length of stay and estimated date of discharge for an individual patient, to streamline the process of discharge planning using data contained in electronic patient records (Bacchi et al. 2022; Ou et al. 2011). One international study found that effective discharge processes can reduce the average length of stay by around 17% (Khalifa 2017).

Al applications are being trialled that can be used to anticipate demand for hospital services (looking across emergency department presentations, inpatient administration, separations and operating theatre arrivals) to manage bed capacity effectively (Koopman et al. 2020). Al tools are also being applied in Australia's virtual hospitals to identify patients suitable for virtual care and to create alerts to assist in remotely monitoring changes in a patients' condition.

Al is also being used to anticipate and manage risks, such as identifying patients at risk of deterioration during hospital stays. Most medical treatments are effective for the majority of patients, but being able to pre-emptively identify those patients who are at highest risk of an adverse event or ineffective treatment can lead to better health outcomes for patients and more effective use of resources (OECD 2020). For example, Al is being used to guide treatments, such as directing radiation therapy to reduce side effects and increase the efficacy of treatment (OECD 2020).

Predicting which patients are at risk can save money across care silos

Supporting a patient in a lower cost setting (such as the home or primary health care) to avoid hospitalisation provides benefits for the patient and cost savings for the healthcare system. Al can be used to identify patients at risk of readmission and proactively manage those risks. The period after a person is discharged from hospital is a high risk period, where patients are the most likely to require readmission to hospital.

Al can also be applied to enable older Australians to live at home longer and reduce the need for care in more costly settings (such as aged care or hospital). Al is being applied through the use of sensors to monitor for declining functional independence and to prevent falls, which are a leading cause of hospitalised injuries and injury deaths among older Australians (AIHW 2023d; O'Connor et al. 2022).

Al can use genomic data to identify consumers at risk of developing serious and degenerative conditions, with potential system-wide benefits over a lifetime. In biomedical research, Al has been effective in identifying biological mechanisms that are associated with certain diseases and in guiding the development of important drugs such as novel antibiotics and antivirals (OECD 2020). The rewards from insights into the human genome have the potential to revolutionise human health (Koopman et al. 2020).

5.2 AI changes the risks in healthcare

AI brings benefits, and risks

There is a general view that, while AI can provide substantial benefits in healthcare, its use comes with significant risks. Healthcare is generally classified as a high risk application for AI, as it relates to individuals' health and welfare (European Commission 2021; OECD 2024a). Each instance where AI is applied will have

its own unique risk profile, depending on the type of AI technology being used and the way in which it is being applied, but there are consistent challenges that are common across applications (figure 5.4).





Risks contribute to uncertainty

One of the key challenges in AI adoption is effectively managing the risks associated with its use. Managing those risks will also build trust and develop a culture of acceptance amongst clinicians and patients. Australia's regulatory context and public opinion about AI (described as the operating environment) was ranked lowest of 62 countries in a global AI index (OECD 2023; Tortoise 2023) (section 5.1).

From a patient perspective, only one third of Australians say they trust AI systems and less than half believe the benefits of AI outweigh the risks (Solomon and Davis 2023). A survey of the Australian public found that 60% of Australians support the development of AI in general, but this reduces to between 27-43% when health care scenarios are posed (Isbanner et al. 2022).⁴⁹

Similarly, clinicians have traditionally been slow adopters of new technology, relying on tried and trusted methods to deliver clinical care (Reddy et al. 2019). Understanding how AI solutions fit in and support the work of clinicians is critical to success (Koopman et al. 2020). Engaging clinicians in the design of digital

⁴⁹ The survey also found that 4 in 5 Australians valued continued human contact and discretion in healthcare and social services provision more than any speed, accuracy, or convenience that AI systems might provide (Isbanner et al. 2022).

solutions and integrating these solutions into existing workflows is a factor considered critical, but doing so for AI presents particular challenges given its complexity (MarketsAndMarkets Research 2023).

This creates a gap between what is technically possible and what users are seeking (Meskó 2022). Various participants, including the Australian Alliance for Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare (AAAiH), have suggested that improved regulatory frameworks are critical to closing this gap (AAAiH 2021).

5.3 The policy landscape needs to evolve

Regulation can play an important role in managing AI risks, to build trust and certainty and to facilitate productive innovation.

Al is placing existing regulatory guardrails under pressure

The health sector is one of the most highly regulated industries, with a range of regulatory levers that already apply to the specific risks around AI. The health sector operates in the context of economy-wide regulation which is technology-neutral and of general application – such as consumer law, civil liability for harm, privacy law and corporate governance requirements. The Australian, state and territory governments also impose health-specific regulation aimed at ensuring that health professionals are adequately qualified, medicines and devices are safety to use, and that health facilities meet certain standards (Solomon and Davis 2023).

However, the types of AI and the way it is being applied is rapidly changing and difficult to predict. The speed at which technology is advancing is creating challenges for the regulatory framework and the various regulators.

The international context within which software is developed is also evolving rapidly. The medical software industry is dominated by companies that operate across borders and differences in regulatory regimes can create disincentives for developers to supply to Australia.

New and unforeseen risks are emerging with each new application of AI that test the scope and coverage of the regulatory regime for the approval of software such as AI for use in healthcare.

The scope of TGA's regulatory coverage is not comprehensive

Al-enabled medical devices are assessed and approved using a risk-based regulatory framework, administered by the TGA. In general, any medical device used to provide treatment or replace the judgement of a clinician in diagnosis falls within the remit of the TGA.⁵⁰

However, the coverage of AI used to support clinical decision-making is not comprehensive and the level of regulatory oversight largely depends on how active the clinician is in the decision-making process (figure 5.5). An AI tool that analyses information against clinical standards and makes a recommendation is typically exempt. AI that generates new output to inform decision-making, where that output cannot be easily verified, is typically regulated.

In practice, this means that a wide range of AI tools that may guide clinical decision-making fall outside of the regulatory net. Participants have questioned whether the regulatory coverage adequately accounts for the risks associated with the automation bias and the 'black box' nature of AI (AAAiH 2021). Participants have also

⁵⁰The TGA's regulatory framework specifically excludes low risk medical devices, as defined under the Therapeutic Goods (Excluded Goods) Determination 2018 to include, amongst other things, consumer-only facing applications and general health and wellbeing software that is not specifically linked to a disease or condition.

noted that this outcome does not align with the expectations of Australian consumers, who expect that that any Al used to inform decisions about their healthcare is regulated and carefully managed (Gillespie et al. 2023).

Recognising that AI tools introduce new risks when applied to clinical decision support, consideration could be given to revisiting the exemption criteria and expanding the regulatory coverage of the TGA to provide greater scrutiny and oversight of AI tools used to support clinical decision-making.

Figure 5.5 – TGA coverage of AI software

Examples of clinical support software regulation under the SaMD

Source: TGA (2021a, 2021b).

Al needs a more dynamic approvals process

Where AI does fall within the scope of TGA regulation, the evolving nature of AI makes the risks unique. Unlike some other medical devices, AI is by its nature capable of evolving and adapting, so both the AI process and its performance may change over time.

The TGA adopts a lifecycle approach to regulation, which incorporates mechanisms for review and for reporting of adverse events, to manage performance of the AI over time alongside the initial static approvals process. The TGA has utilised control plans to increase the frequency of review and undertakes audits based on risk on a case-by-case basis. The case-by-case approach prioritises safety, however there is a trade-off as it provides less certainty for providers, which can inhibit innovation and investment. There would be benefit in formalising the post-approval review process. This would provide greater certainty for providers supplying the software about the regulatory process. It would also provide greater certainty to build trust and confidence for service providers and clinicians that the level of scrutiny is appropriate.

... and the approvals process is a 'black box' itself

An essential element in building trust and confidence in the regulatory framework is in creating transparency around its operation.

The TGA's public reporting on its regulatory activity could be enhanced. While the Australian Register of Therapeutic Goods (ARTG) is a publicly available list of all TGA-approved devices, the register could do more to provide information about the type of technology (including specifically identifying AI technologies), the nature of each devices' approved use and the post-approval review mechanisms. The TGA could also enhance its public reporting to provide aggregated data on approvals, post-approval reviews and other regulatory activity to provide accountability to the public and to providers about the effectiveness of the regulatory regime.

'Black box' makes accountability more complex

Al also raises new risks in the way the health workforce is held accountable for its use. Evidence suggests that humans have a tendency to over-rely on, and delegate responsibility to, decision support systems, rather than continuing to be vigilant – which is known as automation bias (Magrabi 2019). This creates risks for patient outcomes where the Al makes an error or is applied to a subtly unique problem.

The effects of automation bias are likely to be amplified when using AI as the black box nature of the techniques are not conducive to verification (Magrabi 2019). The complexity and sophistication of AI algorithms can make it difficult or impossible to understand how a model arrives at its outputs. While traditional machine learning AI techniques are based on specific rules and logic to produce targeted outputs, newer deep learning applications are evolving and adjusting their decision-making based on experience and observations, which can make them less intelligible over time (Knight 2017). This makes it difficult for a human to assess the reliability of the results or seek redress where errors occur (AAAiH 2021). This, in turn, makes it more challenging to apprise patients of risks where AI is being applied.

Where errors do occur, AI exacerbates the challenge of establishing legal liability for those errors and delineating responsibility (Reddy et al. 2019). Data on the prevalence of medical errors varies widely, with diagnostic error estimated to occur in 10-20% of cases (Graber et al. 2012) and adverse events are estimated to occur in 6.4% of public hospital admissions in Australia (SCRGSP 2024).

Medical negligence and product liability laws provide ex-post frameworks to establish liability for errors, but how these frameworks will apply in practice to AI has not yet been thoroughly tested in Australian courts. AI raises complex questions around who owes a duty of care, what constitutes causation of harm, how far consumer guarantees extend and what constitutes informed consent, that will need to be resolved.

Unlike other medical devices, there are additional characters in the AI production chain that can blur lines of responsibilities. The data provider that curates the data used to train the AI, the designer of the algorithm itself and the clinician making decisions all contribute in different ways to patient care. In a traditional medical context, responsibility is clearly delineated. For example, a medicine is approved subject to conditions, and if a physician prescribes the medicine for a patient in circumstances where those conditions are not met, the physician takes responsibility for harm. However, where an AI tool is used as part of scanning the patient and identifying treatment options, it is more difficult to assign responsibility when something goes wrong – it could be the fault of the algorithm designer, the AI operator that enters the data or the clinician that ultimately prescribes the treatment.

The ex-ante regulatory guardrails can resolve some of this ambiguity around responsibility. Where AI is regulated and approved by health sector regulators, such as the TGA, or endorsed in practice guidance by health professional bodies, it is easier to define what constitutes safe and reasonable use of AI. For example, the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Radiologists has incorporated AI specific standards for clinical radiology within its standards of practice (RANZCR 2020). This gives the clinician and the service provider some guidance and comfort around what would be considered reasonable use of AI for the purposes of liability should something go wrong. Developing further guidance on the circumstances in which AI use is safe and accepted as appropriate clinical practice will assist in providing clarity for the purposes of liability.

Al needs access to quality data, and lots of it

Data is one of the key inputs to the development and use AI technologies. The quality and accuracy of any AI tool is largely dependent on the data it uses for decision-making (Koopman et al. 2020).

Australia is data rich, having invested in data infrastructure such as electronic health records and health information systems to replace paper-based systems.

But access to health data involves delicate trade-offs between the rights of the various parties involved (the individual patient, the clinician providing advice and treatment, the service provider holding the data and the AI owner using the data) and the benefits to the broader public (though improved services and productivity improvements).

Health data is by its nature deeply personal and raises risks around privacy, so the incentives for an individual to share their data are low.

Al escalates those privacy risks by introducing new ways that data can be used inadvertently or deliberately to cause harm (ASD 2023). The health sector has the highest number of data breaches of any sector in Australia, and around 67% of those breaches reported between July and December 2023 were a result of malicious or criminal attack (OAIC 2024). Around 49% of healthcare organisations reported experiencing a data breach from an outside source in 2023 (SOTI 2023). Al tools can challenge the protection of sensitive information, with numerous studies highlighting how individuals can be re-identified in anonymised health data repositories managed by private or public institutions using Al (Murdoch 2021). Al tools have been applied for malicious purposes, for example, to generate material for phishing attacks (ASD 2023). Al also expands the range of characters in the supply chain who may have access to health information and may be at risk of inadvertent breaches.

Despite these risks, patients have demonstrated some willingness to consent to sharing their health information. One survey found that 74% of Australians are willing to share their personal information to advance medical research (Research Australia 2023). However, that willingness drops if the medical research generates profits for a private company (Aitken et al., 2016; Gillespie et al. 2023; Isbanner et al. 2022). That poses challenges as many AI innovators are for-profit companies. For example, an AI model may use patient data as an input for model refinement and training. Where that model is owned by a private company, the company can then generate profits by subsequently supplying that model to other healthcare providers (Bell et al. 2023).

To manage these risks, health data is subject to a myriad of legal and ethical obligations around its collection, storage and use. Consequently, data governance is one of the most critical and complex barriers to AI and in practice, it is particularly challenging to create AI datasets that draw from data held by more than one service provider or in more than one records system (Hajkowicz et al. 2019, p. 49).

Harnessing the potential of AI in health settings will require AI developers (including private companies) to access context-specific patient data to train AI models. The accuracy of AI models depends largely on the quality of data used to train it. Algorithmic bias can arise where datasets used train AI models are not

comprehensive. Errors or misleading outcomes can arise where the data AI is trained on draws from a population that is different to the group it is then applied to (DISR 2023, Norori et al. 2021). The quality of the data can be as important as the size of the data sets (Aldoseri et al. 2023; Li et al. 2023; Reddy et al. 2019).

Al raises the stakes for data accessibility and data quality in health. The Commission has previously discussed the issues around data policy in *Making the most of the AI opportunity* (PC 2024c) and has made recommendations to facilitate the sharing of healthcare data as a priority in the *5-year Productivity inquiry: Australia's data and digital dividend* (PC 2023). There is a clear role for government in lifting data sharing to socially optimal levels. It was recommended that government identify relevant data that can be shared safely and linked to benefit individuals receiving government-funded services (recommendation 4.4), with protections around opting out of the system and de-identification of data.

There are many applications of AI in healthcare that require access to only a subset of patient information, but where there could be substantial public benefit from creating large datasets that could be safely used by AI. For example, after an appropriate de-identification process, past patient x-ray scans could be productively used to train AI without compromising a full patient record.

Even where patients may be willing to consent to sharing their data, access can be frustrated by lack of coordination and frameworks for data access. Health data is siloed, disconnected, and lacking shared data standards. This emphasises the importance of reforms to improve health information sharing, including enhancing My Health Record as an accessible source of data and progressing interoperability reform, which will be critical to the safe and productive use of AI in health (chapter 2).

A. Consultation

During this research project, the Commission consulted with a range of individuals, organisations, service providers, industry bodies and government departments and agencies (table A.1).

The Commission also convened three roundtables on 4 December 2023, in collaboration with the Digital Health Cooperative Research Centre (table A.2), 18 January 2024 with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander organisations (table A.3) and 29 January 2024 (table A.4).

The Commission would like to thank everyone who participated in this study.

Table A.1 – Consultation

Participants

Aboriginal Medical Services Alliance Northern Territory (AMSANT)
ACT Health
ANDHealth
Australasian College of Dermatologists
Australian Alliance for Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare (AAAIH)
Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine (ACRRM)
Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (ACSQHC)
Australian Digital Health Agency (ADHA)
Australian e-Health Research Centre
Australian Healthcare and Hospitals Association (AHHA)
Australian Medical Association (AMA)
Black Dog Institute
Brown, Prof Alex (CSIRO)
Cardihab
CareMappr Pty Ltd (CareMappr)
Centre for Digital Transformation of Health (University of Melbourne)
Centre for Online Health
Consumers Health Forum of Australia
Deadly Vision Centre
Department of Health and Aged Care (DHAC)
Digital Health Cooperative Research Centre (DHCRC)
Eucalyptus
Fitridge, Prof Robert (University of Adelaide)

Participants

Flynn, Dr Michael
Gippsland Primary Health Network
Goodman, Dr Andrew (CSIRO)
Healthdirect
Independent Health and Aged Care Pricing Authority (IHACPA)
InstantScripts
Integrated Living
Lewin, Prof Sharon (University of Melbourne)
Mahoney, Prof Ray (CSIRO)
Marathon Health
Medical Software Industry Association
Medical Technology Association of Australia (MTAA)
National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO)
National Association of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Workers and Practitioners (NAATSIHWP)
National Health Leadership Forum (NHLF)
New South Wales Productivity Commission
Northern Health
NT Health
Queensland Health
Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP)
Royal Perth Bentley Group
rpa virtual
SA Health
SA Pathology
Sepulveda, Dr Patricio
Shephard, Prof Mark (Flinders University)
Skin Check Champions
Tasmanian Department of Health
The Royal Children's Hospital Melbourne
Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA)
THIS WAY UP (St Vincent's Hospital Sydney)
Treasury
University of Queensland (LifeCHAT)
Victorian Department of Health
Victorian Department of Jobs, Skills, Industry and Regions
Western Australian Department of Health

Table A.2 – Roundtable participants on 4 December 2023 (in collaboration with the Digital Health Cooperative Research Centre)

Participants
Alcidion
Annalise.ai
Digital Health Cooperative Research Centre (DHCRC)
Five Faces
Metluma
Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre
Propel Health Al
SiSU Health
Telstra Health

Table A.3 – Roundtable participants on 18 January 2024

Participants

Australian Indigenous Doctors' Association (AIDA)

Congress of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Nurses and Midwives (CATSINaM)

Indigenous Allied Health Australia (IAHA)

National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Ageing and Aged Care Council (NATSIAACC)

National Health Leadership Forum (NHLF)

Table A.4 – Roundtable participants on 29 January 2024

Participants

Australian Digital Health Agency (ADHA)

Department of Health and Aged Care (DHAC)

Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA)

B. Measuring the benefits of digital technology in health

This appendix explains the method behind the measurement of benefits featured in this paper (figure B.1). It outlines the assumptions made, data sources, and calculations used to arrive at the estimates.

Figure B.1 – There are significant consumer, patient-level and system-wide benefits



B.1 Measuring the costs saved from telehealth use

We start with the assumption that, on average, consumers travel 35 minutes for a general practitioner (GP) or specialist appointment and spend 30 minutes in the waiting room, in line with the assumptions in the Commission's *Shifting the Dial* report (PC 2017d).

In that report, the Commission assumed travel time of 35 minutes based on an average travel time of 37 minutes in one study in the United States (US) (Ray et al. 2015). The lower figure of 35 minutes was assumed due to the higher population density in Australia compared to the US. We have not sought to measure the environmental impacts of this saving in travel time.

The Commission also assumed a waiting room time of 30 minutes. This was based on a survey conducted by Haas and de Abreu Lourenco (2016) reporting a wait time of approximately 26 minutes and a figure of 35 minutes reported by private firm Tonic Health Media (PC 2017d). Since then, Tonic Health Media (2020) has reported an average wait time of 30 minutes in waiting rooms. This is consistent with McIntyre and Chow (2020) who reviewed studies across North America, Europe and Asia and found mean wait times to be between 20 and 40 minutes.

While not perfect, these sources provide information to form a plausible assumption about travel and wait times.

Data on the number of GP and specialist telehealth appointments conducted was drawn from Services Australia (2024) for each month spanning January 2017 to December 2023. In 2023, nearly 28 million GP and 3.5 million specialist appointments were conducted via telehealth. This data is explored in greater detail in chapter 3.

It cannot be assumed that all of the telehealth appointments in 2023 were substitutes for what otherwise would have been in-person care. Some telehealth usage is additional, rather than a substitute, due to the convenience that telehealth offers. However, most telehealth appointments appear to have been substitutes, as evidenced by the smooth trend in total GP and specialist appointments between 2017 to 2023 (chapter 3). We estimate saved time costs under the alternative assumptions that 70%, 80% and 90% of telehealth appointments were substitutes for in-person care.

The main benefit afforded to patients from substituting in-person care for telehealth is the time saving from avoided commutes and avoided time spent in waiting rooms, allowing patients to devote more time to labour or leisure. It is through the lens of labour that we convert the value of time into dollars.

We assume the value of time (in dollars per hour), for any given month i, to be.⁵¹

value of time_i = average hourly earnings_i × participation rate_i

To find the travel time costs (in hours) saved in each month *i* and for substitution percentage *j*, we calculate:

total travel time saved_{i,j} = number of substitute telehealth appointments_{i,j} $\times \frac{35}{60}$

The travel time cost savings are this figure multiplied by the value of the time saved:

total travel time cost savings_{i,j} = total travel time saved_{i,j} × value of time_i

⁵¹ Average hourly earnings are not reported by the ABS. Instead, we use ABS (2024a) figures on average ordinary time earnings for a full time employee and divide by 37.5 hours to obtain an average hourly rate. Monthly participation rates are drawn from ABS (2024b).

Similarly, for waiting room time costs saved in each month *i* and for substitution rate *j*, we calculate:

total waiting room time saved_{i,j} = number of substitute telehealth appointments_{i,j} $\times \frac{30}{60}$

total waiting room time cost savings_{i,i} = total waiting room time saved_{i,i} × value of time_i

For each month, we have total cost savings from forgone travel and waiting room times, based on each month's number of telehealth appointments and corresponding labour market data. To find the annual cost savings in 2023, we aggregate the total cost savings for each month in 2023 (table B.1).

Table B.1 – Travel and waiting room time costs saved from telehealth use, 2023^{a, b}

	Travel time saved (hours)	Travel time costs saved (\$)	Waiting room time saved (hours)	Waiting room time costs saved (\$)
70% substitution	12,870,448	421,816,409	11,031,812	361,556,922
80% substitution	14,709,083	482,075,896	12,607,786	413,207,911
90% substitution	16,547,719	542,335,383	14,183,759	464,858,900

a. Table estimates reported in 2023 dollars. **b.** The cost savings that assume a level of 80% substitution are reported in figure B.1. Sources: Commission estimates based on ABS (2024a, 2024b) and Services Australia (2024).

B.2 Measuring the benefits of Electronic Medical Record systems rollout

Reducing duplicate and unnecessary pathology and imaging tests

A key benefit to using an electronic medical record (EMR) system is that practitioners are able to view a patient's history and even be alerted if ordering a duplicate test, thereby reducing the overall volume of medical tests. The key assumption made is that the introduction of an EMR and alert system in a public hospital reduces overall pathology tests by 6.3% and imaging tests by 12.5%.

The reduction rates are based on the reported declines from the Royal Children's Hospital Melbourne following their implementation of an EMR system (Victorian DH 2020). We assume that the reduction rates are a result only of the EMR system implementation and that this reduction holds true across all types of public hospitals, not only paediatric hospitals.

In line with our assumed reduction rates, Zlabek et al. (2011) identified a reduction in pathology tests by 18% and a reduction in radiology exams by 6.3% following the implementation of an inpatient electronic record system at a US hospital.

Expenditure on imaging and pathology tests were measured using figures from 2020-21 reported by the Independent Health and Aged Care Pricing Authority (IHACPA 2023), which constitutes the latest publicly available release. The report details figures for the average cost of imaging per separation, the average cost of pathology per separation and the total number of separations. This allowed us to estimate total public hospital expenditure on both imaging and pathology, indexed by *i*, using the following approach:

 $total expenditure_i = average \ cost \ per \ separation_i \ \times \ total \ number \ of \ separations$

The total expenditure figures are broken into their component fixed and variable costs using ratios from the appendix of IHACPA (2023). It is important to isolate these costs as any percentage reduction in tests would

provide savings in variable costs only. To measure the cost savings, we apply the corresponding reduction rates to total variable expenditure on pathology and total variable expenditure on imaging.

To overcome the absence of sector-wide data on EMR use in hospitals, we measure benefits assuming a current public hospital uptake of EMRs with functionality akin to that of the Royal Children's Hospital Melbourne (box 2.1, chapter 2) of 0%, 25%, 50% and 75% (table B.2).

Table B.2 – Cost savings from reducing unnecessary pathology and imaging tests following EMR system implementation^{a,b,c,d}

	Pathology cost savings (\$)	Imaging cost savings (\$)
0% current uptake	128,202,358	226,986,421
25% current uptake	96,151,768	170,239,816
50% current uptake	64,101,179	113,493,211
75% current uptake	32,050,589	56,746,605

a. Benefits measured for the public hospital system. **b.** In 2023 dollars. **c.** Assumed reduction rate of 6.3% for pathology and 12.5% for imaging. **d.** The cost savings that assume a level of 0% current uptake are reported in figure B.1. Source: Commission estimates based on IHACPA (2023).

Reducing patient length of stay by improving workflow efficiencies

The implementation of an in-hospital EMR system shortens length of stay in both admitted and emergency care. This is a result of improved clinician workflow as delays in accessing patient information and test results from paper records are minimised, allowing for faster decision-making and patient flow. We assume that the magnitude of these effects are a 22% reduction emergency department (ED) length of stay and a 6% reduction in admitted care length of stay.

The reduction rate of 22% in ED length of stay is informed by two sources. A reduction in ED wait times by 21.5% was reported by the Royal Children's Hospital following their implementation of an EMR system and a US study that examined the effect of an electronic pathology ordering system against a paper-based system was associated with a 22.4% reduction in length of stay (Victorian DH 2020).

The reduction rate of 6% in admitted care length of stay mirrors the reduction reported by the Princess Alexandra Hospital following their implementation of an in-hospital EMR system (Victorian DH 2020).

Average public hospital cost data for ED presentations and admitted care episodes in 2020-21 was taken from IHACPA (2023). In combination with ED presentation and public hospital admission numbers from AIHW (2023a) and AIHW (2023b), we estimated total ED and admitted care expenditure in the public system for 2020-21.

To estimate total admitted care expenditure in the private system for 2020-21, we adjust the average cost per episode in public hospitals by the difference in average length of stay between private and public hospitals.⁵² To estimate the average private hospital cost per episode, the average cost reported in IHACPA (2023) was multiplied by the ratio.⁵³

$$\frac{average \ length \ of \ stay \ private \ hospital}{average \ length \ of \ stay \ public \ hospital} = \frac{2.1}{3.0} = 0.7$$

⁵² ED expenditure does not require an adjustment as EDs predominantly exist in the public system.

⁵³ Implicit in this adjustment is the assumption that the average cost per day of admitted care is the same in both public and private hospitals.

The length of stay reduction rates for admitted care and EDs were multiplied by the expenditure figures to yield a total benefit of approximately \$5.4 billion. An assumption we make by applying the reduction rates directly to expenditure is that reductions of 6% and 22% in length of stay will lead to reductions of 6% and 22% in costs (table B.3).

Table B.3 – Cost savings from reduced length of stay in ED and admitted care following EMR system implementation^{a,b,c}

	Total expenditure (\$)	Cost savings from reduced LOS (\$)
Admitted care (public)	42,455,615,944	2,547,336,957
Admitted care (private)	20,763,274,121	1,245,796,447
Emergency department	7,488,310,101	1,647,428,222

a. Expenditure and savings denoted in 2023 dollars. **b.** Reduction rate assumed to be 6% for admitted care and 22% for emergency department. **c.** Estimates assume 0% current uptake.

Source: Commission estimates based on AIHW (2023c, 2023b) and IHACPA (2023).

B.3 Measuring the benefits of digital technology, including AI, on workforce tasks

The use of digital technology, including AI, across different healthcare settings has the potential to ease the workload of automatable tasks undertaken by the health workforce. This allows health professionals to devote valuable time to tasks that can improve patient quality of care.

We adopt a figure of 30% as the upper bound to the amount of healthcare workers' time that could be saved by automation. It is important to note that the value of 30% does not incorporate the possibility of additional automation in the future, instead it reflects what is currently possible.

Our figure of 30% is based on two sources. Investigating the future of the Australian workforce, the OECD (2021) reported that 29.2% of Australian health professionals faced an 'average' risk of automation. And a study of selected European countries by Spatharou, Hieronimus and Jenkins (2020) reported that 35% of time worked in healthcare is potentially automatable. We use the lower figure of 30% as medical equipment preparers and medical assistants were identified as having the greatest potential for automation by Spatharou, Hieronimus and Jenkins (2020) but are underrepresented in Australia.

To measure the potential time savings, we calculate the average weekly hours worked by a health professional and apply the 30% time saving. Data on health workforce hours was sourced from DHAC (2024) but was limited to medical practitioners, nurses, midwives and allied health professionals. We assume that average weekly hours worked in other health occupations is equivalent to the average computed from the data available.

Overall, it was found that the potential automation of tasks could save the average health worker up to 11 hours per week, on the basis that the average health worker worked 35.9 hours each week.

References

AAAiH (Australian Alliance for Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare) 2021, A roadmap for artificial intelligence in healthcare for Australia.

Aardoom, J, Dingemans, A, van Ginkel, J, Spinhoven, P, Van Furth, E and Van den Akker-van Marle, M 2016, 'Cost-utility of an internet-based intervention with or without therapist support in comparison with a waiting list for individuals with eating disorder symptoms: a randomized controlled trial', *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, vol. 49, no. 12, pp. 1068–1076.

ABS (Australian Bureau of Statistics) 2022a, Health Conditions Prevalence, 2020-21,

https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/health-conditions-andrisks/health-conditions-prevalence/latest-release#chronicconditions (accessed 21 August 2023).

 — 2022b, Patient Experiences, 2021-22 financial year, https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/healthservices/patient-experiences/latest-release (accessed 17 August 2023).

— 2023a, Barriers and Incentives to Labour Force Participation, Australia, 2022-23 financial year, https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/labour/employment-andunemployment/barriers-and-incentives-labour-forceparticipation-australia/latest-release (accessed 19 April 2024).

 — 2023b, Characteristics of Australian business, https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/industry/technology-andinnovation/characteristics-australian-business/latestrelease#key-statistics (accessed 28 August 2023).

— 2023c, Estimates of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians, 30 June 2021,

https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/people/aboriginal-and-torresstrait-islander-peoples/estimates-aboriginal-and-torres-straitislander-australians/latest-release (accessed 29 February 2024).

--- 2023d, National Health Survey, 2022,

https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/health-conditions-andrisks/national-health-survey/latest-release (accessed 23 April 2024).

— 2023e, Patient Experiences, 2022-23 financial year, https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/healthservices/patient-experiences/latest-release (accessed 23 January 2024).

— 2024a, Average Weekly Earnings, Australia, November 2023, https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/labour/earnings-and-working-conditions/average-weekly-earnings-australia/latest-release (accessed 26 February 2024).

— 2024b, Labour Force, Australia, January 2024, https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/labour/employment-andunemployment/labour-force-australia/latest-release (accessed 19 March 2024).

Acharya, M, Ali, MM, Bogulski, CA, Pandit, AA, Mahashabde, RV, Eswaran, H and Hayes, CJ 2023, 'Association of remote patient monitoring with mortality and healthcare utilization in hypertensive patients: a medicare claims–based study', *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. ACSQHC (Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care) 2010, *Electronic Discharge Summary Systems Literature Scan*, July.

— 2020, National Safety and Quality Digital Mental Health Standards.

- 2021a, My Health Record in Emergency Departments.

— 2021b, National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards, Second Edition.

— 2021c, National Safety and Quality Primary and Community Healthcare Standards.

— 2024, Safety and quality in virtual care, https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/our-work/e-healthsafety/safety-and-quality-virtual-care (accessed 19 February 2024).

ACT Health 2019, Digital Health Strategy 2019-2029.

— 2020, A world-leading Digital Health Record system for the ACT,

https://www.cmtedd.act.gov.au/open_government/inform/act_g overnment_media_releases/rachel-stephen-smith-mla-mediareleases/2020/a-world-leading-digital-health-record-system-forthe-act (accessed 30 October 2023).

— 2023a, A digital health record for the ACT, https://www.cmtedd.act.gov.au/digital-strategy/currentinitiatives/community/a-digital-health-record-for-the-act (accessed 30 October 2023).

- 2023b, Digital Health Record,

https://www.health.act.gov.au/digital/dhr#:~:text=You%20can% 20access%20your%20own,materials%20tailored%20to%20yo ur%20record. (accessed 28 August 2023).

ADHA (Australian Digital Health Agency) 2021, *Electronic* prescriptions for Australia.

— 2022a, Assessment framework for mHealth apps.

 — 2022b, My Health Record Statistics and Insights June 2022, https://www.digitalhealth.gov.au/sites/default/files/2022-07/mhr-stats-june-2022.pdf (accessed 18 April 2024).

— 2023a, Connecting Australian Health Care: National Healthcare Interoperability Plan.

— 2023b, Hospitals using the My Health Record system, https://www.digitalhealth.gov.au/initiatives-and-programs/myhealth-record/which-organisations-use-my-healthrecord/hospitals-using-the-my-health-record-system (accessed 18 April 2024).

— 2023c, *My health record: statistics and insights July 2023*, Canberra.

- 2023d, National Digital Health Strategy 2023-2028.

— 2024, My health record: statistics and insights January 2024, Canberra.

Agha, L 2014, 'The effects of health information technology on the costs and quality of medical care', *Journal of Health Economics*, vol. 34, pp. 19–30.

AIHW (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare) 2019, Coordination of health care: experiences of information sharing between providers for patients aged 45 and over. --- 2023a, Admitted patient care 2021-22: How much admitted patient activity?

- 2023b, Admitted patients.

- 2023c, Emergency department care.

- 2023d, Falls in older Australians 2019–20: hospitalisations and deaths among people aged 65 and over.

- 2023e, Health expenditure Australia 2021-22, 25 October.

— 2023f, Health system spending on disease and injury in Australia, 2020-21, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/health-welfare-expenditure/health-system-spending-on-disease-and-injury-in-au/contents/about (accessed 10 April 2024).

— 2024, Medicare-subsidised GP, allied health and specialist health care across local areas: 2022-23, Diagnostic imaging services, https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/primary-healthcare/medicare-subsidised-care-2022-23/contents/diagnosticimaging-services (accessed 24 April 2024).

Aldoseri, A, Al-Khalifa, KN and Hamouda, AM 2023, 'Re-Thinking Data Strategy and Integration for Artificial Intelligence: Concepts, Opportunities, and Challenges', *Applied Sciences*, vol. 13, no. 12.

ANAO (Australian National Audit Office) 2019, *Implementation* of the My Health Record System.

- 2023, Expansion of Telehealth Services, Canberra.

ASD (Australian Signals Directorate) 2023, ASD Cyber Threat Report 2022-23.

Australian Government 2023, Intergenerational Report 2023: Australia's future to 2063, Canberra.

Azam, K, Khan, A and Alam, MT 2017, 'Causes and adverse impact of physician burnout: a systematic review', *Journal of College of Physicians and Surgeons Pakistan*, vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 495–501.

Bacchi, S, Gilbert, T, Gluck, S, Cheng, J, Tan, Y, Chim, I, Jannes, J, Kleinig, T and Koblar, S 2022, 'Daily estimates of individual discharge likelihood with deep learning natural language processing in general medicine: a prospective and external validation study', *Internal and Emergency Medicine*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 411–415.

Barbieri, S and Jorm, L 2019, 'Travel times to hospitals in Australia', *Scientific Data*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 248.

Bassilios, B, Ftanou, M, Machlin, A, Mangelsdorf, S, Tan, A, Scurrah, K, Morgan, A, Roberts, L, Banfield, M, Spittal, M, Mihalopoulos, C and Pirkis, J 2022, *Independent evaluation of supported digital mental health services – Phase 2 final report*, July.

Bell, G, Burgess, J, Thomas, J and Sadiq, S 2023, *Rapid Response Information Report: Generative AI - language models (LLMs) and multimodal foundation models (MFMs)*, Australian Council of Learned Academies.

Berman, MA, Guthrie, NL, Edwards, KL, Appelbaum, KJ, Njike, VY, Eisenberg, DM and Katz, DL 2018, 'Change in glycemic control with use of a digital therapeutic in adults with type 2 diabetes: Cohort study', *JMIR Diabetes*, vol. 3, no. 1, p. e4.

Bhasker, S, Bruce, D, Lamb, J and Stein, G 2023, *Tackling healthcare's biggest burdens with generative AI*, McKinsey.

Bhatia, A and Maddox, TM 2020, 'Remote patient monitoring in heart failure: factors for clinical efficacy', *International Journal Heart Failure*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 31–50.

Blenner, SR, Köllmer, M, Rouse, AJ, Daneshvar, N, Williams, C and Andrews, LB 2016, 'Privacy policies of android diabetes

apps and sharing of health information', *JAMA*, vol. 315, no. 10, pp. 1051–1052.

Blümel, M, Spranger, A, Achstetter, K, Maresso, A and Busse, R 2020, 'Germany: Health system review 2020', *Health Systems in Transition*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 1–273.

Blundell, J 2023, 'Health information and the importance of clinical coding', *Anaesthesia & Intensive Care Medicine*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 96–98.

Breadon, P, Romanes, D, Fox, L, Bolton, J and Richardson, L 2022, *A new Medicare: Strengthening general practice*, Grattan Institute.

Bronsoler, A, Doyle, JJ and Van Reenen, J 2021, *The impact* of *healthcare IT on clinical quality, productivity and workers*, National Bureau of Economic Research.

Brzezicki, MA, Bridger, NE, Kobetić, MD, Ostrowski, M, Grabowski, W, Gill, SS and Neumann, S 2020, 'Artificial intelligence outperforms human students in conducting neurosurgical audits', *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery*, vol. 192, p. 105732.

Buchlak, QD, Tang, CHM, Seah, JCY, Johnson, A, Holt, X, Bottrell, GM, Wardman, JB, Samarasinghe, G, Dos Santos Pinheiro, L, Xia, H, Ahmad, HK, Pham, H, Chiang, JI, Ektas, N, Milne, MR, Chiu, CHY, Hachey, B, Ryan, MK, Johnston, BP, Esmaili, N, Bennett, C, Goldschlager, T, Hall, J, Vo, DT, Oakden-Rayner, L, Leveque, J-C, Farrokhi, F, Abramson, RG, Jones, CM, Edelstein, S and Brotchie, P 2024, 'Effects of a comprehensive brain computed tomography deep learning model on radiologist detection accuracy', *European Radiology*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 810–822.

Burton, T 2022, 'My Health Record struggles to be useful for patients', *Australian Financial Review*, 30 November.

Byambasuren, O, Beller, E, Hoffmann, T and Glasziou, P 2020, 'Barriers to and facilitators of the prescription of mhealth apps in Australian general practice: Qualitative study', *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*, vol. 8, no. 7, p. e17447.

Caffery, LJ, Bradford, NK, Smith, AC and Langbecker, D 2018, 'How telehealth facilitates the provision of culturally appropriate healthcare for Indigenous Australians', *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, vol. 24, no. 10, pp. 676–682.

Cardihab 2020, Digital Cardiac Rehabilitation (CR) programs can improve participation rates,

https://cardihab.com/news/digital-cardiac-rehabilitationprograms-can-improve-participation-rates/,

https://cardihab.com/news/digital-cardiac-rehabilitationprograms-can-improve-participation-rates/ (accessed 20 October 2023).

CBA (Commonwealth Bank of Australia) 2023, 2023 CommBank GP Insights Report.

Christensen, H, Batterham, PJ, Gosling, JA, Ritterband, LM, Griffiths, KM, Thorndike, FP, Glozier, N, O'Dea, B, Hickie, IB and Mackinnon, AJ 2016, 'Effectiveness of an online insomnia program (SHUTi) for prevention of depressive episodes (the GoodNight Study): a randomised controlled trial', *Lancet Psychiatry*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 333–341.

Cisco 2019, Technology and the future of Australian jobs.

Coiera, E, Verspoor, K and Hansen, D 2023, 'We need to chat about artifical intelligence', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 219, no. 3, pp. 98–100.

Coleshill, MJ, Alagirisamy, D, Patki, S, Ronksley, M, Black, MJ, Yu, S, Phillips, M, Newby, JM, Cockayne, N, Tennant, J, Harvey, SB, Christensen, H and Baldwin, PA 2023, 'The Essential Network (TEN): engagement and mental health insights from a digital mental health assessment tool for Australian health professionals during COVID-19', *BMC Digital Health*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 1–12.

Committee on Diagnostic Error in Health Care, Board on Health Care Services, Institute of Medicine, The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, Balogh, E, Miller, B and Ball, J 2015, 'The Diagnostic Process', *Improving Diagnosis in Health Care*, National Academies Press (US), Washington DC.

Commonwealth Fund 2019, 2019 Commonwealth Fund International Health Policy Survey of Primary Care Physicians: Top-line Results for 11 Countries, Washington DC.

CSIRO 2023, AI trends for healthcare, Herston.

Dahlhausen, F, Zinner, M, Bieske, L, Ehlers, JP, Boehme, P and Fehring, L 2022, 'There's an app for that, but nobody's using it: Insights on improving patient access and adherence to digital therapeutics in Germany', *Digital Health*, vol. 8, pp. 1–12.

Davenport, T and Kalakota, R 2019, 'The potential for artificial intelligence in healthcare', *Future Healthcare Journal*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 94–98.

Davison, NJ, Guthrie, NL, Medland, S, Lupinacci, P, Nordyke, RJ and Berman, MA 2024, 'Cost-effectiveness analysis of a prescription digital therapeutic in type 2 diabetes', *Advances in Therapy*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 806–825.

De Guzman, KR, Snoswell, CL, Taylor, ML, Gray, LC and Caffery, LJ 2022, 'Economic evaluations of remote patient monitoring for chronic disease: A systematic review', *Value in Health*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 897–913.

Della Vecchia, C, Leroy, T, Bauquier, C, Pannard, M, Sarradon-Eck, A, Darmon, D, Dufour, J-C and Preau, M 2022, 'Willingness of French General Practitioners to Prescribe mHealth Apps and Devices: Quantitative Study', *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*, vol. 10, no. 2, p. e28372.

DHAC (Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care) 2023, *General Practice Workforce providing Primary Care services in Australia.*

— 2024a, Continuing MBS Telehealth Services: GPs and Other Medical Practitioners – Video and Phone Services.

— 2024b, Health Workforce Dashboard, Summary Statistics - Metrics,

https://hwd.health.gov.au/resources/dashboards/nhwdssummary-metrics.html (accessed 17 March 2024).

— 2024c, HTA Policy and Methods Review – Draft paper: Emerging health technologies, text, Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care,

https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/hta-policyand-methods-review-draft-paper-emerging-healthtechnologies?language=en (accessed 24 April 2024).

— 2024d, Workforce Incentive Program Doctor Stream, https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/workforce-incentiveprogram/doctor-stream (accessed 19 April 2024).

Diabetes Australia 2022, Fact sheet: continuous glucose monitoring, 7 June.

Dingwall, KM, Povey, J, Sweet, M, Friel, J, Shand, F, Titov, N, Wormer, J, Mirza, T and Nagel, T 2023, 'Feasibility and acceptability of the aboriginal and islander mental health initiative for youth app: nonrandomized pilot with First Nations young people', *JMIR Human Factors*, vol. 10, p. e40111.

DISR (Australian Government Department of Industry, Science and Resources) 2023, *Safe and responsible AI in Australia*, Discussion Paper. DoH (Australian Government Department of Health) 2019, Telehealth Services Provided by GPs and Non-Specialist Medical Practitioners to Patients in Rural and Remote Areas.

— 2021a, COVID-19 Temporary MBS Telehealth Services: GPs and Other Medical Practitioners.

— 2021b, COVID-19 Temporary MBS Telehealth Services: Specialists, consultant physicians, psychiatrists, paediatricians, geriatricians, public health physicians, neurosurgeons, and anaesthetists.

Dosovitsky, G and Bunge, E 2023, 'Development of a chatbot for depression: adolescent perceptions and recommendations', *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 124–127.

DTA (Digital Therapeutics Alliance) 2022, *DTx Regulatory* & *Reimbursement Pathways*, January, https://dtxalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Australia-Regulatory-and-Reimbursement-Pathways.pdf (accessed 24 April 2024).

— 2023, DTA's Adoption & Interpretation of ISO's DTx Definition, June.

eHealth NSW 2023a, *Electronic Medical Records eMR*, eHealth NSW, https://www.ehealth.nsw.gov.au/solutions/ clinical-care/electronic-medical-records/emr (accessed 24 April 2024).

 — 2023b, Single Digital Patient Record (SDPR), https://www.ehealth.nsw.gov.au/solutions/clinical-care/ electronic-medical-records/sdpr (accessed 30 October 2023).

— 2023c, Virtual Care - Remote Patient Monitoring Program, https://www.ehealth.nsw.gov.au/solutions/virtual-care/remotepatient-monitoring/vc-rpm (accessed 23 November 2023).

Ellingrud, K, Sanghvi, S, Dandona, G, Madgavkar, A, Chui, M, White, O and Hasebe, P 2023, *Generative AI and the future of work in America*, McKinsey.

Ellis, TD, Cavanaugh, JT, DeAngelis, T, Hendron, K, Thomas, CA, Saint-Hilaire, M, Pencina, K and Latham, NK 2019, 'Comparative effectiveness of mhealth-supported exercise compared with exercise alone for people with parkinson disease: Randomized controlled pilot study', *Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Journal*, vol. 99, no. 2, pp. 203–216.

Erbe, D, Eichert, H-C, Riper, H and Ebert, DD 2017, 'Blending face-to-face and internet-based interventions for the treatment of mental disorders in adults: Systematic review', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, vol. 19, no. 9, p. e306.

Eucalyptus 2023, Submission to the Medical Board of Australia -Draft Revised Guidelines: Telehealth consultations with patients.

European Commission 2021, *The AI Act*, https://artificialintelligenceact.eu/the-act/ (accessed 24 April 2024).

Faethm 2022, *Data-driven solutions for the healthcare* workforce challenges.

Federman, AD, Soones, T, DeCherrie, LV, Leff, B and Siu, AL 2018, 'Association of a bundled hospital-at-home and 30-day postacute transitional care program with clinical outcomes and patient experiences', *JAMA internal medicine*, vol. 178, no. 8, pp. 1033–1040.

Fifth quadrant 2023, Responsible AI Index 2022: Report.

Folkvord, F, Bol, N, Stazi, G, Peschke, L and Lupiáñez-Villanueva, F 2023, 'Preferences in the willingness to download an mHealth app: discrete choice experimental study in Spain, Germany, and the Netherlands', *JMIR Formative Research*, vol. 7, p. e48335.

Foo, D, Spanos, S, Dammery, G, Ellis, LA, Willcock, SM and Braithwaite, J 2023, 'The rise of direct-to-consumer telemedicine

services in Australia: implications for primary care and future research', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. Online first.

Frey, S and Kerkemeyer, L 2022, 'Acceptance of digital health applications in non-pharmacological therapies in German statutory healthcare system: Results of an online survey', *Digital Health*, vol. 8, pp. 1–10.

Gan, DZQ, McGillivray, L, Larsen, ME and Torok, M 2023, 'Promoting engagement with self-guided digital therapeutics for mental health: Insights from a cross-sectional survey of endusers', *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, vol. 79, no. 5, pp. 1386– 1397.

GDHP (Global Digital Health Partnership) 2023, Interoperability, https://gdhp.health/work-

streams/interoperability/ (accessed 19 October 2023).

Gensorowsky, D, Witte, J, Batram, M and Greiner, W 2022, 'Market access and value-based pricing of digital health applications in Germany', *Cost Effectiveness and Resource Allocation*, vol. 20, no. 25, pp. 1–14.

Gerke, S, Stern, AD and Minssen, T 2020, 'Germany's digital health reforms in the COVID-19 era: lessons and opportunities for other countries', *npj Digital Medicine*, vol. 3, no. 1, p. 94.

Gillespie, N, Lockey, S, Curtis, C, Pool, J and Akbari, A 2023, *Trust in Artificial Intelligence: A global study*, The University of Queensland and KPMG.

Gippsland PHN (Gippsland Primary Health Network) 2023, *Remote Patient Monitoring*, https://gphn.org.au/what-wedo/programs/remote-patient-monitoring/ (accessed 19 April 2024).

Glatter, R 2019, Can Texting Patients Who Are Scheduled For

Colonoscopy Reduce 'No-Shows'?, https://www.forbes.com/sites/robertglatter/2019/08/27/cantexting-patients-who-are-scheduled-for-colonoscopy-reduceno-shows/ (accessed 23 October 2023).

Graber, ML, Wachter, RM and Cassel, CK 2012, 'Bringing Diagnosis Into the Quality and Safety Equations', *JAMA*, vol. 308, no. 12, pp. 1211–1212.

Graham, K, Fitzpatrick, K, Agius, J, Loughry, C, Ong, E, McMillan, N, Gunn, K and Fitridge, R 2024, 'A qualitative exploration of the experiences of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people using a real-time video-based telehealth service for diabetes-related foot disease', *Rural and Remote Health*, vol. 24, no. 1, p. 7970.

—, Siatis, CM, Gunn, KM, Ong, E, Loughry, C, McMillan, N and Fitridge, R 2023, 'The experiences of health workers using telehealth services for diabetes-related foot complications: a qualitative exploration', *Journal of Foot and Ankle Research*, vol. 16, no. 1, p. 47.

Grieve, G 2014, Health Intersections – Architectural Approaches for Exchanging Information.

Guthrie, NL, Berman, MA, Edwards, KL, Appelbaum, KJ, Dey, S, Carpenter, J, Eisenberg, DM and Katz, DL 2019, 'Achieving Rapid Blood Pressure Control With Digital Therapeutics: Retrospective Cohort and Machine Learning Study', *JMIR Cardio*, vol. 3, no. 1, p. e13030.

Haas, M and de Abreu Lourenco, R 2016, *The REFinE-PHC Report on Patient Experiences of Primary Care*, Centre for Health Economics Research and Evaluation, University of Technology Sydney.

Hajkowicz, S, Karimi, S, Wark, T, Chen, C, Evans, M, Rens, N, Dawson, D, Charlton, A, Brennan, T, Moffatt, C, Srikumar, S and Tong, KJ 2019, *Artificial intelligence: Solving problems, growing the economy and improving our quality of life*, CSIRO Data61, Australia. Healthdirect 2023, Annual report financial year 2022-2023.

- 2024a, Healthdirect Australia,

https://about.healthdirect.gov.au/ (accessed 22 April 2024).

— 2024b, *Our history*, https://about.healthdirect.gov.au/ourhistory (accessed 22 April 2024).

Healthengine and Australian Patients Association 2023, Australian Healthcare Index.

Hernandez-Medrano, I, Guijarro, J, Belda, C, Urena, A, Salcedo, I, Espinosa-Anke, L and Saggion, H 2018, 'Savana. Re-using electronic health records with artificial intelligence', *International Journal of Interactive Multimedia and Artificial Intelligence*, vol. 4, no. 7, pp. 8–12.

HIMSS and Nuance (Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society and Nuance Communications) 2021, *From overload to burnout: What clinicians think*, White Paper.

IBM 2016, The future of health is cognitive: Harnessing data and insight to deliver better health, value and individual engagement.

IHACPA (Independent Health and Aged Care Pricing Authority) 2023, *National Hospital Cost Data Collection* (*NHCDC*) *Public Sector Report 2020-21*.

Isbanner, S, O'Shaughnessy, P, Steel, D, Wilcock, S and Carter, S 2022, 'The adoption of artificial intelligence in health care and social services in Australia: findings from a methodologically innovative national survey of values and attitudes (the ava-ai study)', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, vol. 24, no. 8, p. e37611.

Jakob, R, Harperink, S, Rudolf, AM, Fleisch, E, Haug, S, Mair, JL, Salamanca-Sanabria, A and Kowatsch, T 2022, 'Factors influencing adherence to mhealth apps for prevention or management of noncommunicable diseases: Systematic review', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, vol. 24, no. 5, p. e35371.

Jobs and Skills Australia 2024, *Internet Vacancy Index*, https://www.jobsandskills.gov.au/data/internet-vacancy-index (accessed 3 April 2024).

Kadakia, K, Patel, B and Shah, A 2020, 'Advancing digital health: FDA innovation during COVID-19', *npj Digital Medicine*, vol. 3, no. 1, p. 161.

Kang, A, Hetrick, S, Cargo, T, Hopkins, S, Ludin, N, Bodmer, S, Stevenson, K, Holt-Quick, C and Stasiak, K 2023, 'Exploring young adults' views about Aroha, a Chatbot for stress associated with the COVID-19 Pandemic: Interview study among students', *JMIR Formative Research*, vol. 7, p. e44556.

van Kasteren, Y, Strobel, J, Bastiampillai, T, Linedale, E and Bidargaddi, N 2022, 'Automated decision support for community mental health services using national electronic health records: Qualitative implementation case study', *Jmir Human Factors*, vol. 9, no. 3, p. e35403.

van Kessel, R, Roman-Urrestarazu, A, Anderson, M, Kyriopoulos, I, Field, S, Monti, G, Reed, SD, Pavlova, M, Wharton, G and Mossialos, E 2023, 'Mapping Factors That Affect the Uptake of Digital Therapeutics Within Health Systems: Scoping Review', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, vol. 25, p. e48000.

Khalifa, M 2017, 'Reducing Length of Stay by Enhancing Patients' Discharge: A Practical Approach to Improve Hospital Efficiency', *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics*, vol. 238, pp. 157–160.

Kirk, HE, Gray, KM, Ellis, K, Taffe, J and Cornish, KM 2016, 'Computerised attention training for children with intellectual and developmental disabilities: a randomised controlled trial', Journal Child Psychology Psychiatry, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 1380–1389.

Knight, W 2017, *The dark secret at the heart of AI*, MIT Technology Review.

Koopman, B, Bradford, D and Hansen, D 2020, *Exemplars of Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning in Healthcare*, CSIRO.

Kripalani, S, LeFevre, F, Phillips, CO, Williams, MV, Basaviah, P and Baker, DW 2007, 'Deficits in communication and information transfer between hospital-based and primary care physicians: implications for patient safety and continuity of care', *JAMA*, vol. 297, no. 8, pp. 831–841.

Krishnakumar, A, Verma, R, Chawla, R, Sosale, A, Saboo, B, Joshi, S, Shaikh, M, Shah, A, Kolwankar, S and Mattoo, V 2021, 'Evaluating glycemic control in patients of south asian origin with type 2 diabetes using a digital therapeutic platform: analysis of real-world data', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, vol. 23, no. 3, p. e17908.

Kumbara, AB, Iyer, AK, Green, CR, Jepson, LH, Leone, K, Layne, JE and Shomali, M 2023, 'Impact of a combined continuous glucose monitoring–digital health solution on glucose metrics and self-management behaviour for adults with type 2 diabetes: Real-world, observational study', *JMIR Diabetes*, vol. 8, p. e47638.

Larsen, ME, Nicholas, J and Christensen, H 2016, 'Quantifying app store dynamics: longitudinal tracking of mental health apps', *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*, vol. 4, no. 3, p. e96.

Lawrence, J, South, M, Hiscock, H, Capurro, D, Sharma, A and Ride, J 2023, 'Retrospective analysis of the impact of electronic medical record alerts on low value care in a paediatric hospital', *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 600–610.

Leigh, S, Ashall-Payne, L and Andrews, T 2020, 'Barriers and facilitators to the adoption of mobile health among health care professionals from the United Kingdom: discrete choice experiment', *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*, vol. 8, no. 7, p. e17704.

Li, JY, Yong, TY, Hakendorf, P, Ben-Tovim, D and Thompson, CH 2013, 'Timeliness in discharge summary dissemination is associated with patients' clinical outcomes', *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 76–79.

Li, K, Persaud, D, Choudhary, K, DeCost, B, Greenwood, M and Hattrick-Simpers, J 2023, 'Exploiting redundancy in large materials datasets for efficient machine learning with less data', *Nature Communications*, vol. 14, no. 1, p. 7283.

Lu, P, Mian, M, Yii, M, McArdle, DJT, Rhodes, A and Sreedharan, S 2024, 'Rising use of diagnostic imaging in Australia: An analysis of Medicare-funded radiology services between 2000 and 2021', *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Oncology*, vol. 68, no. 1, pp. 50–56.

Ludin, N, Holt-Quick, C, Hopkins, S, Stasiak, K, Hetrick, S, Warren, J and Cargo, T 2022, 'A Chatbot to support young people during the COVID-19 Pandemic in New Zealand: Evaluation of the real-world rollout of an open trial', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, vol. 24, no. 11, p. e38743.

Magrabi, FA, Elske; McNair, Jytte Brender; De Keizer, Nicolet F; Hyppönen, Hannele; Nykänen, Pirkko; Rigby, Michael; Scott, Philip J; Vehko, Tuulikki; Wong, Zoie Shui-Yee; Georgiou, Andrew 2019, 'Artificial intelligence in clinical decision support: challenges for evaluating AI and practical implications', *A Position Paper from the IMIA Technology Assessment & Quality Development in Health Informatics Working Group and the EFMI Working Group for Assessment* of Health Information Systems, vol. 28, no. 01, pp. 128–134. Mantovani, A, Leopaldi, C, Nighswander, CM and Di Bidino, R 2023, 'Access and reimbursement pathways for digital health solutions and in vitro diagnostic devices: Current scenario and challenges', *Frontiers in Medical Technology*, vol. 5, pp. 1–13.

MarketsAndMarkets Research 2023, Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare Market,

https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/artificialintelligence-healthcare-market-54679303.html (accessed 23 October 2023).

Marshall, JM, Dunstan, DA and Bartik, W 2020, 'Apps with maps - Anxiety and depression mobile apps with evidencebased frameworks: systematic search of major app stores', *JMIR Mental Health*, vol. 7, no. 6, p. e16525.

Maslej, N, Fattorini, L, Brynjolfsson, E, Etchemendy, J, Ligett, K, Lyons, T, Manyika, J, Ngo, H, Niebles, JC, Parli, V, Shoham, Y, Wald, R, Clark, J and Perrault, R 2023, *Artificial intelligence index report*, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, Institute for Human-Centred AI.

MBA (Medical Board of Australia) 2020, Good medical practice: a code of conduct for doctors in Australia.

- 2023, Guidelines: Telehealth consultations with patients.

McCullough, JS, Parente, ST and Town, R 2016, 'Health information technology and patient outcomes: the role of information and labor coordination', *RAND Journal of Economics*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 207–236.

McDonald, K 2022, *Pilot of GP access to ACT Health's new Digital Health Record*, https://www.pulseit.news/australian-digital-health/pilot-of-gp-access-to-act-healths-new-digital-health-record/ (accessed 30 October 2023).

McIntyre, D and Chow, CK 2020, 'Waiting time as an indicator for health services under strain: a narrative review', *Inquiry: A Journal of Medical Care Organization, Provision and Financing*, vol. 57, pp. 1–15.

McMillan, J 2020, *Review of the My Health Records* Legislation Final Report, Canberra.

McMillan, N 2024, 'Royal Adelaide Hospital diabetes-related foot disease service', Email 19 April.

Menachemi, N, Rahurkar, S, Harle, CA and Vest, JR 2018, 'The benefits of health information exchange: an updated systematic review', *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association: JAMIA*, vol. 25, no. 9, pp. 1259–1265.

Meskó, B 2022, 'COVID-19's Impact on Digital Health Adoption: The Growing Gap Between a Technological and a Cultural Transformation', *JMIR Human Factors*, vol. 9, no. 3, p. e38926.

Miles, O, West, R and Nadarzynski, T 2021, 'Health chatbots acceptability moderated by perceived stigma and severity: A cross-sectional survey', SAGE Publications Ltd, *Digital Health*, vol. 7, pp. 1–7.

Miles, P, Hugman, A, Ryan, A, Landgren, F and Liong, G 2019, 'Towards routine use of national electronic health records in Australian emergency departments', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 210, no. 6, pp. S7–S9.

MRAC (MBS Review Advisory Committee) 2023, *MBS Review* Advisory Committee: Telehealth Post-Implementation Review Draft Report.

Murdoch, B 2021, 'Privacy and artificial intelligence: challenges for protecting health information in a new era', *BMC Medical Ethics*, vol. 22, no. 1, p. 122.

Nadel, J 2022, NSW Health taps Epic for statewide, single digital patient record, https://www.itnews.com.au/news/nswhealth-taps-epic-for-statewide-single-digital-patient-record-588153 (accessed 30 October 2023).

National Cabinet 2023, Intergovernmental Agreement on National Digital Health 2023-2027.

Nguyen, K and Hambur, J 2023, Adoption of Emerging Digital General-purpose Technologies: Determinants and Effects, RBA Research Discussion Papers, 21 December.

NHHRC (National Health and Hospitals Reform Commission) 2009, A Healthier Future For All Australians – Final Report of the National Health and Hospitals Reform Commission – June 2009, Canberra.

Norori, N, Hu, Q, Aellen, FM, Faraci, FD and Tzovara, A 2021, 'Addressing bias in big data and Al for health care: A call for open science', *Patterns*, vol. 2, no. 10, p. 100347.

Northern Health 2020, *Australian-first virtual ED triage launches*, https://www.nh.org.au/australian-first-virtual-ed-triage-launches/ (accessed 25 October 2023).

Nous Group 2023, Evidence base for additional investment in rural health in Australia.

NSC (National Skills Commission) 2021, Care workforce labour market study, Final report, 30 September.

NSW Health 2021, *Lumos*, https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/ lumos (accessed 30 October 2023).

NT Health 2023a, *eHealth*, https://health.nt.gov.au/ professionals/ehealth#:~:text=The%20My%20eHealth%20Rec ord%20(NT)%20is%20the%20secure%20shared%20electronic ,Australia%20and%20northern%20South%20Australia. (accessed 28 August 2023).

— 2023b, *Electronic health record: My eHealth Record*, https://nt.gov.au/wellbeing/hospitals-health-services/my-ehealth-record (accessed 30 October 2023).

Nwosu, A, Boardman, S, Husain, MM and Doraiswamy, PM 2022, 'Digital therapeutics for mental health: Is attrition the Achilles heel?', *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, vol. 13, p. 900615.

OAIC (Office of the Australian Information Commissioner) 2024, Notifiable data breaches report: January to June 2023.

O'Connor, DA, Glasziou, P, Schram, D, Gorelik, A, Elwick, A, McCaffery, K, Thomas, R and Buchbinder, R 2023, 'Evaluating an audit and feedback intervention for reducing overuse of pathology test requesting by Australian general practitioners: protocol for a factorial cluster randomised controlled trial', *BMJ Open*, vol. 13, no. 5, p. e072248.

O'Connor, S, Gasteiger, N, Stanmore, E, Wong, D and Lee, J 2022, 'Artificial intelligence for falls management in older adult care: A scoping review of nurses' role', *Journal of Nursing Management*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 3787–3801.

OECD 2024a, AI in Health: Huge Potential, Huge Risks.

— 2019, Health in the 21st Century.

- 2020, Trustworthy AI in Health.

— 2021, Preparing for the Future of Work Across Australia, OECD Reviews on Local Job Creation.

- 2023, Health at a Glance 2023, OECD Indicators.

- 2024b, Health at a Glance 2021: OECD Indicators.

Oracle Cerner 2023, 2022 year in review: A year of innovation and growth for Oracle Health in Australia,

https://www.cerner.com/ap/en/updates/a-year-of-innovation-andgrowth-for-oracle-health-in-australia (accessed 30 October 2023).

Orlando, JF, Beard, M and Kumar, S 2019, 'Systematic review of patient and caregivers' satisfaction with telehealth videoconferencing as a mode of service delivery in managing patients' health', Borsci, S (ed), *PLOS ONE*, vol. 14, no. 8, p. e0221848.

Ou, L, Chen, J, Young, L, Santiano, N, Baramy, L-S and Hillman, K 2011, 'Effective discharge planning – timely assignment of an estimated date of discharge', *Australian Health Review*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 357–363.

Pakchung, D, Smith, M and Hughes, C 2019, 'The role of clinical guidelines in establishing competent professional practice', *Australian Journal of General Practice*, vol. 48, no. 1–2, pp. 22–24.

Parliament of Victoria 2023, Health Legislation Amendment (Information Sharing) Act 2023.

Partovi, S 2023, *The radiology burnout crisis is real. Here's how we can give radiologists and staff back time*, Phillips.

Patrickson, B, Bidargaddi, N, Gully, G and McKenzie, I 2022, *Time for change: Northern CMHS workflow observation report*, Flinders University.

PC (Productivity Commission) 2017a, Data Availability and Use.

- 2017b, Data Availability and Use, Report no. 82, Canberra.

— 2017c, Integrated Care, Shifting the Dial: 5 year Productivity Review, Supporting Paper No. 5.

— 2017d, *Shifting the Dial: 5 Year Productivity Review*, Report no. 84, Canberra.

- 2020, Mental Health, Report no. 95, Canberra.

— 2021, Innovations in Care for Chronic Health Conditions, Productivity Reform Case Study, Canberra.

— 2023, 5-year Productivity Inquiry: Advancing Prosperity, Inquiry Report no. 100, Vol. 1, Canberra.

— 2024a, Advances in measuring healthcare productivity.

— 2024b, *Report on Government Services 2024*, https://www.pc.gov.au/ongoing/report-on-governmentservices/2024/health (accessed 13 February 2024).

— 2024c, Making the most of the AI opportunity: AI raises the stakes for data policy, Research paper, no. 3, Canberra.

Pereira Gray, DJ, Sidaway-Lee, K, White, E, Thorne, A and Evans, PH 2018, 'Continuity of care with doctors - a matter of life and death? A systematic review of continuity of care and mortality', *BMJ Open*, vol. 8, no. 6, p. e021161.

Peretz, D, Arnaert, A and Ponzoni, NN 2018, 'Determining the cost of implementing and operating a remote patient monitoring programme for the elderly with chronic conditions: A systematic review of economic evaluations', *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 13–21.

PHA (Private Healthcare Australia) 2023, Modernising My Health Record – Sharing pathology and diagnostic imaging reports by default and removing consumer access delays, October.

Pharmacy Council of New South Wales nd, *Registered pharmacies*, https://www.pharmacycouncil.nsw.gov.au/ registered-pharmacies (accessed 22 April 2024).

PHN South Western Sydney 2023, *What we do: iRAD versus My Health Record, the differences explained,*

https://swsphn.com.au/what-we-do/irad/irad-versus-my-healthrecord-the-differences-explained/ (accessed 30 October 2023). PSA (Pharmaceutical Society of Australia) 2019a, *Medicine Safety: Take Care*, Canberra.

— 2019b, *My health record guidelines for pharmacists*, Deakin West, ACT.

PwC (Pricewaterhouse Coopers) 2017, Sizing the prize What's the real value of AI for your business and how can you capitalise?

Queensland Audit Office 2018, *Digitising public hospitals*, Report 10: 2018–19.

Queensland Health 2023, Integrated electronic medical record (ieMR).

RACGP (Royal Australian College of General Practitioners) 2019a, *Views and attitudes towards technological advances in general practice: Survey report 2018*, East Melbourne.

— 2019b, Views and attitudes towards technological innovation in general practice: Survey report 2018, East Melbourne, Vic.

— 2020a, Guide to providing telephone and video consultations in general practice.

— 2020b, Practice Incentives Program Quality Improvement Incentive (PIP QI) fact sheet.

- 2023, General Practice: Health of the Nation 2023.

— nd, Interpretive guide for the accreditation of general practices under the new definition of a general practice for the purpose of accreditation.

RANZCR 2020, *The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Radiologists. Standards of Practice for Clinical Radiology*, Version 11.2, Sydney.

Ray, KN, Chari, AV, Engberg, J, Bertolet, M and Mehrotra, A 2015, 'Disparities in time spent seeking medical care in the United States', *JAMA Internal Medicine*, vol. 175, no. 12, pp. 1983–1986.

Reddy, S, Fox, J and Purohit, MP 2019, 'Artificial intelligenceenabled healthcare delivery', *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, vol. 112, no. 1, pp. 22–28.

Research Australia 2023, 2023 public opinion poll on health & medical research & innovation.

Rintala, A, Kossi, O, Bonnechère, B, Evers, L, Printemps, E and Feys, P 2022, 'Mobile health applications for improving physical function, physical activity, and quality of life in stroke survivors: a systematic review', *Disability and Rehabilitation*, vol. 45, no. 24, pp. 4001–4015.

Rivers, JT, Smith, C, Smith, I and Cameron, J 2022, 'The impact of a mobile app on participation in cardiac rehabilitation and understanding barriers to success: Comparative cohort study', *JMIR Cardio*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. e24174.

Rockliff, J 2022, *Major investment in digital health to improve patient care*, https://www.premier.tas.gov.au/site_resources_2015/additional_releases/major_investment_in_digital_health_to_improve_patient_care (accessed 30 October 2023).

Rose, D 2018, *Submission 58 My Health Record System Inquiry*, 14 September.

Rowlands, S, Tariq, A, Coverdale, S, Walker, S and Wood, M 2022, 'A qualitative investigation into clinical documentation: Why do clinicians document the way they do?', *Health Information Management Journal*, vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 126–134.

Royal Australian College of General Practitioners and RACGP 2020, *Standards for general practices, 5th edition.*

rpavirtual 2023, RPA Virtual Hospital: Overview and Strategic Priorities 2022 and 2023.

SA Health 2023, *Sunrise EMR & PAS, SA Health's electronic medical record*, https://www.sahealth.sa.gov.au/wps/wcm/ connect/public+content/sa+health+internet/clinical+resources/clinic

al+information+systems/sunrise+emr+pas/sunrise+emr+pas+sa+h ealths+electronic+medical+record (accessed 28 August 2023).

Sampson, C, Bell, E, Cole, A, Miller, CB, Marriott, T, Williams, M and Rose, J 2022, 'Digital cognitive behavioural therapy for insomnia and primary care costs in England: an interrupted time series analysis', *BJGP Open*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 1–10.

Sarradon-Eck, A, Bouchez, T, Auroy, L, Schuers, M and Darmon, D 2021, 'Attitudes of general practitioners toward prescription of mobile health apps: qualitative study', *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*, vol. 9, no. 3, p. e21795.

Scheetz, J, Koca, D, McGuinness, M, Holloway, E, Tan, Z, Zhu, Z, O'Day, R, Sandhu, S, MacIsaac, RJ, Gilfillan, C, Turner, A, Keel, S and He, M 2021, 'Real-world artificial intelligence-based opportunistic screening for diabetic retinopathy in endocrinology and indigenous healthcare settings in Australia', *Scientific Reports*, vol. 11, no. 15808, pp. 1–11.

Schroeder, T, Seaman, K, Nguyen, AD, Gewald, H and Georgiou, A 2023, 'Social Determinants of Mobile Health App Adoption - A Qualitative Study of Older Adults' Perceptions in Australia', *Context Sensitive Health Informatics and the Pandemic Boost All Systems Gol*, vol 304, Studies in Health Technology Informatics, pp. 81–85.

Schwarz, CM, Hoffmann, M, Schwarz, P, Kamolz, L-P, Brunner, G and Sendlhofer, G 2019, 'A systematic literature review and narrative synthesis on the risks of medical discharge letters for patients' safety', *BMC Health Services Research*, vol. 19, no. 158, pp. 1–10.

Scott, AM, Atkins, T, Bakhit, M, Greenwood, H, Clark, J, Byambasuren, O and Glasziou, P 2023, *Final Report: Telehealth Work Package A*, Institute for Evidence-Based Healthcare, Bond University.

SCRGSP (Steering Committee for the Review of Government Service Provision) 2024, *Report on Government Services 2024* - *Health (part E)*, Productivity Commission, Canberra.

Services Australia 2024, *Medicare Item Reports*, http://medicarestatistics.humanservices.gov.au/statistics/mbs_i tem.jsp (accessed 26 October 2023).

Shigekawa, E, Fix, M, Corbett, G, Roby, DH and Coffman, J 2018, 'The current state of telehealth evidence: A rapid review', *Health Affairs*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 1975–1982.

Snoswell, C, Gray, L and Brooks, P 2020, *Developing a policy* strategy for telehealth in Australia.

Snoswell, CL, Chelberg, G, De Guzman, KR, Haydon, HH, Thomas, EE, Caffery, LJ and Smith, AC 2023, 'The clinical effectiveness of telehealth: A systematic review of metaanalyses from 2010 to 2019', *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, vol. 29, no. 9, pp. 669–684.

Solomon, L and Davis, PN 2023, *The State of Al Governance in Australia*, Human Technology Institute.

SOTI 2023, The technology lifeline: charting digital progress in healthcare.

South, M 2022, 'Decreased in-hospital mortality rate following implementation of a comprehensive electronic medical record system', *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 332–336.

Spatharou, A, Hieronimus, S and Jenkins, J 2020, *Transforming healthcare with AI: The impact on the workforce and organizations*, McKinsey.

Stanley, J 2023, *Smart glasses to improve diagnosis and treatment of foot wounds*, https://www.adelaide.edu.au/ newsroom/news/list/2023/06/27/smart-glasses-to-improve-

diagnosis-and-treatment-of-foot-wounds (accessed 21 March 2024).

Suleimenov, I, Vitulyova, Y, Bakirov, A and Gabrielyan, O 2020, Artificial Intelligence: what is it?, p. 25.

Sutton, R, Pincock, D, Baumgart, DC, Sadowski, DC, Fedorak, RN and Kroeker, KI 2020, 'An overview of clinical decision support systems: benefits, risks, and strategies for success', *npj Digital Medicine*, vol. 3, no. 17, pp. 1–10.

Svendsen, MJ, Wood, KW, Kyle, J, Cooper, K, Rasmussen, CDN, Sandal, LF, Stochkendahl, MJ, Mair, FS and Nicholl, BI 2020, 'Barriers and facilitators to patient uptake and utilisation of digital interventions for the self-management of low back pain: a systematic review of qualitative studies', *BMJ Open*, vol. 10, no. 12, p. e038800.

Tang, M, Mehrotra, A and Stern, AD 2022, 'Rapid growth of remote patient monitoring is driven by a small number of primary care providers', *Health Affairs*, vol. 41, no. 9, pp. 1248–1254.

—, Nakamoto, CH, Stern, AD, Zubizarreta, JR, Marcondes, FO, Uscher-Pines, L, Schwamm, LH and Mehrotra, A 2023, 'Effects of remote patient monitoring use on care outcomes among medicare patients with hypertension', *Annals of Internal Medicine*, vol. 176, no. 11, pp. 1465–1475.

Tasmanian Department of Health and Tasmanian DoH 2022, *The Digital Health Transformation program 2022 - 2032*, https://www.health.tas.gov.au/about/what-we-do/strategicprograms-and-initiatives/department-health-tasmania-strategicpriorities-2021-2023/digital-health-transformation-program-2022-2032 (accessed 28 August 2023).

Taylor, ML, Thomas, EE, Snoswell, CL, Smith, AC and Caffery, LJ 2021, 'Does remote patient monitoring reduce acute care use? A systematic review', *BMJ Open*, vol. 11, no. 3, p. e040232.

TGA 2021a, *Clinical decision support software*, https://www.tga.gov.au/sites/default/files/clinical-decisionsupport-software.pdf (accessed 24 April 2024).

— 2021b, How the TGA regulates software-based medical devices, February.

— 2021c, The claim 'TGA approved' must not be used in advertising, https://www.tga.gov.au/resources/resource/ guidance/claim-tga-approved-must-not-be-used-advertising (accessed 24 April 2024).

— 2024, Advertising health services: Advertising services that involve therapeutic goods.

The Economist 2022, 'Some health apps are able not just to diagnose diseases, but also to treat them', 5 February, https://www.economist.com/technology-quarterly/2022/05/02/ some-health-apps-are-able-not-just-to-diagnose-diseases-but-also-to-treat-them (accessed 23 April 2024).

Thomas, E, Lee, CMY, Norman, R, Wells, L, Shaw, T, Nesbitt, J, Frean, I, Baxby, L, Bennett, S and Robinson, S 2023, 'Patient Use, Experience, and Satisfaction With Telehealth in an Australian Population (Reimagining Health Care): Web-Based Survey Study', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, vol. 25, p. e45016.

Thomas, EE, Taylor, ML, Banbury, A, Snoswell, CL, Haydon, HM, Gallegos Rejas, VM, Smith, AC and Caffery, LJ 2021,

'Factors influencing the effectiveness of remote patient monitoring interventions: a realist review', *BMJ Open*, vol. 11, no. 8, p. e051844.

Tomlinson, J 2019, 'My Health Record implementation in private specialist practice', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 210, pp. S32–S34.

Tonic Health Media 2020, Tonic Media Kit 2020.

Torous, J, Lipschitz, J, Ng, M and Firth, J 2019, 'Dropout rates in clinical trials of smartphone apps for depressive symptoms: A systematic review and meta-analysis', *Journal of Affective Disorders*, vol. 263, pp. 413–419.

Tortoise 2023, *The Global AI Index*, https://www.tortoisemedia.com/intelligence/global-ai/ (accessed 7 December 2023).

Varnfield, M, Karunanithi, M, Lee, C-K, Honeyman, E, Arnold, D, Ding, H, Smith, C and Walters, DL 2014, 'Smartphone-based home care model improved use of cardiac rehabilitation in postmyocardial infarction patients: Results from a randomised controlled trial', *Heart*, vol. 100, no. 22, pp. 1770–1779.

Veenis, JF, Radhoe, SP, Hooijmans, P and Brugts, JJ 2021, 'Remote monitoring in chronic heart failure patients: is noninvasive remote monitoring the way to go?', Switzerland, *Sensors*, vol. 21, no. 3, p. 887.

Victorian DH (Victorian Department of Health) 2020, Compendium of Electronic Medical Record (EMR) Benefit Measures, Department of Health and Human Services.

— 2022, Clinical Information System and Electronic Medical Record application and interoperability standard.

Victorian Government 2022, *Virtual Service Expanding To Relieve Hospital Pressures*, http://www.premier.vic.gov.au/ virtual-service-expanding-relieve-hospital-pressures (accessed 25 October 2023).

WA Health (Western Australian Department of Health) 2020, WA Health Digital Strategy 2020-2030.

Wasylewicz, ATM and Scheepers-Hoeks, A-M 2019, 'Clinical Decision Support Systems', in Kubben, P, Dumontier, M and Dekker, A (eds), *Fundamentals of Clinical Data Science*, Springer.

Weber, K 2023, WA gov invests \$100m in electronic medical record rollout, https://www.itnews.com.au/news/wa-gov-invests-100m-in-electronic-medical-record-rollout-594007 (accessed 30 October 2023).

Wilsmore, B and Leitch, J 2017, 'Remote monitoring of medical devices in Australia', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 206, no. 2, pp. 62–63.

Woodley, M 2023, Should patients be able to immediately access results via MHR?, NewsGP, www1.racgp.org.au/ newsgp/professional/should-patients-be-able-to-immediately-access-resu (accessed 24 April 2024).

Wright, M, Hall, J, van Gool, K and Haas, M 2018, 'How common is multiple general practice attendance in Australia?', *Australian Journal of General Practice*, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 289–296.

Zlabek, JA, Wickus, JW and Mathiason, MA 2011, 'Early cost and safety benefits of an inpatient electronic health record', *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 169–172.